[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Regulatory Committee
10 November 2021
Time

10.20 am

Public Meeting?

YES

Venue

Council Chamber, 4th Floor, Civic Centre

Type of meeting

Licensing

Membership
Chair
Vice-chair

Cllr Phil Page (Lab)
Cllr Rashpal Kaur (Lab)

Labour

Conservative

Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Anwen Muston
Cllr Rita Potter
Cllr Zee Russell
Cllr Jaspreet Jaspal
Cllr Lynne Moran

Cllr Mak Singh
Cllr Andrew Randle
Cllr Ellis Turrell
Cllr Wendy Dalton

Quorum for this meeting is three Councillors.

Information for the Public
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Democratic Services team:
Contact
Tel/Email
Address

Donna Cope, Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01902 554452 Email: donna.cope@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Democratic Services, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square,
Wolverhampton WV1 1RL

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from:
Website
Email
Tel

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk
democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk
01902 555046

Please take note of the protocol for filming and recording of, and use of social media in, meetings, copies
of which are displayed in the meeting room.
Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports
are not available to the public.

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint.

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda
Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No.

Title

1

Apologies for absence

2

Declarations of interest

3

Minutes of previous meeting (Pages 1 - 4)

4

Matters arising

5

Minutes of the Regulatory Sub-Committee - 30 September 2021 (Pages 5 - 10)

6

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy (Pages 11 - 96)

7

Mobile Home Site Licensing and Fees Policy (Pages 97 - 114)

8

Update on Requirement for Face Coverings in Licensed Vehicles. (Pages 115
- 118)

9

The Botulinum Toxin and Cosmetic Fillers (Children) Act 2021 (Pages 119 122)

10

Get Home Safe Campaign (Pages 123 - 126)

Agenda

Agenda Item 3

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Regulatory Committee
Minutes - 9 June 2021
Attendance
Members of the Regulatory Committee
Cllr Phil Page (Chair)
Cllr Rashpal Kaur (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Anwen Muston
Cllr Rita Potter
Cllr Zee Russell
Cllr Mak Singh (Virtual)
Cllr Jaspreet Jaspal
Cllr Lynne Moran (Virtual)
Cllr Andrew Randle
Cllr Ellis Turrell
Cllr Wendy Dalton

Employees
Donna Cope
Sarah Hardwick
Chris Howell
Greg Bickerdike
Emma Caddick
Paul Dosanjh
Jaswinder Kaur

Democratic Services Officer
Senior Solicitor
Commercial Regulation Manager
Licensing Manager
Service Manager - Environmental Health
Service Manager - Trading Standards & Licensing Act
Democratic Services Manager

Guest
Councillor Steve Evans

Cabinet Member for City Environment & Climate Change

_______________________________________________
Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No.

Title

1

Apologies for absence
There were no apologies for absence.

2

Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest.

Page 1

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3

Minutes of previous meeting
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Non-Statutory Licensing Committee held on
17 March 2021 be confirmed as a true record and signed by the Chair.

4

Matters arising
There were no matters arising.

5

Review of Decision Making 2021 – 2022
Chris Howell, Commercial Regulation Manager, presented the Review of Decision
Making 2020-2021 report for approval. He outlined the annual report of the decisions
made over the last municipal year and set out the delegations for the forthcoming
year.
Councillor Inston proposed the recommendations and Councillor Page seconded the
recommendations.
Resolved:
That Members of the Regulatory Committee:
1. Endorsed and approved the proposals in section 2 of this report relating to
category 2 decisions.
2. Endorsed and approved the proposals in section 2 of this report relating to
category 3 decisions.
3. Delegated category 3 decision making powers to the Director for City Housing
and Environment.
4. Agreed to receive further annual delegation update reports at the beginning of
each municipal year.
5. Noted the schedule attached at Appendix 1 to this report which includes
further proposed delegations from the Director for City Housing and
Environment.
6. Noted the schedule of employee decisions for 2020 - 2021 attached at
Appendix 2 to this report in relation to new hackney carriage and private hire
applications.
7. Noted the schedule of employee decisions for 2020 - 2021 attached at
Appendix 3 to this report in relation to hackney carriage and private hire
reviews.
8. Noted the schedule of decisions for 2019 - 2021 attached at Appendix 4 to this
report in relation Magistrates and Crown Court appeals.

6

Health & Safety Statutory Plan 2021-2022
Councillor Steve Evans, Cabinet Member for City Environment & Climate Change,
presented the Health and Safety Statutory Plan 2021-2022 for approval.
The Cabinet Member outlined the purpose of the plan, it’s key priorities and how
these would be delivered.
Councillor Inston proposed the recommendations and Councillor Muston seconded
the recommendations.
Resolved:
That Members of the Regulatory Committee:
1. Approved the proposed Health and Safety Statutory Plan 2021-2022

Page 2

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

7

Taxi CCTV Policy
Greg Bickerdike, Licensing Manager, presented the Taxi CCTV Policy for approval.
The policy would permit the voluntary operation of CCTV within Hackney Carriages
and Private Hire vehicles licensed by City of Wolverhampton Council, improving the
safety of drivers and passengers whilst protecting passenger privacy.
He highlighted a typographical error on page 91 of the agenda pack and stated that
should the policy be approved by members, the reference to hearing difficulties
would be removed as it was not applicable.
Councillor Page proposed the recommendations and Councillor Russell seconded
the recommendations.
Resolved:
That Members of the Regulatory Committee:
1. Approved the Taxi CCTV Policy.
2. Noted the updated Data Protection Impact Assessment.

8

Update on Medical Certification for Taxi Drivers and Applicants
Greg Bickerdike, Licensing Manager, presented an update on medical certification
for taxi drivers and applicants.
As a result of partnership working across the region, it was recommended that:
1. Medical certificates for taxi driver licence applications be accepted from other
West Midlands licensing authorities and,
2. They be valid for up to four months from the date of examination, as
recommended by the Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency (DVLA) and the
Health and Safety Executive (HSE).
Members welcomed the partnership working between neighbouring authorities and
the harmonisation of taxi licensing in the region.
Councillor Inston proposed the recommendations and Councillor Russell seconded
the recommendations.
Resolved:
That Members of the Regulatory Committee:
1. Approved the acceptance of medical certificates for taxi driver licence
applications on templates from other West Midlands licensing authorities.
2. Approved medical certificates for taxi driver licence applications up to four
months from the date of examination, as recommended by the Driver and
Vehicle Licensing Agency (DVLA) and the Health and Safety Executive (HSE).

9

Update on Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards
Greg Bickerdike, Licensing Manager, provided an update on the Statutory Taxi and
Private Hire Vehicle Standards. He presented members with a letter from the
Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State in the Department for Transport, Baroness
Vere of Norbiton, commending City of Wolverhampton Council’s efforts in
implementing the Department for Transport’s ‘Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle
Standards’.

Page 3

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Councillor Turrell congratulated the Licensing team on their hard work and moved
the recommendations.
Councillor Rashpal Kaur seconded the recommendations.
Resolved:
That Members of the Regulatory Committee:
1. Noted the commendation received from the Parliamentary Under-Secretary of
State in the Department for Transport, Baroness Vere of Norbiton, for the
Council’s prompt implementation of the Department for Transport’s ‘Statutory
Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards’.

Page 4

Agenda Item 5

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Regulatory SubCommittee
Minutes - 30 September 2021
Attendance
Members of the Regulatory Sub-Committee
Cllr Phil Page (Chair)
Cllr Anwen Muston
Cllr Wendy Dalton

Employees
Elaine Moreton
Onkaren Sandhu
Sarah Hardwick
Donna Cope

Section Leader Licensing
Section Leader Licensing
Senior Solicitor
Democratic Services Officer

Page 5

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No.

Title

1

Apologies for Absence
There were no apologies for absence.

2

Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest.

3

Exclusion of press and public
Resolved:
That, in accordance with section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business as
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information falling within paragraph 1 of
Schedule 12A to the Act relating to any individual.

4

(RA) Application for a Private Hire Vehicle Driver’s Licence
The Chair invited Elaine Moreton, Section Leader Licensing, Onkaren Sandhu,
Section Leader Licensing, and the Applicant (RA) into the Hearing. RA was
accompanied by his Solicitor, Mr Anthony Schiller. The Chair led round-table
introductions and outlined the procedure to be followed.
Elaine Moreton, Section Leader Licensing, outlined the report regarding an
application for a Private Hire Vehicle Driver’s Licence, which had been circulated to
all parties in advance of the meeting. The matter had been referred to the SubCommittee by an authorised employee of the council for further consideration to be
given as to whether RA was a fit and proper person to hold a Private Hire Vehicle
Driver’s Licence due to the information outlined in the report.
All parties were invited to question the Section Leader on the report. No questions
were asked.
The Chair invited RA to make representations.
Mr Schiller made representations on behalf of his client. He outlined his client’s
convictions and stated that RA was rehabilitated and had learnt from his mistakes.
He stated that RA had rebuilt his life and was now older and wiser.
All parties were invited to question RA and Mr Schiller on the submission.
In response to questions asked, Mr Schiller detailed the circumstances that led to his
client’s convictions and stated that RA had not been in trouble for a decade.
In response to further questions, RA stated that he had made one mistake and he
was now a changed person.
The Chair invited Mr Schiller and RA to make a final statement. Mr Schiller did so.

Page 6

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

RA, Mr Schiller, Elaine Moreton and Onkaren Sandhu left the room to allow the SubCommittee to determine the matter.
All parties were invited back to the meeting.
The Chair advised them of the decision of the Sub-Committee, which was explained
in full by the Senior Solicitor.
Resolved:
That having considered all the evidence both written and oral, provided at the
hearing, the Sub-Committee was not satisfied that RA was a fit and proper person
and therefore, in accordance with Section 51 of the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, a Private Hire Vehicle Driver’s Licence was not
granted. This decision was made in accordance with paragraph 5.1.9 of the
guidelines relating to the relevance of convictions and breaches of licence conditions
agreed by the Non-Statutory Licence Committee on 20 March 2019.
The Senior Solicitor detailed the applicant’s right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court
against the decision of the Sub-Committee, within 21 days of receipt of the decision,
and the potential costs of doing so.
5

(MN) Application for a Private Hire Vehicle Driver’s Licence
MN was unable to attend. Hearing deferred to a future date.

6

(RJ) Application for a Private Hire Vehicle Driver’s Licence
The Chair invited Elaine Moreton, Section Leader Licensing, Onkaren Sandhu,
Section Leader Licensing, and the Applicant (RJ) into the Hearing. The Chair led
round-table introductions and outlined the procedure to be followed.
Elaine Moreton, Section Leader Licensing, outlined the report regarding an
application for a Private Hire Vehicle Driver’s Licence, which had been circulated to
all parties in advance of the meeting. The matter had been referred to the SubCommittee by an authorised employee of the council for further consideration to be
given as to whether RJ was a fit and proper person to hold a Private Hire Vehicle
Driver’s Licence due to the information outlined in the report.
All parties were invited to question the Section Leader on the report. No questions
were asked.
The Chair invited RJ to make representations.
RJ detailed the circumstances that led to his convictions and stated that he had been
young and foolish. He stated that he now only drank alcohol on special occasions
and had settled down.
He stated that he had additional supporting documents with him and wished for them
to be considered by the Sub-Committee. The Sub-Committee agreed to the request
(copies filed with these minutes).
RJ stated that he was a different person now and asked the Sub-Committee to grant
him a temporary badge so that he could prove himself.

Page 7

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

All parties were invited to question RJ on his submission.
In response to questions asked, RJ outlined his current situation and discussed his
previous employment. He stated that he had now grown up and had completed an
alcohol course whilst in prison.
The Chair invited RJ to make a final statement. RJ did so.
RJ, Elaine Moreton and Onkaren Sandhu left the room to allow the Sub-Committee
to determine the matter.
All parties were invited back to the meeting.
Sarah Hardwick, Senior Solicitor, reported that the Sub-Committee were concerned
about RJ’s alcohol offences and would like the relevant tests carried out to establish
whether he still drank alcohol.
RJ advised the Sub-Committee that he used to work as a delivery driver for Amazon
where he had been required to take regular random alcohol tests.
Following discussions on this, it was agreed to adjourn the Hearing to allow Mrs
Moreton, Section Leader, speak with a doctor regarding alcohol testing methods and
time scales.
The Sub-Committee adjourned at 12.40 hours.
The Hearing reconvened at 12.47 hours.
Mrs Moreton reported back to the Sub-Committee, and RJ responded to questions
regarding his previous employment with Amazon.
Following further discussions, it was agreed to adjourn the Hearing again to allow
Mrs Moreton, Section Leader, seek further clarification on alcohol testing.
The Sub-Committee adjourned at 12.53 hours.
The Hearing reconvened at 12.57 hours.
Mrs Moreton reported back to the Sub-Committee.
RJ, Elaine Moreton and Onkaren Sandhu left the room to allow the Sub-Committee
to determine the matter.
All parties were invited back to the meeting.
The Chair advised them of the decision of the Sub-Committee, which was explained
in full by the Senior Solicitor.
Resolved:
That having considered all the evidence both written and oral, provided at the
hearing, the Sub-Committee decided to defer consideration of the application to allow
Licensing Services to contact Amazon and obtain a reference confirming that RJ had

Page 8

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

previously worked for them, his conduct whilst employed, and that when tested for
alcohol his results had been negative.
Should the Council receive a positive reference from Amazon, the Regulatory SubCommittee delegated the power to grant the application to officers with the stipulation
that his licence be subject to review by an officer every 3 months for the period of the
licence, that being 12 months.
If Amazon failed to provide a reference or when received, the feedback was
negative, RJ would again be required to attend before the Regulatory SubCommittee.

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10

Agenda Item 6
This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Regulatory Committee
10 November 2021
Report title

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing
Policy

Wards affected

All

Accountable director

Ross Cook, Director of City Housing and Environment

Originating service

Licensing

Accountable employee

Greg Bickerdike
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

N/A

Licensing Manager
01902 554030
Greg.Bickerdike@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Recommendations for decision:
The Regulatory Committee is recommended to:
1. Formally accept Cenex’s project report on an Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing
Policy.
2. Agree the Recommended Ultra-Low Emission Hackney Carriage and Private Hire
Vehicle Strategy.
3. Approve a consultation on an Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy.
4. Update the vehicle age policy, to exempt vehicles with zero tailpipe emissions from the
age limit.

Recommendations for noting:
The Regulatory Committee is asked to note:
1. The Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Fleet Review.
2. The Minimum Emissions Standard by Licensing Scenario.

Page 11

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

The purpose of this report is to present Cenex’s project report on an Ultra-Low Emission
Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy.

1.2

Cenex were commissioned by Licensing Services to undertake a service review and
identify opportunities to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from the taxi and private hire
trade through the use of ultra-low emission vehicles.

2.0

Background

2.1

On 17 July 2019, the Council declared a ‘Climate Emergency’ that requires urgent action
and committed to:
A. Make the Council’s activities net-zero carbon by 2028;
B. Ensure that all strategic decisions, budgets and approaches to planning and regulatory
decisions are in line with a shift to zero carbon by 2028;
C. Support and work with all partners in the City towards making the city zero carbon
within the same timescale.

2.2

The primary strategy for reducing greenhouse gases from the taxi trade is to reduce the
number of vehicles with internal combustion engines (ICE) and increase the number of
ultra-low emission vehicles (ULEVs), particularly zero emission vehicles (ZEVs).

2.3

Cenex were commissioned to undertake research on how best to achieve this.

3.0

Project Report

3.1

Cenex published the final revised project report (Appendix 1) on 1 March 2021.Stage 1 of
the Recommended Ultra-Low Emission Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle
Strategy (Appendix 1, p.69) proposes:
A. Submit draft vehicle emissions policy proposals to the Licensing Committee for
approval.
B. All licensed vehicles to be zero emission or ultra-low emission by 2028 (subject to
review).
C. New vehicles to be zero emission or ultra-low emission from 2023 (subject to vehicle
suitability).
D. Maximum vehicle age limits to be reviewed for diesel, petrol and hybrid vehicles.
E. Publish draft proposals including timescales, expected standards, and trade
engagement plans.

Page 12

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

4.0

Trade Engagement

4.1

Should the strategy be approved, trade engagement to obtain feedback on the results of
the report and to encourage potential early adopters to transition to ULEVs will be sought
through the following activities:
A. A short online survey for all licence holders, seeking to understand the willingness of
the trade to transition to ULEVs, accept the proposed policy and its incentive
measures.
B. Identification of genuine potential early adopters of ULEVs, with a screening of
potential data logging trial participants based on the short online survey responses.
C. An engagement workshop with potential early adopters, presenting a suitability and
business case for ULEVs, vehicle supplier discussion and demonstration as well as
the promotion of ULEV suitability reports.
D. ULEV suitability reports for 15 vehicles based on real-world journey patterns (15 GPS
loggers to be issued for 2 months).
E. Follow up workshop with data logging trial participants only.
F. Public summary report for all licence holders.

5.0

Maximum vehicle age limits

5.1

It is proposed that maximum vehicle age limits be removed for zero-tailpipe emission
vehicles (ZEVs). This will offset the higher up-front cost of purchasing these vehicles and
provide certainty to the trade that they will be able to use the vehicle for its full lifetime,
subject to compliance with other vehicle licence conditions. A list of vehicles considered
ZEV will be published on the Council’s website.

6.0

Financial implications

6.1

The financial implications of the measures included in the report are unclear at this stage.
Further reports will be brought to the Committee on financial implications, once the
measures have been consulted on and before any expenditure has been incurred.
[SB/21102021/Y]

7.0

Legal implications

7.1

There are no direct legal implications arising from this report however, Authorities are
entitled to determine their own policy in relation to taxi licensing.
[SH/22102021/A]

Page 13

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

8.0

Equalities implications

8.1

Initial equalities implications have been identified for the following characteristics:
A. Age: long term loans are likely to be required to purchase new vehicles, age will be a
barrier to those who are intending to retire in the short to medium term.
B. Religion: loans are prohibited for certain religions and would deter finance access for
some licence holders.

8.2

The engagement work recommended by the policy will help to inform equalities analyses,
ensuring that the Council completes its duty to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
harassment and victimisation; advance equality of opportunity by removing or minimising
disadvantages, meet differing needs and encouraging participation; and foster good
relations between people from different groups.

9.0

All other Implications

9.1

The proposals in this report are consistent with the Council’s Climate Emergency
declaration.

10.0

Schedule of background papers

10.1

Meeting of the City Council - Motions on Notice -17 July 2019

11.0

Appendices

11.1

Appendix 1: Cenex Report - Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

Page 14

Lowering your emissions
through innovation in transport
and energy infrastructure

PROJECT
CT
REPORT
PROJECT
CT
Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi
Licensing Policy
City of Wolverhampton Council

<<Project Title>>
<<Project Title>>

January 2021

Page 15

<<Project Title>>

<<Date>>

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Prepared for:

Terms and Conditions

Ric Bravery
Strategic Health Lead (Planning)
City of Wolverhampton Council
Civic Centre, St Peter’s Square
Wolverhampton
WV1 1SH

Cenex has exercised all reasonable skill and
care in the performance of our services and
we shall be liable only to the extent we are in
breach of such obligation. While the
information is provided in good faith, the ideas
presented in the report must be subject to
further investigation, and take into account
other factors not presented here, before being
taken forward. Cenex shall not in any
circumstances be liable in contract, or
otherwise for (a) any loss of investment, loss
of contract, loss of production, loss of profits,
loss of time or loss of use; and/or (b) any
consequential or indirect loss sustained by the
client or any third parties.

Ric.Bravery@wolverhampton.gov.uk
07773 18923

Prepared by:

REDACTED
Carl Christie
Technical Specialist – Fleet Support Services

Approved by:

REDACTED

Document Revisions
No.
1
1.1
2
3

Fergus Worthy
Senior Transport Consultant

Company Details
Cenex
Holywell Building
Holywell Park
Ashby Road
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 3UZ
Registered in England No. 5371158
Tel: 01509 642 500
Email: info@cenex.co.uk
Website: www.cenex.co.uk

Page 16
764-001-01

Page 2 of 82

Details
Initial release
Birmingham update
Client feedback
Updated Table 8

Date
22/01/2021
05/02/2021
18/02/2021
01/03/2021

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

Contents
Executive Summary .......................................................................... 5
1 Introduction ................................................................................ 10
1.1

Scope............................................................................................................................... 10

1.2

Methodology .................................................................................................................... 11

2 Summary of Current Fleet .......................................................... 13
2.1

Review of Current Vehicle Licensing Policy...................................................................... 13

2.2

Fleet Composition and Operations ................................................................................... 14

2.3

Fuel Economy and Fleet Emissions ................................................................................. 20

3 Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Technology Options ...................... 25
3.1

Zero Tailpipe Emission Vehicle Technologies .................................................................. 25

3.2

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Technologies ........................................................................ 25

3.3

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Technology Screening.......................................................... 26

4 Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Performance Reviews ................... 29
4.1

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Performance Review – Medium Car ..................................... 30

4.2

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Performance Review – Medium Van (WAV) ......................... 32

4.3

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Performance Review – Other Vehicle Segments .................. 34

5 Overall Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Technology Suitability ....... 35
6 Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Emissions Policy and Measures
Review ............................................................................................ 40
6.1

Licensing Policy Scenarios............................................................................................... 40

6.2

Impact of Revised Vehicle Age and Emissions Policy ...................................................... 41

6.3

Vehicle Age and Emissions Policy Best Practice .............................................................. 52

6.4

Financial, Practical and Regulatory Incentive Measures................................................... 54

6.5

Examples of Coordinated Vehicle Emissions Policy and Measures .................................. 66

7 Conclusions ................................................................................ 67
8 Recommended Ultra-Low Emission Hackney Carriage and
Private Hire Vehicle Strategy .......................................................... 69
Addendum – Trade Engagement and Promotion ........................... 70
Appendix A – Detailed Methodology .............................................. 71
Appendix B – Additional Tables and Charts ................................... 73
Appendix C – Fleet Review References ......................................... 81

Page 17
764-001-01

Page 3 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

Abbreviations
BEV

Battery Electric Vehicle

CO2

Carbon Dioxide

CO2e

Carbon Dioxide Equivalent

CAZ

Clean Air Zone

FCEV

Fuel Cell Electric Vehicle

FC REEV

Fuel Cell Range Extended Electric Vehicle

LPG

Liquefied Petroleum Gas

CH4

Methane

MPV

Multi-Purpose Vehicle

NO

Nitric Oxide

NO2

Nitrogen Dioxide

N2O

Nitrous Oxide

NOx

Oxides of Nitrogen

PM

Particulate Matter

PHEV

Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicle

REEV

Range Extended Electric Vehicle

SUV

Sports Utility Vehicle

TTW

Tank-to-Wheel

TCO

Total Cost of Ownership

ULEV

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle

WTW

Well-to-Wheel

WAV

Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle

ZEV

Zero Emission Vehicle

Page 18
764-001-01

Page 4 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

Executive Summary
In 2018, City of Wolverhampton Council commissioned Cenex to undertake a high-level review of
their current hackney carriage and private hire vehicle licensing policy, specifically relating to
minimum standards for the vehicle age and emissions policy. Several recommendations were made,
including the following:
•

Review the suitability of ultra-low emission vehicles based on individual vehicle annual
mileages, fuel types and fuel economy.

•

Determine the most suitable measures to incentivise the transition to ultra-low emission
vehicles in support of any proposed vehicle licensing interventions.

Since completion of the previous work, City of Wolverhampton Council has declared a climate
emergency with a target to reach net-zero greenhouse gas emissions across its own activities by
2028. Additionally, City of Wolverhampton Council has an aspiration to have a zero-tailpipe emission
hackney carriage and private hire vehicle fleet by 2030 or 2035 at the latest (in-line with the UK
Government proposal for ending the sale of new petrol, diesel and hybrid passenger vehicles).
In support of these aspirations, City of Wolverhampton Council has commissioned Cenex to
undertake a detailed review of the options and feasibility of achieving a zero-tailpipe emission or
ultra-low emission hackney carriage and private hire fleet by 2028 or 2035.
This report provides a detailed assessment of the current suitability of ultra-low emission vehicles
for all hackney carriage and private hire vehicles licensed by City of Wolverhampton Council (168
and ~11,200 vehicles respectively). This is supported by a recommendation for an ultra-low emission
vehicle policy and a high-level summary of the financial, practical and regulatory measures available
to City of Wolverhampton Council to accelerate the transition to ultra-low emission vehicles.
To understand the feasibility of these recommendations, Cenex has also undertaken desk-based
research into vehicle licensing policy best practice alongside interviews with other local authorities
and wheelchair accessible vehicle suppliers / convertors.
Methodology
This review has been delivered in the following stages:
1. Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Fleet Review: a full and detailed review of all vehicles licensed
by City of Wolverhampton Council to understand the current fleet composition and emissions
(by licence and vehicle type) followed by an assessment of the suitability of each individual
vehicle to be replaced by an ultra-low emission vehicle. The number of vehicles currently
suitable for replacement by an ultra-low emission vehicle is reported alongside the associated
cost and emissions savings. This demonstrates the current feasibility of introducing ultra-low
emission vehicles as the minimum emissions standard.
2. Vehicle Emissions Policy and Measures Review: assessment of the impact of different
dates for the introduction of ultra-low emission vehicles as the minimum emissions standard
for newly licensed vehicles followed by all licensed vehicles. This has been supplemented by
research into vehicle age and emissions policy as well as financial, practical and regulatory
measures delivered through desk-based research and taxi industry interviews.
3. Trade Engagement and Promotion: direct engagement with the taxi trade via an online
survey, two trade engagement workshops and by trialling personalised ultra-low emission
vehicle suitability reports to encourage potential early adopters to transition to ultra-low
emission vehicles. Upon completion, a summary of these activities will be provided in
Addendum – Trade Engagement and Promotion.

Page 19
764-001-01

Page 5 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Summary of Current Fleet
The table below provides a summary of the City of Wolverhampton licensed hackney carriage and
private hire vehicle fleets (as of August 2020). This gives context for the findings of the report and
acts as a baseline for proposed vehicle licensing policy revisions and supporting measures.

Number of Vehicles

Hackney Carriage Vehicles

Private Hire Vehicles

168

11,372

Vehicle Types

Medium Passenger Van (84%)
London Taxi1 (16%)

Medium Car (45%)
Large Car (27%)
Multi-Purpose Vehicle (16%)
Executive Car (6%)
Other (6%)

Vehicle Models

Mercedes-Benz Vito, Citroen
Dispatch, Peugeot Expert

Toyota Prius, Skoda Octavia,
Toyota Avensis

28,400 miles per year
~109 miles per day2

22,220 miles per year
~85 miles per day2

1

Average Mileage
Maximum Mileage3
Total Mileage
4

Vehicle Locations

Vehicle Operations
Fuel Types
Average Fuel Economy
Euro Standards
Average Air Quality
Emissions
(Oxides of Nitrogen)
Contribution to Fleet
Greenhouse Gas
Emissions6
Contribution to Fleet Air
Quality Emissions6,7,8
1
2
3

4
5
6
7
8

50,000 miles per year, ~190 miles per day
4,800,000, miles per year

244,000,000 miles per year

Wolverhampton (100%)

West Midlands5 (55%)
National (35%)
Wolverhampton (10%)

Urban with Major Conurbation / City and Town
Diesel (100%)

Diesel (64%)
Hybrid (22%)
Petrol (13%)

~36 mpg

~48 mpg

56% Euro 4 or less
8% Euro 6

61% Euro 5
30% Euro 6

0.91 g / km
42 kg per year

0.38 g / km
14 kg per year

2%

98%

31% (Wolverhampton)
4% (Total)

69% (Wolverhampton)
96% (Total)

all hackney carriage vehicles are wheelchair accessible vehicles.
assuming 5 days operation per week and 52 weeks per year.
two standard deviations from the average annual mileage. Approximately the top 2.5% of vehicles
will cover a greater mileage each year.
based on anonymised vehicle proprietor postcode only.
excluding Wolverhampton.
fleet denotes the combined hackney carriage and private hire vehicles (e.g. all licensed vehicles).
air quality emissions are represented as percentage contribution of Oxides of Nitrogen emissions
not all fleet air quality emissions occur in the city of Wolverhampton. The Wolverhampton
percentage split shows the estimated contribution to air quality in the city of Wolverhampton. The
Total percentage split includes the contributions of all private hire vehicles, many of which will
emit air quality emissions in other cities.

Page 20
764-001-01

Page 6 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Conclusions
The City of Wolverhampton Council target of achieving a zero-tailpipe emission or ultra-low emission
hackney carriage and private hire vehicle fleet by 2028 is achievable but very challenging with
immediate progress requiring a coordinated approach to licensing policy, incentive measures, and
chargepoint infrastructure delivered by a dedicated, appropriately funded, programme of work.
Adopting a highly aspirational licensing policy under which all licensed vehicles must be zero
emission or ultra-low emission by 2028 and newly licensed vehicles must meet the same standards
from 2023 at the earliest (subject to the availability of suitable vehicles) would require the introduction
of 1,500 ultra-low emission vehicles each year between 2023 and 2027 followed by 4,700 vehicles
in 2028. Between 2020 and 2035, this would reduce cumulative greenhouse gas emissions by 31%
and cumulative air quality pollutant emissions by 35%. From 2028 annual greenhouse gas and air
quality pollutant emissions would be reduced by at least 54% and 95%, respectively. This would also
provide running cost savings of £119m and social damage cost savings of £22.5m.
To support such a policy, direct incentives should only be provided for the introduction of zero
emission and ultra-low emission vehicles which meet the latest plug-in grant emissions eligibility
criteria1 (instead of diesel, petrol and hybrid vehicles with improved Euro emission standards). This
ensures an earlier transition to ultra-low emission vehicles and crucially reduces both greenhouse
gas and air quality pollutant emissions. Any new diesel, petrol or hybrid vehicles introduced will delay
significant greenhouse gas emissions reductions by an entire vehicle life cycle.
Interim measures such as trade engagement events, ride and drive opportunities, personalised
suitability advice, and increasing the availability of suitable wheelchair accessible vehicles should
aim to increase the awareness, knowledge and experience of using ultra-low emission vehicles
amongst potential early adopters. At the point of introduction of ultra-low emission as the minimum
emissions standard, a targeted package of measures is also required including financial incentives,
additional electric vehicle charging infrastructure and ultra-low emission vehicle trial schemes.
Supporting Justification
•

Ultra-low emission vehicles are available in key vehicle segments with at least 50 models
available in 2020. The number of ultra-low emission vehicle models is expected to increase
by 89% before 2025 at which point cost parity with new petrol / diesel vehicles is expected.

•

64% of the combined fleet already meets the suitability criteria to be replaced by a battery
electric vehicle, with medium and large cars representing the most immediate opportunities.
o

•

•

1
2

Battery electric vehicles have real-world electric only ranges of 110-196 miles2. 89% of
the combined fleet can complete their average daily mileage on one charge only.
o Except for executive cars, battery electric vehicles provide total cost of ownership
savings of £3,000 to £22,000 compared to buying a brand-new Euro 6 vehicle.
o Battery electric vehicles produce zero tailpipe emissions and provide a 60-75%
reduction in fuel lifecycle greenhouse gas emissions.
The recommended strategy provides clear messaging and certainty to the trade regarding
expected minimum emissions standards and replacement vehicle ownership periods.
Likewise, a focused package of ultra-low emission vehicle measures can be implemented
that provides incentives for vehicle technologies with the largest zero emissions range,
thereby improving value for public money.
Cenex acknowledge that the proposed dates for the aspirational scenario are highly
ambitious. These timescales allow for negotiation with the trade and are aligned with other
local authorities aiming to have ultra-low emission hackney carriage and private hire fleets
by 2030 including Coventry (2024), Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire (2028), and Derby
and Nottingham (2030). It should however be noted that City of Wolverhampton Council have
far more private hire vehicles (>11,000) and have not yet developed a new licensing policy.

Currently defined as ‘CO2 emissions of less than 50 g/km and can travel at least 70 miles without any emissions at all’.
Based on standard battery capacities, a large car with a 75 kWh battery has an estimated real-world electric range of 267 miles.

Page 21
764-001-01

Page 7 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Key Risks (shown in descending order of likely risk to implementation)
•

Provision of adequate funding to offer short term incentive measures to increase
confidence in ultra-low emission vehicles and to overcome the increased purchase cost.
o

•

•

•

•

Recommendation: Develop a full business case to support external funding applications.

Limited availability of suitable wheelchair accessible vehicles (and to a lesser extent 7seater vehicles and executive cars).
o

There are currently only two models available, the Dynamo Nissan e-NV200 (40 kWh
battery electric vehicle) and LEVC TX (31 kWh range extended electric vehicle).

o

Due to a relatively high average daily mileage (109 miles), only 38% of hackney carriage
vehicles are able to operate over a day on a single charge of a battery electric vehicle. On
average, range extended electric hackney carriage vehicles increase total cost of ownership
by £5,000 and reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 37% (compared to a 75% reduction
for battery electric vehicles). Currently, both technologies would be heavily reliant on the
availability of DC rapid chargepoints for ‘top-up’ charging during shifts.

o

Recommendation: Support the development of a demonstration fleet of new to market ultralow emission wheelchair accessible hackney carriage vehicles. Recommended
demonstration fleet to include side entry and rear entry wheelchair accessible vehicles
based on the latest generation of small and medium van derived passenger vehicles.

o

Recommendation: Ensure that the introduction of ultra-low emission vehicles is conditional
on the availability of suitable vehicles across all essential services.

Provision of adequate electric vehicle charging infrastructure to support the wider scale
adoption of plug-in ultra-low emission vehicles.
o

The private hire vehicle fleet operates nationally, this may make provision of adequate
infrastructure more challenging.

o

Recommendation: Undertake a review of infrastructure requirements to develop a proposal
for a regional chargepoint network to support the aspirational licensing policy.

Plug-in hybrid electric vehicles are not well suited to City of Wolverhampton Council
private hire vehicle operations but are currently classified as ultra-low emission vehicles.
o

Plug-in hybrid electric vehicles increase total cost of ownership for all vehicle types,
additionally plug-in hybrid electric vehicles are no longer eligible for the plug-in grant.

o

If charged once per day, plug-in hybrid electric vehicles increase greenhouse gas emissions
for 38% of executive cars and 73% of medium cars. Most plug-in hybrid electric vehicles
have an electric only range of 20-30 miles and do not have DC rapid charging capabilities.

o

Recommendation: Do not provide additional incentives (regulatory, financial or otherwise)
for current plug-in hybrid electric vehicles or Euro 6 diesel, petrol or hybrid vehicles.

The number of City of Wolverhampton Council licensed private hire vehicles has
increased from around 650 vehicles in 2013 to over 11,000 vehicles in 2020. Only 10%
of these vehicles are based in Wolverhampton postcode districts. Further measures are
required to minimise the impact of any future increases in vehicle numbers on emissions and
to ensure that incentives are prioritised for vehicles operating locally or in the West Midlands.
o

Recommendation: Introduce ultra-low emission vehicles as the minimum emission
standard for new private hire vehicle licence applicants as soon as possible and establish
appropriate targets for the number of ultra-low emission vehicles to be licensed by large
private hire vehicle operators.

o

Recommendation: Investigate the feasibility of aligning ultra-low low emission vehicle
licence policies and incentive measures across the West Midlands. Establish eligibility
criteria for preferred incentive measures.

Page 22
764-001-01

Page 8 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Recommended Ultra-Low Emission Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Strategy
Stage 1 (2021)

Gain political support for draft ultra-low emission vehicle policy

Submit draft vehicle emissions policy proposals to the Licensing Committee for approval.
All licensed vehicles to be zero emission or ultra-low emission by 2028 (subject to review).
New vehicles to be zero emission or ultra-low emission from 2023 (subject to vehicle suitability).
Maximum vehicle age limits to be reviewed for diesel, petrol and hybrid vehicles.
Publish draft proposals including timescales, expected standards, and trade engagement plans.
Stage 2a (2021)

Review infrastructure and wheelchair accessible vehicle measures

Review infrastructure requirements to support the forecast uptake of plug-in vehicles.
Undertake a feasibility study for the procurement of a battery electric, 9-seater, passenger van to
be converted to a wheelchair accessible hackney carriage vehicle.
Review the suitability of rear entry wheelchair accessible vehicles as hackney carriage vehicles.
Publish a list of actions to increase the availability of suitable wheelchair accessible vehicles.
Stage 2b (2021-2022)

Introduce interim measures to support potential early adopters

Identify and engage with potential early adopters.
Increase awareness, knowledge and experience of using ultra-low emission vehicles:
• Publish a provisional list of approved vehicles with revised vehicle conditions of licensing to
maximise ultra-low emission vehicle availability.
• Facilitate trade engagement events with ride and drive opportunities.
• Provide personalised advice and suitability assessments.
• Develop pilot scheme for an ultra-low emission vehicle trial scheme.
Engage with the trade to establish the type and level of financial support required. Implement a
non-repayable grant scheme covering direct licensing costs for select early adopters.
Stage 3 (2021-2023)

Develop then approve final proposals and targeted measures

Assign a dedicated programme manager responsible the delivery of multiyear projects covering
vehicle licensing policy, ultra-low emission vehicle measures and infrastructure.
Determine objectives and key performance indicators to be monitored during the programme.
Determine the specifics of the recommended strategy including, but not limited to, the following:
• Definition of an ultra-low emission vehicle e.g. ‘CO2 emissions of less than 50 g/km and can
travel at least 70 miles without any emissions at all’.
• Maximum vehicle age limits for different emissions standards.
• Conditions on the availability of suitable ultra-low emission vehicles.
• Emissions policy introduction dates.
Develop a full business case to support external funding applications for measures that are
major projects such as an interest free loan scheme, a non-repayable grant scheme, electric
vehicle charging infrastructure, and an ultra-low emission vehicle trial scheme.
Undertake a public consultation regarding final proposals and measures.
Stage 4 (2023-2025)

Implement final ultra-low emission vehicle policy and measures

Undertake a final review of ultra-low emission vehicle suitability.
Launch final package of measures six months prior to the new licensing policy, measures to be
reviewed annually and made available for at least two years.
Implement ultra-low emission vehicle policy for newly licensed vehicles.

Page 23
764-001-01

Page 9 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

1 Introduction
In 2018, City of Wolverhampton Council commissioned Cenex to undertake a high-level review of
their current hackney carriage and private hire vehicle licensing policy, specifically relating to
minimum standards for the vehicle age and emissions policy. Several recommendations were made,
including the following:
•

Review the suitability of ultra-low emission vehicles (ULEVs) based on individual vehicle
annual mileages, fuel types and fuel economy.

•

Determine the most suitable measures to incentivise the transition to ULEVs in support of
any proposed vehicle licensing interventions.

Since completion of the previous work, City of Wolverhampton Council has declared a climate
emergency with a target to reach net-zero greenhouse gas emissions across its own activities by
2028. To address the joint environmental challenges of achieving zero greenhouse gas emissions
by 2050 and ensuring compliance with legal limits for air quality pollutant emissions, City of
Wolverhampton Council has an aspiration to have a zero-tailpipe emission vehicle (ZEV) hackney
carriage and private hire fleet by 2030 or 2035 at the latest (in-line with the UK Government proposal
for ending the sale of new petrol, diesel and hybrid passenger vehicles3).
City of Wolverhampton Council has commissioned Cenex to undertake a detailed review of the
options and feasibility of achieving a ZEV (or ULEV) hackney carriage and private hire fleet by 2028
or 2035.

1.1 Scope
This report provides a detailed assessment of the current suitability of ULEVs for all hackney carriage
and private hire vehicles licensed by City of Wolverhampton Council as of 21st August 2020 (168
and ~11,200 vehicles respectively). All private hire vehicles are included regardless of location.
An ULEV has been defined using the Office for Zero Emission Vehicles and the Vehicle Certification
Agency definition as any car or van that emits less than 75 g/km of carbon dioxide (CO2) from the
tailpipe. Technologies currently meeting this definition have been included in this report and include
fuel cell electric vehicles (FCEV), fuel cell range extended electric vehicles (FC REEV), battery
electric vehicles (BEV), range extended electric vehicles (REEV) and plug-in hybrid electric vehicles
(PHEVs). Due to advances in technology, it is expected that from 2021 an ULEV will be defined as
a car or van that emits less than 50 g/km with a minimum required zero emission range.
ULEV suitability has been assessed for each vehicle using average daily mileage, calculated realworld operating range, total cost of ownership (TCO) and emissions with consideration for which
vehicle models are most likely to be fit for purpose as taxi vehicles. The vehicle cost modelling
presented in this report is based on the outright purchase and subsequent ownership of an ULEV
compared to purchasing a brand-new diesel or petrol vehicle. It is acknowledged that, where allowed,
many operators prefer to purchase used vehicles outright. Indicative cost differences for ULEVs
compared to used diesel vehicles have been included where relevant.

1.1.1

Out of Scope

•

Operational suitability has been assessed using annual mileage data from MOT records and
an assumed number of days used per week to calculate average daily mileage. It is the
responsibility of vehicle proprietors, with the support of City of Wolverhampton Council (and
partners), to confirm overall and day to day operational suitability. The main exception to this
is the vehicles that will be fitted with telematics devices and assessed in 2021.

•

Electric vehicle charging infrastructure requirements are out of scope and have not been
assessed as part of this report.

•

This report provides a summary of measures to increase the uptake of ULEVs but is not
intended as an outline or full business case assessment of such measures.

3

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-takes-historic-step-towards-net-zero-with-end-of-sale-of-new-petrol-and-diesel-carsby-2030

Page 24
764-001-01

Page 10 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
1.2 Methodology
This review has been delivered in the following stages:
1. Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Fleet Review: a full and detailed review of all vehicles licensed
by City of Wolverhampton Council to understand the current fleet composition and emissions
(by licence and vehicle type) followed by an assessment of the suitability of each individual
vehicle to be replaced by an ULEV. The number of vehicles currently suitable for replacement
by an ULEV is reported alongside the associated cost and emissions savings. This
demonstrates the current feasibility of introducing ULEV as the minimum emissions standard.
2. Vehicle Emissions Policy and Measures Review: assessment of the impact of different
dates for the introduction of ULEV as the minimum emissions standard for newly licensed
vehicles followed by all licensed vehicles. This has been supplemented by research into
vehicle age and emissions policy as well as financial, practical and regulatory measures
delivered through desk-based research and taxi industry interviews.
3. Trade Engagement and Promotion: direct engagement with the taxi trade via an online
survey, two trade engagement workshops and by trialling personalised ULEV suitability
reports to encourage potential early adopters to transition to ULEVs. Upon completion, a
summary of these activities will be provided in Addendum – Trade Engagement and
Promotion.
For reference, the term ‘taxi’ has been used interchangeably throughout this report to describe the
entire taxi trade (taxi drivers, taxi vehicles). It therefore covers hackney carriage and private hire
vehicles. ‘Hackney carriage vehicle’ and ‘private hire vehicle’ have been used to differentiate
between licence types. These terms do not refer to specific vehicle specifications.
The following formatting has been applied to the main body text throughout the report:
•

Key assumptions are shown in bold and are underlined.

•

Key findings are shown in bold only and are summarised in Section 7 Conclusions.

•

Implementation Recommendations are shown in light green text boxes and represent
individual recommendations that address specific considerations.

•

Strategy Recommendations are shown in light gold text boxes and represent
recommendations which collectively achieve the overall objectives of the project. Strategy
recommendations have been consolidated in Section 8 Recommended Ultra-Low Emission
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Strategy.

Figure 1 provides a summary of the overall methodology used to produce this report.

Page 25
764-001-01

Page 11 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

Fleet Data Collection

Vehicle Categorisation

• List of vehicles, anonymised vehicle proprietor
postcodes and vehicle policies from licensing team
• Annual mileage and estimated daily mileage
calculated from DVSA MOT records

• Vehicle details from the DVLA database
• Individual vehicles categorised into one of 11
vehicle segments

Summary of Current Fleet

• Real-world fuel economy from Emissions Analytics
• Greenhouse gas and air quality emissions
calculated using publicly available emissions factors
as used by UK Government

ULEV Technology Options

• Introduction to ULEV technologies
• ULEV technology screening based on current
availability and supplier maturity

ULEV Perfomance Reviews

• Detailed breakdown of the real-world operating
range, total cost of ownership and emissions saving
potential of ULEVs based on the average vehicle per
segment

ULEV Technology Suitability

• Assessment of the suitability of ULEV technologies
for each individual vehicle to quantify the overall
opportunity for introducing ULEVs across the fleet

ULEV Emissions Policy and
Measures Review

• Modelling of the impact of different scenarios for
minimum emissions standards to 2035
• Interviews with local authorities and wheelchair
accessible vehicle suppliers*

Recommended ULEV Hackney
Carriage and Private Hire
Vehicle Strategy

• Recommended minimum emissions standard with
date of introduction for new vehicles then all vehicles
• Recommended priorities for a package of measures
to support the proposed licensing changes
Figure 1 - Summary of Methodology

* Brotherwood (brief call with Sales Consultant), Cardiff County Council (brief call with licensing
team), Coventry City Council, Dynamo Motor Company and Paul Rigby Group.

Page 26
764-001-01

Page 12 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

2 Summary of Current Fleet
This section studies the provided fleet data to understand and baseline the current fleet size, vehicle
types, operational patterns and emissions. The purpose of this section is to provide context for the
report and to provide a baseline for proposed vehicle emissions policies.
City of Wolverhampton Council provided Cenex with a list of 168 hackney carriage and 11,204
private hire vehicle registrations, correct as of August 2020. Additionally, the following
information was also supplied:
•

Total mileage at the most recent compliance test for each vehicle.

•

An identification of wheelchair accessible vehicles (WAV).

•

Operator licence number for each private hire vehicle.

•

Separate and anonymised list of vehicle proprietor postcodes (district code only e.g. WV1).

2.1 Review of Current Vehicle Licensing Policy
The vehicle licensing policy determines the fleet composition and emissions profile through accepted
vehicle types, maximum vehicle age limits and minimum emissions standards.
Table 1 shows the current City of Wolverhampton Council vehicle age and emissions policy. City of
Wolverhampton Council use a vehicle age based policy and do not directly specify any minimum
emissions standards.
Table 1 – Vehicle Age and Emissions Policy; City of Wolverhampton Council

Hackney Carriage Vehicle
Private Hire Vehicle

Maximum Age Limit
(Newly Licensed Vehicles)
Brand New
12 years

Maximum Age Limit
(Renewal)
16 years
12 years

Hackney carriage vehicles must be brand new when first licensed and can be renewed up to
the age of 16 years, subject to vehicle inspections which occur annually up to the age of 10 years
then every 6 months up to the age of 16 years.
Private hire vehicles will not be licensed over the age of 12 years. City of Wolverhampton
Council do not have an ‘exceptional condition’ policy, such policies waive age limits for vehicles in
exceptional condition which can often lead to increased fleet emissions.

2.1.1

West Midlands Licensing Policy

For context, the licensing policies of the other local authorities in the West Midlands have also been
reviewed. This information is used to highlight any important differences, particularly those which
may make establishing minimum emissions standards more challenging.
Table 2 and Table 3 show the maximum age limits for hackney carriage and private hire vehicles
licensed across the seven local authorities that constitute the West Midlands Combined Authority.
Table 2 – Hackney Carriage Vehicle Age and Emissions Policy; West Midlands Local Authorities

Local Authority
Birmingham
Coventry
Dudley
Sandwell
Solihull
Walsall
Wolverhampton

Maximum Age Limit
(Newly Licensed Vehicles)
15 years
15 years
None
None
None
Brand New
Brand New

Page 27
764-001-01

Page 13 of 82

Maximum Age Limit
(Renewal)
15 years
15 years
None
None
None
18 years
16 years

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Table 3 – Private Hire Vehicle Age and Emissions Policy; West Midlands Local Authorities

Local Authority
Birmingham
Coventry
Dudley
Sandwell
Solihull
Walsall
Wolverhampton

Maximum Age Limit
(Newly Licensed Vehicles)
12 years
15 years
None
None
None
5 years
12 years

Maximum Age Limit
(Renewal)
12 years
15 years
None
None
None
15 years
12 years

Except for the requirement for newly licensed hackney carriage vehicles to be brand new (like Walsall
Council), the City of Wolverhampton Council age limits are well aligned with other local authorities
across the West Midlands. Both Birmingham City Council and Coventry City Council have recently
introduced ULEV emissions policies. Details of these policies are discussed further in Section 6.3
Vehicle Age and Emissions Policy Best Practice.
All 2,515 hackney carriage vehicles4 licensed by the West Midlands local authorities are
required to be purpose-built WAVs. This covers vehicles meeting the London Taxi Condition of
Fitness and medium van derived passenger vehicles meeting the ‘national’ hackney carriage vehicle
specification (e.g. standard turning circle). Such vehicles are side entry WAVs with a fully partitioned
driver compartment. 1% (148 vehicles) of the private hire vehicles are also WAVs with a wider variety
of vehicle specifications allowed including small van derived passenger vehicles.
Cenex advocate a regional approach to the introduction of minimum emissions standards
and approved vehicle types. This provides a level of standardisation and emissions reduction
potential over a wider geographical area. Environmentally conscious local authorities should
consider the environmental impact of their licensed taxi vehicles as a key responsibility regardless
of whether vehicles are operating outside of their district.

2.2 Fleet Composition and Operations
Of the 11,372 vehicles licensed by City of Wolverhampton Council, 168 vehicles are licensed as
hackney carriage vehicles and 11,204 vehicles are licensed as private hire vehicles.
Figure 2 shows the number of private hire vehicles licensed between 2013 and 2020.

Figure 2 – Number of Private Hire Vehicles Licensed by City of Wolverhampton Council by Year

4

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers

Page 28
764-001-01

Page 14 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Section 55A of The Deregulation Act 20155 introduced new legislation in relation to the subcontracting of bookings from one private hire vehicle operator to another including to an operator
licensed and located in a different local authority district.
The number of City of Wolverhampton Council licensed private hire vehicles has increased from
around 650 vehicles in 2013 to over 11,000 vehicles in 2020. For modelling purposes and the
remainder of this report the number of private hire vehicles has been fixed at 11,204 vehicles.
The number of licensed private hire vehicles will have a large impact on annual fleet emissions, as
such introducing minimum emissions standards that guarantee or encourage sustainable changes
in vehicle numbers should be considered a priority.
Implementation Recommendation: Investigate options to introduce ULEV as the minimum
emissions standard for new vehicle licence applicants / new entrants as soon possible (e.g.
proprietors that do not currently hold a City of Wolverhampton Council vehicle licence).
A limit on the number of licensed private hire vehicles would achieve similar results but requires
new legislation in England. On 17th April 2019, Glasgow City Council became the first city in
Scotland to introduce an overprovision policy for private hire vehicles6.

2.2.1

Number and Type of Vehicles

Table 4 shows a breakdown of the top three vehicle models currently used within the hackney
carriage vehicle fleet.
Table 4 – Hackney Carriage Vehicle Fleet Composition

Top Three Vehicle
Models

Medium Van

London Taxi
Total

Number of
Vehicles by
Model

Mercedes-Benz Vito
Citroen Dispatch
Peugeot Expert
LTI TX II
LTI TX4
LTI TX1
-

51
33
32
12
8
6
-

Total
Number of
Vehicles by
Segment

Percentage
of Vehicles

141

84%

27

16%

168

100%

84% of the hackney carriage vehicles are medium van derived vehicles such as the MercedesBenz Vito and Citroen Dispatch. The remaining 16% of the hackney carriage fleet (27 vehicles)
are ‘London Taxi’ vehicles.
Table 5 shows a breakdown of the top three vehicle models in each vehicle segment within the
private hire vehicle fleet.

5
6

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/20/introduction/enacted
https://www.glasgow.gov.uk/article/17616/Licence-for-a-Private-Hire-Car

Page 29
764-001-01

Page 15 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Table 5 – Private Hire Vehicle Fleet Composition

Medium Car

Large Car
Medium MultiPurpose Vehicle
(MPV)*
Executive Car

Large MPV*

Medium Van

Small MPV
Midsized Sports
Utility Vehicle
(SUV)
Small Car

Small Van

Other

Top Three Vehicle
Models

Number of
Vehicles by
Model

Toyota Prius
Skoda Octavia
Toyota Auris
Toyota Avensis
Volkswagen Passat
Vauxhall Insignia
Vauxhall Zafira
Volkswagen Touran
Toyota Verso
Mercedes-Benz E-Class
BMW 5-Series
Audi A6
Ford Galaxy
Volkswagen Sharan
Seat Alhambra
Mercedes-Benz Vito
Vauxhall Vivaro
Renault Trafic
Kia Carens
Seat Altea
Vauxhall Meriva
Peugeot 5008
Mitsubishi Outlander
Nissan X-Trail
Skoda Fabia
Seat Ibiza
Dacia Sandero
Peugeot Partner
Volkswagen Caddy
Nissan NV200

1,494
1,072
728
756
643
379
525
301
285
351
139
113
138
122
93
85
21
15
31
23
11
38
15
10
31
7
6
27
13
10

-

-

Total
Number of
Vehicles by
Segment

Percentage
of Vehicles

5,131

45%

3,084

27%

1,367

12%

639

6%

424

4%

228

2%

75

1%

75

1%

66

1%

57

0%

35

0%

Total**
11,181
100%
* MPVs in 5-seater and 7-seater variants, ** 23 vehicles have been excluded as no vehicle data
was returned from the MOT database.
Private hire vehicles are predominantly medium cars (45%) and large cars (27%); these
segments make up 72% of the private hire vehicle fleet. The remainder of the fleet includes
MPVs with up to 7 seats (16%), executive cars (6%), and niche vehicle segments accounting for less
than 2% of the fleet each.
Most vehicle segments are dominated by the top three vehicle models, these models typically
account for over 50% of their respective vehicle segments. The executive car segment is the clearest
example of this where the Mercedes-Benz E-Class alone accounts for 55% of the vehicle segment
with the top three models accounting for 94% of the vehicle segment. In the short term, vehicle
proprietors wanting to transition to an ULEV may have to consider using either a different make and
model, or a different vehicle type altogether.

Page 30
764-001-01

Page 16 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
2.2.2

Annual Mileage and Estimated Average Daily Mileage

Annual mileage and average daily mileage are critical in determining the economic suitability
(ownership and running costs) and operational suitability (electric only range vs. daily mileage) of
ULEVs. As it is difficult to gather this information in a consistent manner via local authority in-house
test records or trade surveys, Cenex has calculated the annual mileage on a per vehicle basis
using the mileage recorded during MOTs. A further 128 vehicles were excluded from the analysis,
these vehicles are all less than three years old and therefore do not have MOT mileage data. More
information on the method for gathering and processing annual mileage data can be found in
Appendix A – Detailed Methodology.
Figure 3 shows the distribution of annual mileage for the hackney carriage vehicles only. Figure 4
shows the distribution of annual milage for the combined hackney carriage and private hire vehicle
fleet (heavily weighted towards private hire vehicles due to the prevalence of such vehicles).

Figure 3 - Distribution of Annual Mileage; Hackney Carriage Vehicles

Figure 4 – Distribution of Annual Mileage; Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles

Page 31
764-001-01

Page 17 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
The average annual mileage of the hackney carriage vehicle fleet and combined vehicle fleet
is 28,400 miles and 22,220 miles respectively (including private hire vehicles). Both mileages
are comparable to other taxi fleets that Cenex has assessed such as Cardiff Capital Region (~5,700
vehicles with an average annual mileage of 24,700 miles). Higher annual mileages improve the
economic suitability of ULEVs by providing larger running cost savings. Conversely, higher annual
mileages are typically a result of higher daily mileages which can be operationally challenging for
ULEV replacement as vehicles may be more range constrained.
Relatively few vehicles cover very high mileages but in absolute terms there is still a significant
proportion of the fleet that may be more operationally challenging to switch to ULEVs. 20% of the
fleet (>2,000 vehicles) average more than 30,000 miles a year.
The Office for National Statistics 2019 Labour Force Survey shows that 82% of taxi drivers work
at least five days per week7.
To assess the operational suitability of each individual vehicle, it has been assumed that vehicles
are used for five days a week and 52 weeks a year. As an example, an annual mileage of 30,000
miles equates to an average daily mileage of 115 miles. As licensing standards are independent of
usage pattern or duty cycle there is a risk that the use of ULEVs could adversely impact a proportion
of the fleet which covers relatively high mileages.
Implementation Recommendation: Ensure that participants selected for vehicle telematics
trials cover an appropriate range of mileages including both low and high mileage users.
Use vehicle telematics trial results to better understand the relationship between annual mileage,
number of days used, average daily mileage and daily mileage for typical taxi vehicle operations.

2.2.3

Estimated Driving Environment

City of Wolverhampton Council provided Cenex with a separate and anonymised list of vehicle
proprietor postcode districts (covering 98% of the fleet with valid postcode formats). This information
has been used to provide context regarding vehicle locations and to inform typical driving
environments, it has been assumed that vehicles operate in or around the vehicle proprietor
postcode district.
Figure 5 shows the number of City of Wolverhampton Council licensed vehicles by postcode district.

7 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/833569/taxi-and-phv-england2019.pdf

Page 32
764-001-01

Page 18 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

Figure 5 - Map of Vehicle Proprietor Postcodes by District

65% of the fleet have vehicle proprietor postcodes in the West Midlands. Wolverhampton
postcode districts only account for 10% of the total number of licensed vehicles. The regional
/ national operation of the fleet will make installation of adequate infrastructure more challenging.

Page 33
764-001-01

Page 19 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
The relative energy consumption of ULEVs compared to internal combustion engine vehicles is
largely determined by the typical driving environment / drive cycle (e.g. vehicle speed vs. time). The
difference in energy consumption when driving is one of the main factors in determining the relative
total cost of ownership (due to differences in running costs) and emissions of different vehicle
technologies. Without vehicle telematics data it is not possible to accurately determine the driving
environment for each individual vehicle. Instead, an average estimated driving environment was
assigned to the entire fleet based on the rural-urban classification of vehicle proprietor
postcode districts8.
Table 6 shows the number of vehicles in each rural-urban classification in order of most urban to
most rural descending.
Table 6 – Rural-Urban Classification from Vehicle Proprietor Postcode

Rural-urban classification

Number of
vehicles

London
Urban with Major Conurbation
Urban with Minor Conurbation
Urban with City and Town
Urban with Significant Rural
Largely Rural
Mainly Rural

246
7,564
474
2,331
340
87
47

94% of vehicles are licensed to a vehicle proprietor located in a predominantly urban local
authority district (urban with major conurbation, with minor conurbation, or with city and town). The
definition of the predominantly urban classification is ≥74% of the population living in urban areas9.
It has been assumed that 75% of miles are driven in urban environments and the remaining
25% are rural / motorway. A more detailed breakdown of rural-urban classification by local authority
distract can be found in Appendix B – Additional Tables and Charts.

2.3 Fuel Economy and Fleet Emissions
Table 7 shows the percentage of each fuel type compared to the 2019 UK passenger car fleet.
Table 7 - Summary of Fuel Types Compared to UK Car Fleet10

Fuel Type
Diesel
Hybrid Electric
Petrol
LPG
Battery Electric
Plug-in Hybrid Electric

Licensed Taxi Vehicles
(City of Wolverhampton Council)

Licensed Cars
(UK, 2019)

64.1%
21.7%
12.8%
0.7%
0.5%
0.1%

39.1%
1.6%
58.5%
0.0%
0.3%
0.4%

Diesel vehicles account for 64% of the vehicles licensed by City of Wolverhampton Council,
this compares to only 39% of all cars licensed in the UK. 100% of the hackney carriage vehicles
are diesel.
Hybrid electric vehicles account for 22% of the fleet and petrol vehicles account for the remaining
13%. For context, Cenex has previously undertaken the same analysis on two large regional taxi
fleets (~9,500 taxi vehicles across 22 local authorities). This analysis showed a share of 92% diesel,
4% petrol and 4% hybrid electric. This suggests a relatively high proportion of hybrid electric
vehicles compared to other local authorities and compared to the wider passenger car
market.

8 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers
9 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/591464/RUCLAD_leaflet_Jan2017.pdf

10 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/veh02-licensed-cars

Page 34
764-001-01

Page 20 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Table 8 shows the number of ULEVs and hybrid electric vehicles for private hire vehicle operators
with more than 100 licensed vehicles each. Operators shown in green already use some ULEVs or
have a higher than average proportion of hybrid electric vehicles (e.g. >22%).
Table 8 - Number of Ultra-Low Emission and Hybrid Electric Vehicles by Private Hire Operator

Private
Hire
Operator

Total
Vehicles

Percentage
of Private
Hire
Vehicles

PHOP94
PHOP279
PHOP194
PHOP140
PHOP91
PHOP126
PHOP200
PHOP44
PHOP210
PHOP179
PHOP206
PHOP178
PHOP220
PHOP141
PHOP134
PHOP54
PHOP128
PHOP168
Total

4,604
712
478
287
256
242
176
157
152
148
147
145
141
130
130
128
124
110
8,267

42.1%
6.5%
4.4%
2.6%
2.3%
2.2%
1.6%
1.4%
1.4%
1.4%
1.3%
1.3%
1.3%
1.2%
1.2%
1.2%
1.1%
1.0%
76%

Battery
Electric
Vehicles

Plug-in
Hybrid
Electric
Vehicles

57

10

1

1

2
-

-

Hybrid
Electric
Vehicles
1,337
73
100
67
97
62
55
20
12
2
21
21
22
20
13
32
16
8
-

Hybrid
Electric
Vehicles as
percentage
of each fleet
29%
10%
21%
23%
38%
26%
31%
13%
8%
15%
1%
14%
15%
10%
15%
25%
13%
7%
-

18 of the 159 private hire vehicle operators (11%) have at least 100 vehicles, collectively these
18 operators account for 8,267 vehicles (75% of the private hire vehicle fleet).
Five operators are already using some ULEVs (PHOP94, 140, 200, 128 and 23511). It is suggested
that City of Wolverhampton Council should engage directly with private hire vehicle operators already
using ULEVs to identify potential opportunities to further increase the uptake of ULEVs.
Two operators are using a higher proportion of hybrid electric vehicles (>30% for PHOP91 and 200).
Petrol hybrid electric vehicles emit lower levels of air quality pollutant emissions relative to diesel
vehicles. In addition, hybrid electric vehicles can reduce greenhouse gas emissions under specific,
but not all, drive cycles. It is suggested that City of Wolverhampton Council should engage with
hybrid electric vehicle proprietors to understand their procurement decision and how this might
impact the uptake of ULEVs.
Implementation Recommendation: Establish appropriate targets for the number of licensed
ULEVs to be introduced by private hire vehicle operators.
Cenex suggest that private hire vehicle operators should be expected to at least match the
percentage of new ULEV registrations in the passenger car market (7.7% of all new vehicle
registrations in 2020 Q3 and 3.0% in 2019 Q312).
As a minimum this could be an optional target discussed during licence applications. Alternatively,
this could be a requirement in private hire vehicle operator conditions of licensing. A more stringent
condition could be the proportion of zero emission miles driven in each period. This would require
evidencing of use as a taxi vehicle and of any zero emission miles driven.
46% of private hire vehicle operators have fewer than 10 vehicles, additional consideration should
be made for smaller operators who may require alternative incentives.
11
12

Not shown, one battery electric vehicle out of seven licensed vehicles.
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/vehicle-licensing-statistics-july-to-september-2020

Page 35
764-001-01

Page 21 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Table 9 shows a summary of the annual mileage and fuel economy by vehicle segment. To simplify
reporting, similar vehicle segments have now been combined (e.g. medium and large MPVs). The
medium van (WAV) category effectively represents the hackney carriage vehicle fleet.
Table 9 - Summary of Annual Mileages and Fuel Economy

Small Car
Medium Car
Large Car
Executive Car
Medium MPV
Midsized SUV
Large 4x4 / SUV
Small Van
Medium Van
Medium Van (WAV)
Large Van*
Total

Average
Annual
Mileage
(miles)
18,700
21,900
22,200
23,000
21,300
20,700
17,800
21,700
30,000
28,400
20,500
22,189

Average Fuel
Consumption
(MPG)

Number of
Vehicles

% of Total
vehicles

46.0
45.2
44.6
44.3
43.4
38.8
30.3
43.6
35.9
35.9
28.9
44.1

164
4,961
3,024
635
1,762
63
4
57
208
166
6
11,070**

1%
45%
27%
6%
16%
1%
0%
1%
2%
1%
0%
100%

* large van derived WAV conversions with a maximum seating capacity of eight passengers.
** Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) vehicles (89 vehicles), known PHEVs (12 vehicles – additional
Toyota Prius vehicles could be PHEV, but these are not identified by the MOT database) and
BEVs (50 vehicles) have been excluded from the fleet emissions baselining.
Fuel economy has been taken from independent, real-world, testing of petrol, diesel and
hybrid vehicles undertaken by Emissions Analytics13 based on a 75% / 25% split of urban and
extra-urban driving. A full list of the fuel economy values used during this report can be found in
Appendix A – Detailed Methodology.
Combustion of fossil fuels used for road transport produces three main greenhouse gas emissions
that contribute directly to climate change. These are CO2, methane (CH4) and nitrous oxide (N2O).
For reporting purposes, greenhouse gas emissions are standardised to CO2 equivalents (CO2e)
based on their global warming potential compared to CO2.
Tank to Wheel (TTW) or Scope 1 emissions represent the amount of CO2 (derived from fossil fuels)
which is released from a vehicle’s tailpipe.
Well to Wheel (WTW) or All Scope emissions are a more complete method of looking at CO2
emissions and represent the amount of CO2 emitted during the fuel's life cycle. This includes the
upstream emissions associated with fuel extraction, processing, transportation, and dispensing, as
well as the emissions from final fuel combustion. The greenhouse gas emissions in the main
body of the report are presented as WTW CO2e.
In addition to greenhouse gas emissions, high temperature combustion of fuels used for road
transport also produces two main air quality pollutant emissions that at high concentrations or
sustained low concentrations contribute directly to several health issues including respiratory and
cardiovascular conditions as well as reduced life expectancy. These are nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and
particulate matter (PM). The National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory provide average speed
related emissions factors for oxides of nitrogen (NOx) and PM for different vehicle types, euro
emissions standards and fuel types. NOx is a collective term that includes NO2 as well as nitric oxide
(NO). Although NO is not considered hazardous to human health it can lead to the formation of NO2,
as such the collective NOx emission factors are still relevant as evidenced by their use in the
Emission Factor Toolkit published by Defra.

13

https://www.emissionsanalytics.com/real-world-test-database

Page 36
764-001-01

Page 22 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Table 10 shows the emissions profile of the fleet in terms of percentage contribution to annual WTW
CO2e, NOx and PM emissions. Absolute emissions values and a more detailed breakdown of the
emission profile can be found in Appendix B – Additional Tables and Charts.
Table 10 – Summary of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Fleet Emissions

Small Car
Medium Car
Large Car
Executive Car
Medium MPV
Midsized SUV
Large 4x4 / SUV
Small Van
Medium Van
Medium Van (WAV)
Large Van
Total

% of Total
Vehicles

% of PM
Emissions

% of NOx
Emissions

1%
45%
27%
6%
16%
1%
0%
1%
2%
1%
0%
100%

2%
34%
32%
5%
17%
0%
0%
0%
2%
8%
0%
1,400 kg

1%
30%
32%
7%
17%
1%
0%
1%
6%
4%
0%
162,000 kg

% of WTW
CO2e
Emissions
1%
42%
28%
6%
16%
1%
0%
1%
4%
2%
0%
78,000 t

Medium cars, large cars and MPVs account for 42%, 28% and 16% of the WTW CO 2e
emissions, respectively. This is proportional to the number of vehicles and a combined total of
86% of fleet WTW CO2e emissions. Medium vans (including WAVs) account for 3% of the
overall fleet but 6% to 10% of the fleet greenhouse gas and air quality pollutant emissions.
Table 11 shows the estimated air quality emissions in Wolverhampton postcode districts. Locally,
medium vans account for an estimated 15% of vehicles (168 / 1,100 vehicles).
Table 11 – Estimated Air Quality Emissions in Wolverhampton by Licence Type

Hackney Carriage Vehicles
Private Hire Vehicles

% of PM Emissions in
Wolverhampton
47%

% of NOx Emissions in
Wolverhampton
31%

53%

69%

The hackney carriage vehicle fleet accounts for 47% of PM emissions and 31% of NOx
emissions in Wolverhampton postcodes.
Table 12 shows the vehicle age and euro emissions standard of each vehicle segment, the
distribution column shows a histogram of vehicle age from less than one year (leftmost column) to
over ten years old (rightmost column).
Table 12 – Vehicle Age and Euro Emissions Standard Profile.

Vehicle Age (years)
Distribution
Small Car
Medium Car
Large Car
Executive Car
Medium MPV
Midsized SUV
Large 4x4 / SUV
Small Van
Medium Van
Medium Van (WAV)
Large Van
Total

Average

Euro 4
or less

Euro 5

Euro 6

7.3
6.7
7.6
5.7
7.3
6.3
5.3
7.3
5.3
10.6
6.2
7.0

8%
8%
10%
3%
9%
0%
0%
0%
3%
56%
0%
9%

68%
58%
66%
47%
66%
59%
50%
84%
46%
36%
67%
61%

24%
34%
24%
50%
25%
41%
50%
16%
50%
8%
33%
30%

Page 37
764-001-01

Engine Euro Standard

Page 23 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Only 30% of the combined fleet meets the latest Euro 6 emissions standard, introduced for all
new car registrations from 1st September 2015. This is reflected in the vehicle age distribution which
suggests that relatively few brand-new vehicles are procured.
The medium van (WAV) vehicle segment, which includes all hackney carriage vehicles, has by far
the lowest level of compliance with the latest emissions standards. 56% of medium vans (WAV)
are Euro 4 or lower with an average vehicle age of ~11 years. These vehicles also have higher
annual mileages, low fuel economy (relative to other vehicles) and poor air quality emissions
standards. These factors result in a disproportionate contribution to fleet emissions compared to the
relatively small number of vehicles, additionally air quality issues might be exacerbated by vehicles
operating from city centre taxi ranks.
Table 13 shows a comparison between a Euro 6 medium car (representative of a private hire vehicle)
and medium van (WAV).
Table 13 – Fuel Economy and Air Quality Emission Comparison between Medium Car and Medium Van

Medium Car
(Euro 6)
50.2

Medium Van (WAV)
(Euro 6)
35.9

Medium Van (WAV)
(Euro 4)
35.9

NOx (g/km)

0.366

0.480

0.762

PM (g/km)

0.002

0.001

0.024

MPG

Medium vans return lower fuel economy compared to medium cars, achieving ~36 mpg compared
to ~50 mpg for a medium car. Additionally, the normalised air quality emissions are higher,
particularly for Euro 4 vehicles. The average annual mileage of the medium van (WAV) segment is
also 6,500 miles higher which further increases the relative emissions per vehicle.

Page 38
764-001-01

Page 24 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

3 Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Technology Options
This section introduces the main ULEV technologies discussed in this report by providing basic
definitions and technology descriptions alongside an initial, high level screening of ULEV
technologies based on current UK vehicle availability and supplier / market maturity. A summary of
current and near-term vehicle availability is also presented alongside example vehicle model
specifications. The purpose of this information is to enable City of Wolverhampton Council to have
informed discussions with the trade regarding potential replacement vehicle technologies.

3.1 Zero Tailpipe Emission Vehicle Technologies
A zero-tailpipe emission vehicle or ZEV is a vehicle which does not emit greenhouse gas or
air quality pollutant emissions from the vehicle exhaust / tailpipe. ZEVs do not have an internal
combustion engine and instead are driven by an electric motor which is powered by electricity
generated by a battery and / or a hydrogen fuel cell which both convert stored chemical energy into
electrical energy.
Table 14 provides a description of ZEV technologies.
Table 14 - Zero Emission Vehicle Technologies

Technology

Example

Battery Electric
Vehicle
(BEV)
Fuel Cell Range
Extended
Electric Vehicle
(FC REEV)

Fuel Cell
Electric Vehicle
(FCEV)

Description
A BEV stores energy in a battery and delivers its power
to the wheels through an electric motor. The motor can
also act as a generator to recover energy normally lost
when decelerating (known as regenerative braking).
A BEV which also has an onboard hydrogen fuel cell to
recharge the battery on the go. The wheels are always
powered by the electric motor. The battery can also be
recharged by plugging the vehicle into a mains power
source. At the time of writing, FC REEVs are not
available in the UK.
Compressed hydrogen can be used to power an electric
motor by generating electricity through a fuel cell. A
small battery is often used for peak power requirements
and for regenerative braking only. Hydrogen is taking its
first steps to becoming commercially available as a road
transport fuel in the UK.

3.2 Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Technologies
An ULEV is currently defined as any car or van that emits less than 75 g/km of CO2 from the
tailpipe. All ZEVs are guaranteed to meet this definition, additionally technologies that incorporate
an internal combustion engine and electric motor can also meet this definition depending on the
proportion of zero emission miles. Due to advances in technology, it is expected that from 2021 an
ULEV will be defined as a car or van that emits less than 50 g/km with a minimum required zero
emission range.
To be eligible for the plug-in grant14, an ULEV must have CO2 emissions of less than 50 g/km
and can travel 70 miles with zero tailpipe emissions. This grant offers up to £3,000 off the price
of a brand-new car and up to £7,500 off the price of a brand-new purpose-built taxi.
Table 15 provides a description of additional technologies that meet the current definition of an
ULEV, these include range extended and plug-in hybrid electric vehicles which incorporate an
internal combustion engine.

14

https://www.gov.uk/plug-in-car-van-grants

Page 39
764-001-01

Page 25 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Table 15 - Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Technologies

Technology

Example

Description
A BEV which also has an onboard generator (powered
by an internal combustion engine) to recharge the
battery on the go. The wheels are always powered by
the electric motor. The battery can also be recharged
by plugging the vehicle into a mains power source.
A PHEV has an internal combustion engine as well as
a battery and electric motor. The wheels can be driven
by either the combustion engine or the electric motor.
The battery can be recharged by plugging the vehicle
into a mains power source.

Range
Extended
Electric Vehicle
(REEV)
Plug-in Hybrid
Electric Vehicle
(PHEV)

3.3 Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Technology Screening
Cenex has undertaken a high-level assessment of ULEV options to highlight technologies that have
the potential to deliver emissions savings across entire vehicle segments at an equivalent, or lower,
total cost of ownership based on current UK availability and supplier maturity.
Table 16 and Table 17 show the ULEV technology screening criteria and associated results. All
green technologies have been taken forward for a detailed suitability assessment.
Table 16 – Ultra-Low Emission Technology Screening Criteria

Green

High market maturity.

Amber

Low market maturity – known to be uneconomical, inadequate infrastructure.

Red

Not demonstrated or not available in the UK.
Table 17 - Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Technology Screening

Vehicle
Type

Vehicle Segment
(Rank of WTW CO2e
Emissions Contribution)

PHEV

REEV

BEV

Medium (1)
Cars

Hyundai Nexo

Large (2)

Toyota Mirai

Executive (5)
MPV (3)
Van Derived
Vehicles (4)
*

**

FCEV

SUVs only
*

Nissan only
Ford
only

Medium Passenger Van
WAV

LEVC only

Dynamo only**

The only PHEVs available are the BMW 225xe and Mercedes-Benz B250e, both of which are
premium models with a maximum of five seats. They are therefore unlikely to be suitable
replacements for current vehicle models.
Although there are numerous battery electric small and medium vans available (from Peugeot /
Citroen / Vauxhall, Nissan, and Renault) there are few examples of type approved wheelchair
conversions for these vehicles (see Brotherwood and Vic Young).

BEVs are available in all segments although in the MPV and medium van (WAV) segments there is
currently only one model available. REEVs are available in the medium van segment only and
PHEVs are available as potential replacements in the medium, large and executive car segments.
Hydrogen FCEVs are available from Hyundai and Toyota in the medium and large car segments.
FCEVs are currently uneconomical (due to the cost of vehicles and hydrogen fuel),
additionally there is also a lack of viable hydrogen refuelling stations. The relative performance
of FCEVs can be found in Appendix B – Additional Tables and Charts.

Page 40
764-001-01

Page 26 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
To date, most deployments of FCEVs and hydrogen refuelling stations have been undertaken
as part of publicly funded research and development projects.
As an example, as part of the Fuel Cells and Hydrogen Joint Undertaking funded Zero Emission
Fleet Vehicles for European Rollout (or ZEFER) project, Green Tomato Cars has deployed 50 Toyota
Mirai FCEVs as private hire vehicles in London15.

3.3.1

Examples of Available Vehicle Models and Specifications

Cenex has reviewed available ULEV models and highlighted those which may be alternatives for
popular taxi vehicle models. The vehicles are categorised into the relevant vehicle segments
excluding minicars, small cars, luxury cars and sports cars as well as models costing more than
£65,000 after the plug-in grant. SUVs have been included in the medium to executive car segments
as many of the newly released ULEVs have a crossover SUV body style.
Figure 6 shows the estimated number of ULEV models available in the UK in 2020 (correct at the
time of writing).
Medium Car
Large Car
BEV
Executive Car
BEV (due in 2020)
Medium MPV
PHEV / REEV
Medium Van

PHEV / REEV
(due in 2020)

Hackney Carriage
0

5

10

15

20

25

Number of vehicle models (excluding variants of the same model)
Figure 6 – Estimate Number of ULEV Models, UK 2020

Cenex estimate that by the end of 2020 there are at least 50 ULEV models available to
purchase in the UK that could potentially be used as taxi vehicles. This excludes variants of the
same model with different battery capacities. Except for the large and executive car segments, there
is an approximately equal split between BEVs and PHEVs. A full list of the vehicle models included
in this table can be found in Appendix B – Additional Tables and Charts.
The number of available ULEV models is also expected to increase by 89% before 202516.
Table 18 shows example vehicle specifications for relevant models, this is for information only and
is representative of currently available ULEVs. Prices include VAT and the plug-in grant where
applicable (£3,000 for BEVs and £7,500 for purpose-built hackney carriage vehicles).

15
16

https://zefer.eu/
https://www.transportenvironment.org/publications/electric-surge-carmakers-electric-car-plans-across-europe-2019-2025

Page 41
764-001-01

Page 27 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Table 18 – Example ULEV Specifications

Vehicle
Segment

Medium
Car

Large
Car

Executive
Car

Medium
MPV

ULEV
Type

BEV

42,000

Example Model
(battery/engine capacity)

Price

Electric
Only
Range
(miles)

Standard Rapid
Charge Charge
Time
Time
(7 kW)
(max)

Nissan Leaf
(40 kWh)

£26,345

168

7h 30m

1h 00m

Hyundai Kona
(64 kWh)

£32,845

279

9h 35m

1h 15m

PHEV

16,000

Toyota Prius PHEV
(1.8L petrol, 8.8 kWh)

£31,695

23

2h 00m

NA

BEV

16,000

Tesla Model 3 Standard
(55 kWh)

£38,900

258

8h 00m

30m

PHEV

24,000

Volkswagen Passat GTE
(1.4L petrol, 13 kWh)

~£36,000

~34

~2h 00m

NA

BEV

16,000

Jaguar I-Pace
(90kWh)

£60,995

292

13h 00m

1h 30m

PHEV

17,000

Mercedes-Benz E-Class
(2L petrol/diesel, 13.5 kWh)

£47,700

31

1h 15m

NA

BEV

500

Nissan eNV200
(40 kWh)

£29,255

124

7h 30m

45m

PHEV

5,000

BMW 225xe
(1.5L petrol, 7.6 kWh)

£35,125

22

2h 00m

NA

~£46,000

143

~7h 30m

30m

Ford Tourneo Custom
PHEV
(1.0L petrol, 13.6 kWh)

£48,500

33

2h 00m

NA

Dynamo Nissan eNV200
(40 kWh)

£45,500

124

7h 30m

45m

LEVC TX
(1.5L petrol, 31 kWh)

£55,599

62

3h 45m

30m

BEV
Medium
Van
(8-seater) REEV

Hackney
Carriage
Vehicle

Licensed
vehicles
in the UK

10

BEV

-

REEV

4,000

Peugeot e-Traveller
(50kWh)

There are several website databases available that could be used by vehicle proprietors to review
and compare the specifications of potential ULEVs. Notable examples include Electric Vehicle
Database17, Go Ultra Low18 (select suppliers only) and Next Green Car19. Current conditions of
licensing and a lack of awareness of approved vehicles are potential barriers to the adoption of ULEV
taxi vehicles.
Implementation Recommendation: Publish and maintain a provisional list of approved
ULEV hackney carriage and private hire vehicles.
Review the technical specifications of all currently available ULEVs (including those not currently
licensed as taxi vehicles), review and revise vehicle conditions of licensing to maximise the
availability of suitable ULEVs (window tints, minimum engine capacity, internal dimensions, body
style etc.), develop and publish a provisional list of approved ULEVs, update to approved status
as vehicles are presented for licensing for the first time, promote to trade as new vehicles are
approved.

17

https://ev-database.uk/
https://www.goultralow.com/car-selector/
19
https://www.nextgreencar.com/new-car-search/
18

Page 42
764-001-01

Page 28 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

4 Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Performance Reviews
This section shows the relative performance of ULEVs that have been selected for further analysis
during the technology screening process. Cenex uses an in-house spreadsheet model to provide a
detailed breakdown of the estimated real-world operating range, TCO and emissions of each ULEV
technology compared to the outright purchase of a brand-new Euro 6 vehicle.
The ‘Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Performance Reviews’ reported in this section are based on the
average vehicle for each segment as calculated during the fleet baselining and are reported for
selected vehicle segments only. Conversely, the ‘Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Technology Suitability’
reported in Section 5 includes an assessment of each individual vehicle. In both cases, the following
parameters are used as the main inputs to the spreadsheet model:
• Annual mileage from MOT records with vehicles used for five days per week
• Fuel economy from Emissions Analytics independent test data, driving environment of 75%
urban / 25% rural20
• Ownership period = 10 years (hackney carriage vehicles) and 7 years (private hire vehicles).
• Diesel = £1.23 / litre, Petrol = £1.18 / litre (average fuel prices for last 12 months, AA)
• Electricity = £0.17 / kWh (average domestic price for 2019, UK Government)
Table 19 summarises the key assumptions held within the calculation engine of the spreadsheet
model. A table of references can also be found in Appendix C – Fleet Review References.
Table 19 - Key Modelling Assumptions

Assumption

Description
The electric only range stated is based on the estimated vehicle fuel / energy
Estimated real- consumption assuming one charge per day. Actual operating range on any given
world operating day will vary by driving style, payload (passengers and luggage), use of air
range
conditioning / cabin heating or other external factors (e.g. ambient temperature).
Actual electric only range can vary by up to 50% based on these variables.
Where possible predicted residual values are based on independent data. Despite
Predicted
this, predicted residual values are uncertain and vary significantly based on market
residual values factors such as supply vs. demand and policy measures. Additionally, they are
forecast over the life of the vehicle.
Infrastructure
Ultra-low emission vehicle infrastructure costs are not included in the model.
costs

Table 20 shows the annual mileage and emissions contribution for the six vehicle segments that
have been assessed. Results are reported by vehicle segment in order of WTW CO2e emissions
contribution descending. Detailed results are shown for the medium car and medium van (WAV)
segments, all remaining segments are summarised separately.
Table 20 – Scope of Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Performance Reviews

Medium Car
Large Car
Medium MPV
Executive Car
Medium Van
Medium Van (WAV)

Average
annual
mileage
(miles)
21,900
22,200
21,300
23,000
30,000
28,400

Average daily
mileage
(miles)

% of total
vehicles

% of total
WTW CO2e
emissions

84
85
82
88
115
108

45%
27%
16%
6%
2%
1%

42%
28%
16%
6%
4%
2%

All costs include VAT (relevant to most owner drivers who are typically not VAT registered).
Performance reviews are presented over two pages with charts for operating range, TCO and
emissions followed by a summary of the key findings of each technology. Positive values represent
savings to a new Euro 6 vehicle.
20

Results for a mostly rural scenario (25% urban, 75% rural / motorway) can be found in Appendix B – Additional Tables and Charts

Page 43
764-001-01

Page 29 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
4.1 Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Performance Review – Medium Car
Figure 7 to Figure 9 show the relative performance of ULEV technologies for medium cars.

Figure 7 – Operating Range; Medium Car

Figure 8 - Total Cost of Ownership; Medium Car

On the average day, 77% of miles
would be driven using the petrol
engine. This results in increased fuel
costs and WTW CO2e emissions
compared to a diesel vehicle.

Figure 9 – CO2e Emissions Savings vs. Cost savings; Medium Car

Page 44
764-001-01

Page 30 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
BEV
Criteria

Performance

Operational

• Estimated real-world range of 131 miles (40 kWh battery) results in 64% of
the battery capacity being used on the average day.
• 7kW AC on-board charger as standard = 8h charging time at 7kW+ chargepoint.
• 1 hour to DC charge to 80% capacity using a 50 kW rapid charger.
• 62 kWh battery variants available for higher mileage vehicles.

TCO

• £7,000 increase in purchase cost (including £3,000 plug-in grant)
• Purchase cost of £30,000 including the plug-in grant and an expected residual
value of £5,000 after 7 years ownership. The residual values are competitive
compared to the diesel vehicle but still result in a depreciation cost increase
of £5,500.
• Running cost savings of £12,000 through reduced fuel and maintenance
costs.
• TCO reduction of £5,000 (12% saving). Plug-in grant is not required to
achieve TCO parity with diesel but instead reduces the amount of capital
funding required.

Emissions

• Zero tailpipe emissions.
• 71% reduction in WTW CO2e emissions based on the current UK grid energy
mix. This will reduce further as the UK grid decarbonises.

PHEV
Criteria

Performance

Operational

• Estimated real-world electric only range of 19 miles (12 kWh battery) results in
100% of the battery capacity being used on the average day. 77% of average
daily mileage would be completed using petrol engine.
• 7kW AC on-board charger as standard = 2h charging time at 7kW+ chargepoint.
• Most PHEVs cannot DC rapid charge currently.

TCO

• Purchase cost increase of £10,000 leads to a depreciation cost increase of
£7,000. PHEV cars do not receive the plug-in grant as they do not meet the
emissions eligibility criteria.
• Fuel costs increase as the vehicle drives 77% of its mileage powered by
petrol. A petrol engine is less efficient than an equivalent diesel engine and so
it consumes more fuel which increases costs if driven extensively with the
internal combustion engine.
• TCO increase of £11,000 (25% increase).

Emissions

• Zero tailpipe emissions when in electric only mode.
• Due to sustained use of the petrol engine, the PHEV makes a small reduction in
TTW CO2 but makes a 9% increase in WTW CO2e.
• 94% reduction in NOx emissions compared to a Euro 6 diesel vehicle.

Page 45
764-001-01

Page 31 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
4.2 Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Performance Review – Medium Van (WAV)
Figure 10 to Figure 12 show the performance of ULEVs for wheelchair accessible medium vans.

Average
daily
mileage
exceeds
the
real-world
operating range by 1 mile
(with no safety margin). On
average, BEV must be
charged twice per day.

Figure 10 – Operating Range; Medium Van (WAV)

Figure 11 - Total Cost of Ownership; Medium Van (WAV)

4% increase in TCO (despite
running cost savings). REEVs
require additional funding and / or
must be charged twice per day.

Figure 12 - CO2e Emissions Savings vs. Cost Savings; Medium Van (WAV)

Page 46
764-001-01

Page 32 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
BEV (OEM)
Criteria

Performance

Operational

• Estimated real-world range of 110 miles (40 kWh battery) results in >100%
of the battery capacity being used on the average day.
• The average daily mileage is equal to the range of the vehicle and so it is
expected that on over half of the days of operation the vehicle would have to be
recharged during the shift.
• 7kW AC on-board charger as standard = 8h charging time at 7kW+ chargepoint.
• 1 hour to DC charge to 80% capacity using a 50 kW rapid charger.

TCO

• Purchase cost increase of £10,000.
• Running cost savings of £30,000 through reduced fuel and maintenance costs
over the ten-year ownership.
• TCO reduction of £23,000 (24% saving).

Emissions

• Zero tailpipe emissions.
• 75% reduction in WTW CO2e emissions based on the current UK grid energy
mix. This will reduce further as the UK grid decarbonises.

REEV
Criteria

Performance

Operational

• Estimated real-world electric only range of 62 miles (32 kWh battery) results
in 100% of the battery capacity being used on the average day.
• Once the battery capacity has run out, the REEV can use the petrol engine
to complete the daily mileage.
• 22kW AC on-board charger as standard = 1h charging time at 22kW
chargepoint. This will be longer at a lower power chargepoint.
• 30 minutes to DC charge to 80% capacity using a 50 kW rapid charger.

TCO

• Purchase cost increase of £20,000 leads to a depreciation cost increase of
£15,500.
• Running cost savings of £10,000 through reduced fuel and maintenance costs
over the ten-year ownership.
• TCO increase of £5,000 (4% increase). Charging the vehicle during the shift
would reduce this TCO increase.

Emissions

• Zero tailpipe emissions when in electric only mode.
• 37% reduction in WTW CO2e emissions based on the current UK grid energy
mix. This can be reduced further by charging twice per day.
• 94% reduction in NOx emissions compared to a Euro 6 diesel vehicle.

The impact of two battery charges on both the BEV and the REEV can be found in Appendix B –
Additional Tables and Charts. This analysis provides the following conclusions:
•

•

•

If charged twice per day, BEVs and REEVs can both complete the average daily mileage
using electricity only. The REEV maintains an additional ~250 mile range from the petrol
range extender.
REEVs make a 2% TCO saving due to a substantial increase in electric running. The
electricity cost in this assessment was at a home charging cost and the impact of higher cost
public charging was not assessed.
Due to running on electric power only, the REEV increases its WTW CO2e savings from
37% to 66%.

Several of the measures and recommendations discussed in Section 6.4 are focused on addressing
the three main challenges associated with the wheelchair accessible hackney carriage vehicle
segment (operating range for BEVs, total cost of ownership for REEVs and a lack of alternative
vehicle / technology options).

Page 47
764-001-01

Page 33 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Strategy Recommendation: Clearly define and document minimum emissions standards in
vehicle age and emissions policy documents (particularly for ULEVs).
Cenex suggest that at the point of introduction of ULEVs for newly licensed vehicles, City of
Wolverhampton Council should adopt the most recent plug-in grant emissions eligibility criteria
(currently defined as ‘CO2 emissions of less than 50 g/km and can travel at least 70 miles
without any emissions at all’). Based on current vehicle capabilities, this would exclude PHEVs.
Consideration should also be paid to the following:
• The impact of the introduction of new emissions standards (e.g. Euro 7) or the revision of
current ULEV definitions. In this case, City of Wolverhampton Council should provide
provisional definitions for future vehicle age and emissions policy changes.
• Providing the trade with a clear roadmap, and robust transition process, from current
internal combustion engine only vehicles (of differing euro standards) to ZEVs.
• The ongoing impact of plug-in grant eligibility on any required financial support measures.

4.3 Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Performance Review – Other Vehicle Segments
Table 21 details the key differences in the performance reviews of the remaining vehicle segments
compared to the medium car and medium van (WAV) segments previously reported.
Table 21 – Summary of Remaining Vehicle Segments (compared to Medium Car and Medium Van (WAV))

Segment

Large Car

Medium MPV

Executive Car

Medium Van
(8-seater)

Differences to Medium Car and Medium Van performance
• Only one BEV is currently available (Tesla Model 3).
• This vehicle has increased range compared to the medium car and only uses
44% of the 55 kWh battery capacity to complete the average daily mileage.
• Maintenance costs are higher than equivalent medium cars.
• Operationally suitable with WTW CO2e emission savings of 75% and
TCO savings of £3,000.
•
•
•
•

Only one BEV is currently available (Nissan eNV200).
The average daily mileage uses 75% of the battery capacity.
No PHEVs are available in this segment.
Operationally challenging with WTW CO2e emission savings of 70% and
TCO savings of £7,000.

• Only premium SUV BEVs are currently available.
• These vehicles have a high purchase cost and do not receive the plug-in
grant as they cost over £50,000. The depreciation costs are also significantly
higher as a result.
• Fuel cost savings are less than other BEVs as the large SUV form factor is
less efficient than a saloon vehicle.
• Operationally suitable with WTW CO2e emissions savings of 60% but a
TCO increase of £6,000.
•
•
•
•

BEVs are at the range limit to complete the average daily mileage.
Only one REEV is available (Ford Tourneo Custom PHEV).
The vehicle is relatively expensive as it does not receive the plug-in grant.
The battery is much smaller than the equivalent REEV and the vehicle
completes over 70% of its miles on petrol power. As such fuel costs increase
from the diesel comparator.
• Not operationally suitable but 71% WTW CO2e emission savings and
TCO saving of £10,000.

Page 48
764-001-01

Page 34 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

5 Overall Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Technology Suitability
In this section the suitability of ULEV technologies has been assessed for each individual
vehicle on the fleet. The purpose of this assessment is to highlight the overall opportunity for each
technology to replace diesel / petrol vehicles within each vehicle segment and therefore across the
entire fleet. This analysis uses the same approach described during the ‘Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle
Performance Reviews’ but individual vehicle input parameters are used instead of the vehicle
segment averages. The following ‘suitability criteria’ have been applied to individual vehicles for all
assessed ULEV technologies:
•

Operating range suitability criteria (driver criteria) – ULEVs must be able to complete the
average daily mileage on less than one full charge or tank with at least 20 miles range
remaining (including any secondary fuels).
o

•

Greenhouse gas emissions suitability criteria (local authority criteria) – ULEVs must provide
WTW CO2e emissions savings on less than one full charge per day.
o

•

It has been assumed that all vehicles with have access to adequate infrastructure to
charge vehicles between shifts and that drivers will be unwilling to routinely charge
their vehicle during shifts.

Use of vehicles that cannot guarantee a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions
(particularly PHEVs) represents a significant risk to the environmental aspirations of
City of Wolverhampton Council.

Total cost of ownership suitability criteria (vehicle proprietor criteria) – ULEVs must provide
TCO savings on less than one full charge per day.
o

It has been assumed that vehicle proprietors will not accept any increase in TCO
regardless of potential emissions savings.

The purpose of this assessment is to provide a quantitative assessment of the overall ULEV
suitability based on current vehicle availability and performance, this provides a measure for the
feasibility of any proposed vehicle age and emissions policy changes. Results are presented in four
tables, one for the introduction of each of the suitability criteria (where % suitability reduces with the
introduction of each criteria) followed by a summary table. A green, yellow, red colour scale has
been applied across all tables where green represents a suitability of 100% and red represents a
suitability of 0%.
Table 22 shows the percentage of vehicles that meet the operating range suitability criteria by vehicle
segment. This is the most important criteria for drivers as first and foremost ULEVs must be able to
complete the required daily duties. BEVs are categorised as BEV (S) for standard battery capacities
and BEV (L) for large battery capacities.
Table 22 - Operating Range Suitability

% of vehicle segment

Medium Car
Large Car
Medium MPV
Executive Car
Medium Van
Medium Van (WAV)
Total Fleet

BEV (S)
71%
95%
61%
89%
46%
40%
76%

BEV (L)
96%
99%
NA
NA
NA
NA
72%

PHEV / REEV
100%
100%
NA
100%
100%
100%
84%

This shows that 76% of the fleet could complete the average daily mileages on less than one
charge if using BEV (S). This increases to 89% when including large battery variants of medium
and large cars (72% of the fleet has a suitable large battery variant). Crucially only 40% to 60% of
the medium vans and MPVs meet the operating range suitability criteria. The operating range
of REEVs and PHEVs is inherently suitable due to the ability to operate using the internal combustion
engine once the battery is depleted.

Page 49
764-001-01

Page 35 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Table 23 shows the percentage of vehicles that meet the greenhouse gas emissions suitability
criteria in addition to the operating range criteria.
Table 23 - Operating Range and Greenhouse Gas Emissions Suitability

BEV (S)
BEV (L)
PHEV / REEV
Medium Car
71%
96%
27%
Large Car
95%
99%
50%
Medium MPV
61%
NA
NA
Executive Car
89%
NA
62%
Medium Van
46%
NA
49%
Medium Van (WAV)
40%
NA
100%
Total Fleet
76%
72%
32%
The number of suitable BEVs and REEVs remains unchanged but the total percentage of PHEVs
reduces significantly. Only 32% of the fleet would provide WTW CO2e emissions savings if
using PHEV / REEVs. This is due to relatively low electric only range of most PHEVs (30 miles
maximum) and the relatively high average daily mileage of the fleet (85 miles).
% of vehicle segment

Table 24 shows the percentage of vehicles that meet all suitability criteria including the total cost of
ownership suitability criteria. This represents a realistic best-case scenario for the uptake of ULEVs
based on current vehicle capabilities and economics.
Table 24 - Operating Range, Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Total Cost of Ownership Suitability

BEV (S)
BEV (L)
PHEV / REEV
Medium Car
49%
34%
0%
Large Car
79%
29%
0%
Medium MPV
37%
NA
NA
Executive Car
1%
NA
0%
Medium Van
32%
NA
0%
Medium Van (WAV)
38%
NA
0%
Total Fleet
52%
24%
0%
Assessed individually and without financial incentives, 52% of the fleet could provide TCO savings
for BEV (S), 24% for BEV (L) and 0% for PHEV / REEV. The introduction of the TCO suitability
criteria has had the largest impact on REEV medium vans (WAV), reducing from 100% to 0%, and
BEV executive cars, reducing from 89% to 1%.
% of vehicle segment

Finally, Table 25 shows the most suitable ULEV technology for each individual vehicle. In each case
the ULEV technology that meets all suitability criteria and provides the largest TCO savings has
been selected. This rationalises the BEVs by selecting the most appropriate battery capacity.
Table 25 - ULEV Technology Selection

% of vehicle segment

BEV (S)

BEV (L)

ULEV Suitable

Medium Car
Large Car
Medium MPV
Executive Car
Medium Van
Medium Van (WAV)
Total Fleet

49%
79%
37%
1%
32%
39%
52%

23%
4%
12%

72%
83%
37%
1%
32%
39%
64%

ULEV Not
Suitable
28%
17%
63%
99%
68%
61%
36%

The overall suitability assessment shows that 64% of the fleet is currently suitable for
replacement by a BEV with an appropriately sized battery, 70 to 80% of the medium and large
cars meet the suitability criteria and represent the best opportunities for early adoption of ULEVs. A
fleet with the composition shown above would provide a 48% reduction in annual WTW CO2e
emissions and a 90% reduction in NOx emissions (if the remaining 36% of the fleet is Euro 6).
At least 60% of the MPVs, executive cars and medium vans are not currently suitable for replacement
by ULEV. These vehicle segments account for ~30% of the fleet greenhouse gas emissions.

Page 50
764-001-01

Page 36 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
5.1.1

Impact of Average Daily Mileage and Annual Mileage on Suitability

To better understand the results of the ‘Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Technology Suitability’
assessment, TCO savings have been plotted against calculated average daily mileage for
representative vehicle segments and ULEV technologies. As all vehicles have been assigned the
same driving environment, ownership period and fuel economy (within each vehicle segment) the
suitability is determined by the average daily mileage and annual mileage, these values are directly
related as all vehicles have been assumed to be used for 260 days a year (5 days a week).
Figure 13 and Figure 14 show the TCO savings against the average daily mileage for the medium
car and medium van (WAV) segments, respectively. The area of the line highlighted in bold with a
green text box represents vehicles which meet the operating range and TCO suitability criteria.

29%

4%
49%

34%
BEV (S)
BEV (L)

22%

62%

PHEV

Figure 13 - Total Cost of Ownership Savings vs. Average Daily Mileage; Medium Car

60%

32%

BEV (S)
REEV

8%

Figure 14 - Total Cost of Ownership Savings vs. Average Daily Mileage; Medium Van (WAV)

Page 51
764-001-01

Page 37 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
The mileage sensitivity analysis provides the following insight:
•

•

•

BEVs have a minimum annual mileage that is required to achieve TCO parity. Above these
annual mileages BEVs provide increasing TCO savings up to a maximum of 20% to 30%.
o

These minimum mileages are ~6,500 miles / ~25 miles a day for medium vans (WAV),
9,000 miles / ~35 miles a day for BEV (S) medium cars and 22,000 miles / 85 miles
a day for BEV (L) medium cars.

o

Vehicles below these thresholds account for 8%, 22% and 62% of the relevant vehicle
segments, respectively.

Without relying heavily on public charging infrastructure, BEVs have a maximum daily
mileage limit.
o

These maximum mileages are ~100 miles for medium vans (WAV), ~110 miles for
BEV (S) medium cars and ~180 miles for BEV (L) medium cars.

o

Vehicles above these thresholds account for 60%, 29% and 4% of the relevant
segments, respectively.

When operating in electric only mode, REEVs and PHEVs follow the same trends as BEVs
(increasing running cost savings with increasing daily and annual mileages). Beyond this
mileage both vehicles are primarily powered by an internal combustion engine, at this point
TCO savings are minimised.
o

PHEV medium cars provide the smallest difference in TCO to a Euro 6 diesel vehicle
at ~6,500 miles / 25 miles a day. Even at this point there is a TCO increase of 20%.

o

REEV medium vans (WAV) have a larger, 31 kWh battery, and can achieve ~60 miles
of electric only range. At this point the TCO increase is 5%. If charged once per day
only this point represents the most economic mileage (15,600 miles a year).

Figure 15 provides a detailed breakdown of the suitability of BEVs with standard battery capacities,
this example is intended to highlight the different constraints that can apply across vehicle segments
using the same ULEV technology. Green bars represent the percentage of vehicles that meet the
operating range and TCO suitability criteria (all BEVs inherently provide CO2 emissions savings),
amber bars represent vehicles which provide an increase in TCO (require additional funding in the
short term but could be suitable as costs reduce in the future) and red bars represent vehicles which
need more than one charge per day (require a larger battery, could be suitable if charged during
shifts, or require future ULEV technologies such as next generation BEVs or even FCEVs).
Large battery variants available
- reduces range limitation.

Figure 15 - Detailed Breakdown of BEV Suitability by Vehicle Segment (Standard Battery Capacity)

Page 52
764-001-01

Page 38 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
This highlights the relative challenges in each vehicle segment as follows:
•
•
•

BEVs with 40-50 kWh batteries currently do not provide adequate operating range for
most MPVs, Medium Vans and Medium Vans (WAV). These vehicles are essential for
carrying larger numbers of passengers and wheelchair users.
BEV executive cars are currently only available as premium SUVs with a large purchase
cost premium (~£25k). ~90% of the executive car fleet do not meet the TCO suitability criteria.
In most vehicle segments, BEVs could increase the TCO for up to 20% of the lowest
mileage vehicles. These vehicles do not provide adequate opportunity for running cost
savings to offset the increased purchase cost.

Strategy Recommendation: Ensure that the introduction of ULEV as the minimum
emissions standard is conditional on the availability of an appropriate number of suitable
vehicle models, and technologies, to cover all essential services.
Undertake a periodic and quantifiable review of ULEV suitability including a formal review
6-12 months before the planned introduction of new vehicle emissions policies.
Cenex suggest that at least three suitable models should be available to fulfil each essential
service and that like for like vehicle replacement should be considered as desirable only.
Suitability could be as simple as meeting the preferred definition of an ULEV or being eligible for
the plug-in grant (or similar). Alternatively, City of Wolverhampton Council could determine
additional conditions such as maximum purchase costs, minimum electric only ranges (official or
independently verified through real-world testing) or a more thorough vehicle approval / first time
inspection process. The required level of suitability should reflect the percentage of the fleet that
is expected to be an ULEV at any given time.

Page 53
764-001-01

Page 39 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

6 Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Emissions Policy and Measures
Review
This section provides a recommendation for an ULEV focused vehicle emissions policy supported
by a summary of the measures available to City of Wolverhampton Council to accelerate the
transition to ULEVs. To understand the feasibility of these recommendations, Cenex has undertaken
desk-based research into vehicle licensing policy best practice alongside interviews with other local
authorities and WAV suppliers / convertors.

6.1 Licensing Policy Scenarios
To understand the potential impact of the introduction of an ULEV emissions policy, Cenex has
developed three licensing scenarios based on the operational suitability of currently available ULEVs
and vehicle emissions policy best practice research, as reported in Section 6.3.
The analysis reported in this section uses an in-house taxi licensing and replacement model which
is used to calculate the number of replacement vehicles, capital and revenue costs, and emissions
based on different scenarios for the introduction of ULEV as the minimum emissions standard.
The modelling period is 2020 to 2035 but the introduction of ULEV as a minimum emissions
standard has been modelled from 2023 to 2030 using the current maximum vehicle age limits.
This reflects the minimum timescale for the introduction of new policies and the aspirations of City
of Wolverhampton Council. The modelling only adds vehicles at the minimum emission standards
and as such does not reflect the likely natural increase in ULEVs that the UK market will experience
in the modelling period. Three licensing scenarios have been modelled as described below.
1. Baseline – new vehicles are required to meet the latest euro emissions standards (Euro 6)
followed by the UK Government proposal for ending the sale of new diesel, petrol and hybrid
passenger vehicles in 2030.
2. Improved – all vehicles are required to meet the latest euro emissions standards (Euro 6),
followed by the phased introduction of ULEV as the minimum emissions standard from 2025
(new vehicles) to 2030 (all vehicles). Typical policy used to achieve short term compliance
with clean air zone requirements.
3. Aspirational – removal of the interim regulatory requirement for improved euro emissions
standards (Euro 6) in favour of an early phased introduction of ULEV as the minimum
emissions standard from 2023 (new vehicles) to 2028 (all vehicles). Considered best practice
for achieving long term reductions in greenhouse gas and air quality pollutant emissions.
Figure 16 shows the minimum emissions standard and date of introduction for new vehicles and all
vehicles in each scenario.
Scenario

2023

2024

Baseline
Improved
Aspirational

2025

2026

2027

2028

2029

Euro 6 (New)
Euro 6 (All)

ULEV (New)
ULEV (New)

2030
ULEV
(New)
ULEV
(All)

ULEV (All)

Figure 16 - Minimum Emissions Standard by Licensing Scenario

For modelling purposes, ‘New Vehicles’ refers to a vehicle that is introduced to the fleet to
replace an existing licensed vehicle that has reached the maximum age limit. In practice, this
standard should also apply to newly licensed vehicles that do not replace a vehicle on an existing
licence (e.g. a vehicle licence application from a new vehicle proprietor). To simplify the analysis,
the number of licensed vehicles has been assumed to be fixed over the modelling period. ‘All
Vehicles’ provides an additional requirement for vehicles to meet the minimum emissions standard
at the point of renewing a vehicle licence.

Page 54
764-001-01

Page 40 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
The following assumptions have been applied across all licensing scenarios:
•

Maximum vehicle age limit of 16 years for hackney carriage vehicles and 12 years for private
hire vehicles, once a vehicle reaches the maximum age limit it is replaced by the specified
minimum emissions standard. The introduction of new emissions standards for all vehicles
results in vehicle replacement regardless of current vehicle age.

•

Replacement vehicles are brand-new, and vehicles are replaced on a like for like basis (same
vehicle type and fuel unless replaced by an ULEV). This is for modelling purposes only,
Cenex advocate licensing used ULEVs that meet the licensing criteria.

•

Any vehicle replaced before 2023 is assumed to meet Euro 6 emissions standards.

•

Dates of introduction and minimum emissions standards are the same for hackney carriage
and private hire vehicles.

•

Replacement ULEV technologies have been determined by operating range and average
daily mileage only. TCO and WTW CO2e emissions savings criteria have not been applied.
o

All high market maturity ULEV technologies have been included in the modelling
including BEV, REEV and PHEVs. This represents a scenario based on the minimum
definition of an ULEV (less than 75 g/km of CO2 from the tailpipe). As previously
discussed, Cenex strongly recommend defining a more stringent ULEV definition.

o

ULEVs have been assessed against the operating range suitability criteria (vehicle
must be able to complete the average daily mileage on less than one full charge or
tank with at least 20 miles range remaining) in order of electric only range descending.
▪

BEV > REEV > PHEV > Euro 6 (where no suitable ULEV currently exists)

These scenarios represent the minimum possible emissions savings based on current vehicle
performance and the assumption that City of Wolverhampton can provide adequate financial support
to enable all vehicle proprietors to transition to an ULEV with adequate operating range to complete
their average daily mileage.

6.2 Impact of Revised Vehicle Age and Emissions Policy
Each scenario is assessed against four main criteria: the number of required replacement vehicles
each year, cumulative WTW CO2e emissions, annual and cumulative air quality pollutant emissions.
Savings in social damage costs have also been calculated by applying WebTAG
environmental impact appraisal guidance21. This methodology monetises harmful emissions of
CO2, NOx and PM according to their potency. The values are adjusted slightly by the year they apply
and are taken from the WebTAG Data Book22. For reference the 2017 baseline figures for each
pollutant are £60.27 per tonne for CO2, £10,699 per tonne for NOx, and £203,331 per tonne for PM.
The net present value of the damage cost saving is calculated in 2020 prices using a discount rate
of 3.5% in line with the DEFRA methodology.

21
22

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/assess-the-impact-of-air-quality
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tag-data-book

Page 55
764-001-01

Page 41 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
6.2.1

Impact of ULEV Emissions Policy on Hackney Carriage Vehicle Fleet

This sub-section shows the impact of the three licensing scenarios on the hackney carriage vehicle
fleet with the information presented in several parts, namely: the number and type of replacement
vehicles, a detailed breakdown of the WTW CO2e emissions by scenario with key dates overlaid, a
summary of the WTW CO2e and NOx emissions, and a summary of the associated costs (additional
capital cost, running cost savings and social damage cost savings). PM emissions can be found in
Appendix B – Additional Tables and Charts.
Table 26 shows the percentage of the hackney carriage vehicles due for replacement in each
scenario. It should be noted that the baseline scenario represents the normal turnover rate, assuming
that vehicles are replaced at the maximum age limit (some vehicles will be replaced prior to this).
Table 26 - Percentage of Fleet Replaced Each Year; Hackney Carriage Vehicle Fleet

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035

Baseline
5%
4%
12%
10%
4%
17%
17%
6%
6%
8%
2%
2%
2%
1%
1%
3%

Improved
5%
4%
12%
70%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
100%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

Aspirational
5%
4%
12%
10%
4%
17%
17%
6%
46%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

• Baseline – on average, only 16 vehicles (6% of the fleet) are replaced each year with a peak of
28 vehicles (17% of the fleet) in 2025 and 2026.
• Improved – 116 vehicles (70% of the fleet) are replaced by Euro 6 diesel vehicles in 2023 and
the entire fleet is replaced by ULEVs in 2030 (resulting in an effective seven-year ownership
period for new diesel vehicles). No vehicles are replaced between 2024 and 2029 due to the
maximum age limit of 16 years.
• Aspirational – until 2028 the aspirational scenario requires the same number of replacement
vehicles as the baseline scenario but in this scenario ULEVs are required instead of Euro 6
vehicles. As such 90 vehicles (54% of the fleet) are replaced on the current maximum age limit
between 2023 and 2027, with the peak of 28 ULEVs (17% of the fleet) occurring in 2025 and
2026. The remaining 76 vehicles (46% of the fleet) are replaced by ULEVs in 2028.
Figure 17 shows the corresponding hackney carriage fleet composition where euro emissions
standards are denoted by number and ULEVs are denoted by the relevant technology types.

Page 56
764-001-01

Page 42 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Baseline

Improved

Aspirational

Figure 17 - Fleet Composition by Technology Type; Hackney Carriage Vehicle Fleet

• Baseline – over 50% of the fleet is Euro 6 by 2025, nearly all vehicles are Euro 6 by 2029. Only
17 vehicles (10% of the fleet) are ULEVs by 2035.
• Improved – two steps changes to 100% Euro 6 in 2023 and 100% ULEVs in 2030.
o BEVs are currently only operationally suitable for 40% of the fleet (~110 mile electric range
on average), REEVs have adequate total range but increase TCO by at least 4%.
• Aspirational – just under 50% of the fleet is ULEV by 2026 and 100% of the fleet is ULEV in
2028. In 2027, the fleet consists of 22% BEV, 32% REEV, 30% Euro 6 and 16% Euro 5 vehicles.
o Same ULEV fleet composition as improved scenario.

Page 57
764-001-01

Page 43 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Figure 18 shows a breakdown of WTW CO2e emissions for hackney carriage vehicles by scenario.
Horizontal dashed lines represent the emissions if all vehicles where the same stated technology.

New
vehicles
Euro 6

New
vehicles
ULEV

All
vehicles
Euro 6

New
vehicles
ULEV

All
vehicles
ULEV

New
vehicles
ULEV
All
vehicles
ULEV

Figure 18 – Breakdown of WTW CO2e Emissions; Hackney Carriage Vehicle Fleet

Page 58
764-001-01

Page 44 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Figure 19 shows a summary of WTW CO2e emissions for hackney carriage vehicles by scenario.

Figure 19 – Summary of WTW CO2e Emissions; Hackney Carriage Vehicle Fleet

• Baseline – 1% reduction in cumulative WTW CO2e emitted between 2020 and 2035.
• Improved – 41% reduction in annual WTW CO2e emissions from 2030 onwards (when all
vehicles must be ULEVs). This results in a 15% reduction in cumulative WTW CO2e emitted
between 2020 and 2035. Should suitable BEVs become available the reduction in annual WTW
CO2e emissions would increase to 75% and 93%, depending upon the percentage of BEVs and
carbon intensity of grid electricity.
• Aspirational – reductions in annual WTW CO2e emissions from 2023 onwards (when new
vehicles must be ULEVs). 15% reduction in cumulative WTW CO2e emitted between 2020 and
2029, compared to negligible reductions in the baseline and improved scenarios. 25% reduction
in cumulative WTW CO2e emitted between 2020 and 2035.
Figure 20 shows a summary of NOx emissions for hackney carriage vehicles by scenario.

Figure 20 - Summary of NOx Emissions; Hackney Carriage Fleet

Page 59
764-001-01

Page 45 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
• Baseline – 64% reduction in annual NOx emissions by 2030 (due to the introduction of Euro 6
vehicles).
• Improved – 66% reduction in annual NOx emissions in 2023, some older Euro 6 vehicles
retained on fleet (e.g. 2016 vehicles). 99% reduction in annual NOx emissions from 2030 onwards
(when all vehicles must be ULEVs).
• Aspirational – 99% reduction in annual NOx emissions by 2028 (when all vehicles must be
ULEVs). Provides lowest levels of NOx emissions out of all three scenarios from 2027.
Emissions reductions could be brought forward by reducing the maximum age limit for diesel
vehicles from 16 years to 12 years (in line with private hire vehicles).
Reducing the age limit to 12 years significantly increases the uptake of ULEVs in all scenarios. In
the baseline scenario with a 12 year age limit over 80% of the fleet is an ULEV by 2035
compared to 10% with the current 16 year age limit.
Table 27 provides a summary of the total (cumulative) emissions savings in each scenario from 2020
to 2035 alongside the association social damage cost savings by emissions type. The red, amber,
green scale denotes the overall contribution the social damage cost savings. Green values represent
larger savings and red values represent smaller savings.
Table 27 - Summary of Emissions and Social Damage Cost Savings; Hackney Carriage Fleet

Emission Type
WTW CO2e
NOx
PM
Total

Total Emissions Saving from 2020
to 2035 (% compared to baseline)
Improved
Aspirational
Scenario
Scenario
-15%
-24%
-41%
-31%
-25%
-10%
NA
NA

Social Damage Cost Saving (£)
Improved
Scenario
£219,000
£271,000
£11,000
£501,000

Aspirational
Scenario
£368,000
£201,000
£4,000
£573,000

The aspirational scenario provides social damage cost savings of £573,000 (WTW CO2e
accounts for 64% of these savings) through cumulative reductions in WTW CO2e, NOx and PM
emissions of 24%, 31% and 10%, respectively.
As most of the hackney carriage vehicle fleet only meets Euro 4 emissions standards, NOx and PM
emissions are relatively high. As such, the improved scenario also provides social damage cost
savings of £501,000. This is due to the introduction of Euro 6 as the minimum standard for all vehicles
in 2023. It is worth noting that the savings in the improved scenario are the maximum available
whereas the aspirational scenario savings represent the minimum and can be increased through the
introduction of a greater proportion of BEVs (and with reductions in the carbon intensity of the
electricity grid).
Based on current costs, an additional £2.3m of additional capital funding would be required to
transition the entire hackney carriage vehicle fleet to ULEVs (compared to new Euro 6 diesel
vehicles). Additionally, the aspirational scenario provides a total of £2.3m of running cost
savings by 2035 compared to £1.4m in the improved scenario.

Page 60
764-001-01

Page 46 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
6.2.2

Impact of ULEV Emissions Policy on Private Hire Vehicle Fleet

This sub-section shows the impact of the three licensing scenarios on the private hire vehicle fleet
with the information presented in several parts, namely: the number and type of replacement
vehicles, a detailed breakdown of the WTW CO2e emissions by scenario with key dates overlaid, a
summary of the WTW CO2e and NOx emissions, and a summary of the associated costs (additional
capital cost, running cost savings and social damage cost savings). PM emissions can be found in
Appendix B – Additional Tables and Charts.
Table 28 shows the percentage of the private hire vehicles due for replacement in each scenario. It
should be noted that the baseline scenario represents the normal turnover rate, assuming that
vehicles are replaced at the maximum age limit (some vehicles will be replaced prior to this).
Table 28 - Percentage of Fleet Replaced Each Year; Private Hire Vehicle Fleet

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035

Baseline
1%
7%
12%
11%
12%
11%
12%
11%
9%
5%
3%
2%
1%
7%
12%
11%

Improved
1%
7%
12%
48%
0%
0%
0%
10%
9%
5%
74%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

Aspirational
1%
7%
12%
11%
12%
11%
12%
11%
42%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

• Baseline – on average, only 900 vehicles (8% of the fleet) are replaced each year with a peak of
1,342 vehicles (11% of the fleet) in 2026.
• Improved – 5,256 vehicles (48% of the fleet) are replaced by Euro 6 diesel vehicles in 2023 and
the entire fleet is replaced by ULEVs in 2030 (resulting in an effective seven-year ownership
period for new diesel vehicles). No vehicles are replaced between 2024 and 2027 due to the
maximum age limit of 12 years.
• Aspirational – until 2028 the aspirational scenario requires the same number of replacement
vehicles as the baseline scenario but in this scenario ULEVs are required instead of Euro 6
vehicles. As such 6,359 vehicles (58% of the fleet) are replaced on the current maximum age limit
between 2023 and 2027, with the peak of 1,342 ULEVs (11% of the fleet) occurring in 2026.
The remaining 4,668 vehicles (42% of the fleet) are replaced by ULEVs in 2028.
Figure 21 shows the corresponding private hire fleet composition where euro emissions standards
are denoted by number and ULEVs are denoted by the relevant technology types.

Page 61
764-001-01

Page 47 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Baseline

Improved

Aspirational

Figure 21 - Fleet Composition by Technology Type; Private Hire Vehicle Fleet

• Baseline – entire fleet is Euro 6 by 2027. 3,978 vehicles (36% of the fleet) are ULEVs by 2035.
• Improved – two steps changes to 100% Euro 6 in 2023 and 100% ULEVs in 2030.
o BEVs are not currently operationally suitable for some medium MPVs which remain Euro 6.
• Aspirational – just under 50% of the fleet is ULEV by 2026 and 100% of the fleet is ULEV in
2028. In 2027, the fleet consists of 56% BEV, 2% PHEV, and 42% Euro 6.
o Same ULEV fleet composition as improved scenario.

Page 62
764-001-01

Page 48 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Figure 22 shows the WTW CO2e emissions for private hire vehicles for each scenario. Horizontal
dashed lines represent the emissions if all vehicles where the same stated technology. It should be
noted that a full fleet of PHEVs increase the WTW CO2e emissions. Each scenario follows a similar
trajectory to the same scenario in the hackney carriage forecasts.

Figure 22 - Summary of WTW CO2e Emissions; Private Hire Fleet

• Baseline – 3% reduction in cumulative WTW CO2e emitted between 2020 and 2035.
• Improved – 54% reduction in annual WTW CO2e emissions from 2030 onwards (when all
vehicles must be ULEVs). This results in a 22% reduction in cumulative WTW CO2e emitted
between 2020 and 2035. Should suitable BEVs become available the reduction in annual WTW
CO2e emissions would increase to 69% and 92%, depending upon the percentage of BEVs and
carbon intensity of grid electricity.
• Aspirational – reductions in annual WTW CO2e emissions from 2023 onwards (when new
vehicles must be ULEVs). 33% reduction in cumulative WTW CO2e emitted between 2020
and 2035 – a 50% greater reduction than the improved scenario.
Figure 23 shows the NOx emissions forecast for the private hire vehicles for each scenario.

Figure 23 - Summary of NOx Emissions; Private Hire Fleet

Page 63
764-001-01

Page 49 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
• Baseline – 66% reduction in annual NOx emissions by 2030 (due to the introduction of Euro 6
vehicles). 76% reduction in NOx emissions by 2035.
• Improved – 50% reduction in annual NOx emissions in 2023, some older Euro 6 vehicles
retained on fleet (e.g. 2016 vehicles). 95% reduction in annual NOx emissions from 2030 onwards
(when all vehicles must be ULEVs).
• Aspirational – 95% reduction in annual NOx emissions by 2028 (when all vehicles must be
ULEVs). Provides lowest levels of NOx emissions out of all three scenarios from 2025.
Table 29 provides a summary of the total (cumulative) emissions savings in each scenario from 2020
to 2035 alongside the association social damage cost savings by emissions type. The red, amber,
green scale denotes the overall contribution the social damage cost savings. Green values represent
larger savings and red values represent smaller savings.
Table 29 - Summary of Emissions and Social Damage Cost Savings; Private Hire Fleet

Emission Type
WTW CO2e
NOx
PM
Total

Total Emissions Saving from 2020
to 2035 (% compared to baseline)
Improved
Aspirational
Scenario
Scenario
-20%
-31%
-28%
-32%
-29%
-44%
NA
NA

Social Damage Cost Saving (£)
Improved
Scenario
£10,589,000
£3,810,000
£265,000
£14,664,000

Aspirational
Scenario
£17,313,000
£4,438,000
£409,000
£22,160,000

The aspirational scenario provides social damage cost savings of £22,160,000 (WTW CO2e
accounts for 78% of these savings) through reductions in cumulative WTW CO2e, NOx and PM
emissions of 31%, 32% and 44%, respectively.
Based on current costs, an additional £92m of additional capital funding would be required to
transition the entire private hire vehicle fleet to ULEVs (compared to new Euro 6 vehicles).
Additionally, the aspirational scenario provides a total of £131m of running cost savings by
2035 compared to £86m in the improved scenario.

Page 64
764-001-01

Page 50 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
6.2.3

Summary of Licensing Scenarios

Table 30 shows a summary of the advantages and disadvantages of each licensing policy scenario
in terms of emissions reduction potential, required ULEV availability and likely trade acceptance. A
full impact assessment should be completed as part of any business case development activities.
Table 30 - Comparison of Licensing Scenarios

Emissions Policy

Advantages
•

2023: EU6 (New)
Baseline
2030: ULEV (New)

•

•
2023: EU6 (All)
Improved

•

2025: ULEV (New)

Reduces air quality
emissions in line with
latest euro emissions
standards.
No other advantages,
should be considered
as minimum
requirement.

•

Largest immediate
reduction in air quality
emissions.
Suitable ULEVs are
not required until
2025.

•

Largest cumulative
saving in greenhouse
gas and air quality
emissions.
Clear messaging to
the trade with only one
regulated vehicle
replacement required.
Vehicles are replaced
on maximum vehicle
age limits until 2028.

•

2030: ULEV (All)

•

•
2023: ULEV (New)
Aspirational
2028: ULEV (All)

•

Disadvantages

•

•

•

•

No tangible improvement
in greenhouse gas
emissions until 2030.
ULEV uptake relies
entirely on vehicle
proprietor procurement
decisions.
No tangible improvement
in greenhouse gas
emissions until 2026
(private hire vehicles) and
2030 (hackney carriage
vehicles).
Requires two large
vehicle replacements,
one in 2023 (Euro 6) and
another in 2030 (ULEV).
Suitable ULEVs are
required from 2023.
Improved scenario
provides lower air quality
emissions from 2023 to
2025 (private hire
vehicles) and 2023 to
2027 (hackney carriage
vehicles).
Potential for the
introduction of new
internal combustion
engine vehicles before
2023.

The aspirational scenario is the only option that offers significant improvements in
greenhouse gas and air quality pollutant emissions over the next vehicle replacement cycle.
Additionally, it provides clear messaging and certainty to the trade regarding expected
emissions standards (ZEV or ULEV) whilst guaranteeing that replacement vehicles will have an
appropriate lifecycle. Likewise, a focused package of ULEV measures can be implemented that
provides incentives on a weighted scale for vehicle technologies that provide the largest emissions
savings (e.g. those with the largest zero emissions range), thereby improving value for public money.
Strategy Recommendation: Submit draft vehicle emissions policy proposals to the
Licensing Committee for approval, including all licensed vehicles to be zero emission or
ultra-low emission by 2028 (subject to review) and newly licensed vehicles to be zero
emission or ultra-low emission from 2023 (subject to vehicle suitability).
Publish draft proposals including timescales, expected standards, and details of any planned trade
engagement or consultation.

Page 65
764-001-01

Page 51 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
6.3 Vehicle Age and Emissions Policy Best Practice
Figure 24 provides a summary of local authorities that are known to have introduced vehicle
emissions-based licensing policies, with a particular focus on ULEVs (right columns) and
consideration for Euro 6 based policies (left columns). Key dates have been overlaid for context.
This information has been produced from desk-based research of publicly available policy and
strategy documents during this review and previous projects undertaken by Cenex.

23

ULEV purchase cost parity predicted for some
cars, increased ULEV model availability and
increased used ULEV availability also predicted.

City of Wolverhampton Council
Net-Zero

End of sale of new petrol and diesel cars

Figure 24 - Summary of Vehicle Emissions Policy Best Practice

Page 66
764-001-01

Page 52 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
It should be noted that most local authorities with ULEV based emissions policies have
received external funding from either the Clean Air Fund (Department for Environment, Food &
Rural Affairs) or Ultra-Low Emission Taxi Infrastructure Scheme (Office for Zero Emission Vehicles).
Based on vehicle emissions policies developed to date, there are four potential stages of introduction
of minimum emissions standards. These are summarised as follows:
1. New vehicles must be at least Euro 6 diesel (2020 to 2022)
These local authorities require any vehicle that is being replaced by a newer vehicle to be at least
Euro 6. City of York Council have a similar policy, but it is more restrictive as the minimum emissions
standard is Euro 6 petrol hybrids only (e.g. no diesel vehicles). It should be noted that in some duty
cycles, such as motorway driving, petrol hybrid vehicles can emit higher amounts of greenhouse gas
emissions compared to equivalent diesel vehicles. Most new Euro 6 vehicles are expected to
remain on the fleet for a full ownership period, as an example a Euro 6 vehicle licensed by
Nottingham City Council in 2020 can remain on the fleet until 2030 at which point it must be replaced
by an ULEV.
2. All vehicles must be at least Euro 6 diesel (2020 to 2025)
Many local authorities are requiring all vehicles to be Euro 6 diesel or better for licence renewals
(e.g. all licensed vehicles). Some local authorities, such as Bristol City Council, are bringing about
the same results but with a different mechanism. Instead, they have reduced age limits for lower
emission standards and will therein remove all non-Euro 6 compliant vehicles from the fleet by 2025.
3. New vehicles must be at least an ULEV (2020 to 2025)
Seven local authorities require any vehicle that is being replaced by a newer vehicle to be an ULEV
by 2025, renewal can occur on existing or reduced maximum age limits for non-ULEVs. For example,
Cambridge City Council has a 9 year age limit for non-ULEVs compared to 12 years for ULEVs and
15 years for ZEVs. Birmingham City Council has a tightening of the minimum emissions
standard for new vehicles in 2030 when only ZEVs will be allowed, effectively limiting new
vehicles to BEV, FC REEV and FCEV23.
Some local authorities such as Bristol City Council and Coventry City Council have this policy
for new entrants to the fleet only. In other words, new vehicles that are not replacing an older
vehicle must be ULEVs. This effectively caps the fleet emissions as new entrants will make a minimal
additional contribution. It also allows currently licensed vehicles more time to change to ULEVs.
4. All vehicles must be at least an ULEV (2024 to 2030)
Seven local authorities will require all vehicles to be ULEVs for their licence to be renewed. Except
for Oxford City Council and Reading Borough Council, these policies refer to all licensed vehicles
including both hackney carriage and private hire vehicles.

23

In 2020, following a report, Birmingham Licensing and Public Protection Committee agreed to
defer the introduction of the ULEV requirement for all newly licensed Hackney Carriage and Private
Hire vehicles from 1 January 2021 to 1 January 2026. The COVID-19 pandemic and a lack of suitable
ULEVs were cited as reasons for the deferment.

Page 67
764-001-01

Page 53 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
6.4 Financial, Practical and Regulatory Incentive Measures
Cenex has previously undertaken trade engagement activities for several local authorities. Based on
these studies, the main barriers to the adoption of ULEV taxi vehicles (amongst other smaller
concerns) are as follows:
•

High initial purchase cost (combined with difficulties accessing low interest finance)

•

Real-world operating range and vehicle reliability (e.g. vehicle capabilities)

•

Access to suitable electric vehicle charging infrastructure (both public and domestic)

Prior to the introduction of revised vehicle emissions policies, it is important that local authorities
offer a coordinated package of incentive measures to accelerate the transition to ULEVs.
It is expected that such incentive measures will be required until suitable ULEVs are available
across all vehicle segments and purchase cost parity is achieved for new vehicles, or there is
a substantial used vehicle market. Several market analysts forecast that BEV cars will achieve
cost parity with new internal combustion engine vehicles by 202424,25.
This subsection provides a high-level summary of the financial, practical and regulatory measures
introduced by other local authorities to accelerate the transition to ULEVs in advance of introducing
revised vehicle emissions policies.
This information has been gathered from publicly available licensing policy documents and strategy
documents supplemented by interviews with other local authorities, interviews with WAV suppliers
and previous experience from other projects26.
A basic qualitative assessment has been undertaken to provide a priority rating based on the
amount of effort (and resources) required by City of Wolverhampton Council and the potential impact
on the uptake of ULEVs prior to the introduction of a revised vehicle emissions policy.
Table 31 shows the criteria that has been applied to categorise the priority of ULEV measures.
Table 31 – Indicative Priority for ULEV Measures

Measure Priority

1. Quick wins

2. Major projects

3. Small gains
4. Least recommended

Description
Lower effort, higher impact – priority measures that should be
implemented as soon as practically possible. These measures should
be targeted at potential early adopters and should be designed to
encourage the uptake of vehicles that best meet the long-term
objectives of the project (plug-in grant eligible ULEVs).
Higher effort, higher impact – projects that could have some of the
highest impacts but require significant resources and have longer
implementation timescales. May only be possible to implement a limited
number of such measures in parallel.
Lower effort, lower impact – relatively easy to implement but only
provide incremental gains. Consider beside existing measures or if
there is spare resource or if a package of such measures results in a
high impact (which would represent a quick win).
Higher effort, lower impact – least recommended in the short term

It is acknowledged that the relative effort and impact will vary significantly within these broad
categories. To date there is little or no precedent for the wide scale adoption of ULEV taxi
vehicles, as such these measures and their effectiveness are relatively untested. Additionally,
implementation of a package of such measures requires dedicated resources both in terms of
funding and labour.

24

https://about.bnef.com/blog/battery-pack-prices-cited-below-100-kwh-for-the-first-time-in-2020-while-market-average-sits-at-137-kwh/
https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/oct/21/electric-cars-as-cheap-to-manufacture-as-regular-models-by-2024
26
https://www.cenex.co.uk/case-studies/cardiff-capital-region-ulev-taxi-strategy/
25

Page 68
764-001-01

Page 54 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Table 32 shows a summary of the main financial, practical and regulatory measures available to
local authorities to increase ULEV uptake assessed against the indicative priority criteria.
Table 32 - Summary of ULEV Measures and Action Priority Rating

Measure
Free / Preferential Prices for
Electricity
Interest Free Loan Scheme
Non-repayable Grant
Scheme
Free Parking
Public Sector Transport
Services
Trade Engagement Events
ULEV Suitability
Assessments
Electric Vehicle Charging
Infrastructure
Support WAV Market
Development
ULEV Trial Scheme
Support Used Vehicle
Market

Primary Intended Purpose
Financial Measures

Priority

Reduced running costs, incentive to use chargepoints

1

Reduced capital expenditure, more affordable finance

2

Reduced total cost of ownership

2

Reduced operational costs

3

Increase likelihood of winning contracts for ULEVs

3

Practical Measures
Forum for the trade to discuss the topic of ULEVs

1

Enable trade to make informed procurement decisions

1

Enable charging for early and wide scale adoption

2

Increase availability of suitable ULEVs (WAVs)

2

Demonstrate whether ULEVs are fit for purpose

2

Increase availability of suitable used ULEVs

3

Regulatory Measures
Review Suitability of Rear
Entry WAVs
Reduce Percentage of WAV
Hackney Carriage Vehicles
Bus Lane Access
Access Restrictions for nonULEVs
ULEV Only Taxi Ranks

Increase availability of suitable ULEVs (WAVs)

2

Increase availability of suitable ULEVs

2

Reduced journey times on major routes

3

Influence / control over local emissions standards

4

Increase income by allowing access to prime locations

4

Implementation Recommendation: Engage with the trade to establish the required type and
level of support required to transition to ULEVs under the aspirational licensing scenario.
Cenex are scheduled to deliver trade engagement activities on behalf of City of Wolverhampton
Council in 2021. This includes an online trade survey and a trade engagement workshop that can
be used as an initial scoping exercise for potential ULEV measures.

Page 69
764-001-01

Page 55 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

Strategy Recommendation: Assign a dedicated project manager responsible for the
development, implementation and ongoing management of a three year ‘Ultra-Low
Emission Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle’ project covering vehicle emissions
policy, ULEV measures and infrastructure.
Develop a detailed project delivery plan and determine the specifics of the recommended strategy
including, but not limited to, conditions that must be met prior to the introduction of new emissions
standards, definition of required emissions standards and maximum vehicle age limits. Care
should be taken to avoid the introduction of any licensing conditions that could directly or indirectly
result in the introduction of an additional generation of internal combustion engine vehicles.
Establish SMART objectives (Specific Measurable Achievable Realistic Time-bound) for the
overall project and individual measures.
Assign responsibility for annual reporting of hackney carriage and private hire fleet emissions.
Determine key performance indicators for ULEV uptake and monitor progress during the project.
Ensure that there is a coordinated approach across the project. Examples could include providing
benefits for recipients of multiple incentive scheme (such as priority applications for financial
incentive scheme applicants that have participated in a ULEV trial scheme).
Strategy Recommendation: Develop a full business case to support external funding
applications for ULEV measures that are identified as major projects.
Cenex has experience of developing business cases for ULEV hackney carriage and private hire
vehicle measures using the Five Case Model provided by HM Treasury and the Welsh
Government which includes the Strategic Case, Transport Case, Financial Case, Commercial
Case and Management Case. City of Wolverhampton Council should ensure that any business
case produced should include a quantitative assessment of capital costs, revenue costs, value for
money and a robust review of procurement options and associated risks.
Major projects should focus on fleet wide adoption of ULEVs. It is suggested that these
measures should be introduced the year before the introduction of an ULEV emissions policy
(~2022) and should be made available for at least two years (longer if appropriate).
Interim measures (e.g. prior to the introduction an ULEV emissions policy) should focus on
increasing confidence in ULEVs and providing potential early adopters with the knowledge
and tools required to make informed procurement decisions. Many of the quick wins
highlighted above fulfil these requirements and require relatively less funding. It is however worth
noting that ULEV Trial Schemes provide the most direct experience of using ULEVs but are a
major project.

Page 70
764-001-01

Page 56 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
6.4.1

Quick Wins – Lower Effort, Higher Impact

The following sub-sections include ‘ULEV Measure Summary Tables’ for quick wins (1), major
projects (2) and lower impact (3, 4) measures, respectively. The following information is reported for
each summary table – a brief description of each measure, an expanded description of the intended
purpose, key implementation considerations / risks, recommendations, and notable examples.
Free / Preferential Rates for Electricity (Financial Measure)
Description

Chargepoints are made available to registered hackney carriage and private hire
vehicles to charge at a discounted rate (or even for free). This measure reduces
the running cost of an electric vehicle and encourages drivers to charge during the
day, thereby reducing the range limitations of the vehicle.

•

Considerations

Notable Examples

Lost income for the chargepoint providers must be covered. Previous
research by Cenex in May 2020 showed that free BEV charging could save
the driver around £1,500 a year.
• An identification or reimbursement system for the drivers must be set up. This
should be within the capability of most chargepoint providers.
• Set expectations regarding the introduction of future tariffs.
In 2019, Bromsgrove Council installed 13 rapid chargepoints under the Ultra-Low
Emission Taxi Infrastructure Scheme and made them free to registered taxi drivers
for the first year. The discount was then reduced to 75% for the next four years.
Trade Engagement Events (Practical Measure)

Description

Programme of taxi trade engagement events for the trade to find out about the
benefits of ULEVs and see or test drive relevant vehicles. Provides direct
engagement and guidance to the trade by facilitating discussions with impartial
industry experts, vehicle suppliers, chargepoint suppliers, other trade
representatives and local authorities.

•

Considerations

Notable Examples

Events should be held at locations convenient to the trade and should be
aligned with key regional milestones.
• Events should be delivered in an informal manner with ample opportunities for
discussion. Sessions should be specifically focused on ULEVs and avoid
broader trade issues (e.g. illegal plying for hire, rank provision etc.)
Cenex has direct experience of managing taxi trade engagement events for local
authorities (Derby City Council, Nottingham City Council and Oxford City Council).
An initial trade engagement workshop, to be delivered on behalf of City of
Wolverhampton Council, is scheduled for 2021.
ULEV Suitability Assessments (Practical Measure)

Description

Personalised ULEV suitability reports showing current vehicle usage patterns
(based on vehicle telematics data) and advice on the real-world operating range,
total cost of ownership and emissions of ULEVs under specific vehicle usage
conditions. Allows early adopters to make well informed procurement decisions.

•

Considerations

Notable Examples

Can be challenging to recruit volunteers to have telematics devices fitted to
vehicles so a targeted approach is required.
• Can be used to add value to trade engagement events and ULEV vehicle trial
schemes. Results of such activities such be disseminated to all licence
holders and updated as new vehicle models become available.
Derby City Council, Nottingham City Council, Oxford City Council, Southampton
City Council.
15 personalised ULEV suitability reports and a public trade summary report will be
delivered by Cenex, on behalf of City of Wolverhampton Council, in 2021.

Page 71
764-001-01

Page 57 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
6.4.2

Major Projects – Higher Effort, Higher Impact
Interest Free Loan Scheme (Financial Measure*)

Description
Purpose

Interest free loan covering some or all the purchase cost of an eligible ULEV.
Reduces the amount of capital required by allowing the vehicle proprietor to spread
the purchase cost over a period of years (typically four to six years).

✓ Direct incentive resulting in the introduction of a licensed ULEV taxi vehicle.
✓ Small reduction in interest payments and the total amount of finance payable
✓

Advantage (✓)
Consideration (~)
Disadvantage ()







(interest payments on a £30k, five-year loan = ~£2.3k at 3% interest).
Improves access to affordable finance.
High risk if local authority managed, increased set up times if third party
managed (~10-12 months)
External funding is required to cover revenue costs (interest, default, and
administration costs)
Does not reduce vehicle total cost ownership.
Amount of funding required to cover default costs. A proportion of owners may
be considered ‘sub-prime’ lenders which typically results in high interest rates.
Significant administrative and management burden (eligibility, affordability and
credit checks, loan agreements, enforcement etc.)
Low uptake of ULEVs if offered alongside diesel and petrol vehicles.
Conversion rate could be low due to administrative burden on trade.

•

Seek financial advice and request quotes from potential suppliers to accurately
quantify funding requirements for loan revenue costs.
• Interest free loan scheme to be available for eligible ULEVs only.
Bath and North East Somerset Council (£9k over five years), Energy Saving Trust /
Notable Examples
Transport Scotland (£35k over six years), Leeds City Council (£10k over four years)
Implementation
Recommendation

Non-repayable Grant Scheme (Financial Measure*)
Description

Non-repayable grant to cover the operating / transitional costs of upgrading to an
eligible ULEV. Examples of eligible costs include vehicle licensing fees, insurance,
servicing, rank fees, vehicle equipment and vehicle electricity costs.

Purpose

Slightly reduces the amount of capital required. Reduces total cost of ownership.

✓ Direct incentive resulting in the introduction of a licensed ULEV taxi vehicle.
✓ Provides an incentive for vehicles that are currently uneconomical such as those

Advantage (✓)
Consideration (~)
Disadvantage ()

Implementation
Recommendation

with low annual mileages, short ownership periods or are in challenging vehicle
segments (e.g. REEV purpose-built hackney carriages).
✓ Easier to administer than interest free loans.
 Additional measures required to ensure state aid compliance.
 Grant payment mechanism – direct vs. indirect costs, direct payment to
suppliers, cash payment to vehicle owners, evidence of running costs.
 Cannot be used to directly reduce the purchase cost of a plug-in grant eligible
ULEV. To avoid additionality with the plug-in grant (and achieve state aid
compliance) the value of the grant is typically limited to less than the equivalent
plug-in grant or ~10% of the purchase cost of a new ULEV (£3,000 for cars,
£7,500 for purpose-built hackney carriage vehicles).
 Low uptake of ULEVs if offered alongside diesel and petrol vehicles.

•
•

Seek legal advice to ensure state aid compliance (running costs only, limit of
funding for individuals, applicants required to sign a state aid declaration).
Non-repayable grant scheme to be available for eligible ULEVs only.

Notable Examples Birmingham City Council, Leeds City Council (+ many others)
* Previous research, completed by Cenex in May 2020, shows the minimum cost of entry to the taxi trade is ~£9k (medium
car) to ~£23k (WAV) for a three-year old, low mileage, Euro 6 diesel vehicle. This should be considered the baseline cost
which new ULEVs are assessed against. On this basis a financial incentive of £8k to £30k would be required to cover the
full cost premium of procuring a new plug-in grant eligible ULEV compared to a new and used Euro 6 diesel, respectively.

Page 72
764-001-01

Page 58 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure (Practical Measure)
Description

Purpose

Advantage (✓)
Consideration (~)
Disadvantage ()

Provision of a dedicated taxi vehicle chargepoint network to enable drivers to
charge their vehicles as and when required. This measure is considered
critical to increasing the uptake of plug-in ULEVs.
Provide suitable charging infrastructure to support the uptake of plug-in taxi
vehicles for early and wide scale adoption. Suitable chargepoints must be
readily available, easily accessible, appropriately located, affordable and
future proofed.
✓ Highly visible and practical measure which overcomes one of the largest
barriers to the adoption of ULEVs (lack of suitable charging infrastructure).
✓ Free / reduced electricity prices (and funding for domestic chargepoints)
have been used as eligible costs under non-repayable grant schemes.
 Required number, type (rated power), and locations against time.
 Asset ownership, business model / tariff and ongoing operations.
 Access arrangements, booking system, how to prevent misuse.
 Installation and grid upgrade costs are location specific and therefore
susceptible to variation.
 Revenue depends on vehicle uptake and chargepoint utilisation.
 High amount of stakeholder management (Distribution Network Operator,
chargepoint suppliers / installers, energy suppliers, landowners, internal)
 Lack of off-street parking remains a potential barrier to adoption.

•

Map existing infrastructure and hold trade workshops to discuss preferred
locations and types of chargepoints.
• Undertake vehicle data logging activity to map dwell times and locations
Implementation
compared to energy consumption (optional).
Recommendation
• Develop vehicle and chargepoint technology roadmaps.
• Determine proposed locations, numbers and power output of chargepoints
to provide an effective network.
The Ultra-Low Emission Taxi Infrastructure Scheme has awarded capital
funding of £20.9m across 27 local authorities to support the procurement and
Notable Examples installation of 557 ‘rapid’ and 228 ‘fast’ chargepoints. City of Wolverhampton
Council was awarded £478k to install 20 rapid chargers and 4 fast chargers.
Most local authorities listed in this report are recipients of this funding scheme.
Strategy Recommendation: Undertake a review of infrastructure requirements to confirm
the capacity of the current chargepoint network to support potential early adopters and to
develop a proposal for an expanded regional chargepoint network to support the wide scale
adoption of ULEVs resulting from the aspirational licensing scenario (newly licensed
vehicles = ULEV in 2023 and all licensed vehicles = ULEV in 2028).

Page 73
764-001-01

Page 59 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Support WAV Market Development (Practical Measure)
Description

Purpose

Advantage (✓)
Consideration (~)
Disadvantage ()

Procurement of an individual / small fleet of the latest ULEV van derived
passenger vehicles to be used as proof of concept for the conversion to WAV
hackney carriage vehicles.
Grow the market for ULEV wheelchair accessible hackney carriage vehicles
by supporting the development and introduction of new vehicle models.
Increase the number of potential options from the two vehicles currently
available (Dynamo and LEVC).
✓ Accelerates the development process in advance of market demand which
should highlight any challenges (e.g. battery location, floor / roof changes)
and associated additional costs for converting ULEV van-derived
passenger vehicles into WAVs.
✓ Proactively demonstrates the latest potential ULEVs which should offer
improved suitability as real-world range increases (latest generation of
vehicles have official ranges of 140+ miles), charging power increases
(e.g. 11 kW AC, 100+ kW DC) and purchase cost decreases.
✓ Majority of WAVs are currently medium van derived vehicles such as the
Mercedes-Benz Vito and Vauxhall Vivaro. Type approved ULEV versions
of such vehicles will likely be popular with the trade.
✓ Opportunity for City of Wolverhampton Council to become an exemplar for
providing additional measures and options to the local hackney carriage
trade. Increased likelihood of achieving a ULEV hackney carriage fleet on
similar timescales to the private hire vehicle fleet.
 Potential alternative use of funds that are typically allocated to ULEV trial
schemes.
 Vehicles may not meet current eligibility criteria for plug-in taxi grant due to
requirement to meet London conditions of fitness (which may be more
stringent than required).
 Potential that conversions could be unsuccessful or unsuitable for use
under current licensing conditions.

•
•
Implementation
Recommendation
•

Document minimum technical requirements and vehicle specifications.
Ensure that these requirements allow for different technology options,
different vehicle types, and are therefore not overly prescriptive.
Engage with potential suppliers either directly, or through an exploratory
innovation procurement tender process. Focus should be on the supplier’s
ability to meet the technical requirements rather than the capital cost.
If implemented, gain feedback on vehicle suitability from the hackney
carriage trade and other local authorities to demonstrate whether there is
adequate market demand for such vehicles.

Notable Examples No known precedent

Vauxhall Vivaro-e Life (50 kWh, 9-seater) and Mercedes-Benz eVito Tourer (100 kWh, 9-seater)

Page 74
764-001-01

Page 60 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
ULEV Trial Scheme (Practical Measure)
Description
Purpose

Advantage (✓)
Consideration (~)
Disadvantage ()

Procurement of a fleet of ULEVs to be used for short term trials (preferably
part or fully funded or, alternatively, on a rental basis at market rates).
Provide an opportunity for the trade to test the capabilities of ULEVs under
their standard real-world working conditions. Increase the number of drivers
that have experience of using ULEVs.
✓ Demonstrates day to day operationally suitability of ULEVs including
electric only range, ease of recharging / use and short-term reliability.
✓ Increased visibility of operational ULEVs (if branded appropriately)
✓ Vehicles could potentially be resold into the trade to reduce the amount of
capital required for early adopters and provide guaranteed uptake of a
small number of ULEVs.
✓ Option for long term rental scheme for those unable to commit to the
trade.
 Procurement options – local authority or third party managed, fully funded
trials, or rented at market rates.
 Trial management – vehicle storage, valeting, handover process, hire and
reward insurance, resolution of issues, trade relationship management.
 Provision of adequate electric vehicle charging infrastructure during trial.
 Indirect incentive – no requirement to procure an ULEV, value for money
relies on a high conversion rate from trial participant to ULEV owner.
 High vehicle utilisation required to maximise value for public money (40%
to 75% typical).
 Vehicle, and potentially operator, licensing requirements for trial vehicles.

•

Include vehicle telematics to either monitor the success of the trial or to
provide participants with personalised ULEV suitability advice.
Implementation
• Establish key performance indicators (target number of participants and
Recommendation
utilisation, target conversion rate – typically 20% to 30%) and minimum
number of vehicles required (typically less than 10 participants per vehicle
depending on trial length).
Birmingham City Council (third party managed rental scheme), Coventry City
Notable Examples Council, Leeds City Council (local authority managed trial scheme),
Nottingham City Council (third party managed trial scheme)

Nottingham City Council – Electric Taxi Trial Scheme and Leeds City Council – Electric Private Hire Vehicle Trial
Scheme

Page 75
764-001-01

Page 61 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Review Suitability of Rear Entry WAVs (Regulatory Measure)
Description
Purpose

Advantage (✓)
Consideration (~)
Disadvantage ()

Review of the suitability of rear entry WAVs to be licensed as hackney
carriage vehicles.
Improve the availability of suitable ULEVs by allowing vehicle proprietors to
replace medium van derived WAVs with small van derived WAVs (or similar
rear entry WAVs) on the condition that it is replaced by an ULEV.
✓ Improves the availability of suitable ULEVs and reduces hackney carriage
fleet emissions by using smaller more efficient vehicles.
✓ Rear entry WAVs are significantly cheaper to purchase than side entry
WAVs (~£15-20k less).
 Ease of use (ramp angle, securing the passenger, wheelchair types).
 Lack of a partitioned driver compartment.
 Potential safety concerns during pick up and drop off, particularly at taxi
ranks and around kerbs, and in the event of an accident whilst driving.
Vehicles are available that meet European Community Whole Vehicle
Type Approval.
 Vehicles may not meet current eligibility criteria for plug-in taxi grant due to
requirement to meet London conditions of fitness (which may be more
stringent than required).
 Few known examples of ULEV rear entry WAV hackney carriage
vehicles27.

•

Consult with the hackney carriage trade, customers (including wheelchair
users), support groups, WAV converter trade associations and other local
authorities to understand the feasibility of using rear entry WAVs within the
hackney carriage vehicle fleet. Views should be sought from both sides of
the discussion including the City of Wolverhampton hackney carriage
trade and another local authority that currently license rear entry WAVs.
Implementation
Focus should be whether vehicles are safe and fit for purpose rather than
Recommendation
the cost and emissions benefits.
• Investigate the feasibility of providing a limited number of vehicle licences
for the purposes of trialling rear entry WAVs in Wolverhampton.
• If implemented, investigate the feasibility of providing dedicated space at
or near the front of taxi ranks for WAVs to pick up wheelchair users.
Brighton and Hove City Council (preferred type with a minimum target of 60%),
Cardiff County Council (>50% of WAV hackney carriage vehicles).
Notable Examples
Rear Entry WAVs are licensed by City of Wolverhampton Council as private
hire vehicles. Similar vehicles are also used by other organisations.

Rear Entry WAV Hackney Carriage Vehicle (Dundee, Supplied by Vic Young)
27

https://www.vicyoung.co.uk/news/switching-my-taxi-to-electric-i-wish-id-done-it-years-ago/

Page 76
764-001-01

Page 62 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Reduce Percentage of WAV Hackney Carriage Vehicles (Regulatory Measure)
Description
Purpose

Advantage (✓)
Consideration (~)
Disadvantage ()

Reduction of the total percentage of WAVs within the hackney carriage vehicle
fleet.
Improve availability of suitable ULEVs by allowing vehicle proprietors to
replace a WAV with a standard passenger vehicle on the condition that it is
replaced by an ULEV.
✓ Improves the availability of suitable ULEVs and reduces hackney carriage
fleet emissions by using smaller more efficient vehicles.
 Number of WAVs must cover the local demand and wheelchair users
should not have to wait disproportionately longer for vehicles.
 A range of vehicle types are required to meet the needs of all customers,
including other disabled people that may not be wheelchair users.
 Potential for under provision of WAVs.

•
Implementation
Recommendation •

•

Consult with the hackney carriage trade, customers including wheelchair
users and support groups to understand the feasibility of reducing the
number of WAVs within the hackney carriage vehicle fleet.
Ensure that the results of unmet demand surveys are reviewed with
consideration for hackney carriage fleet emissions.
If implemented, investigate the feasibility of providing dedicated space at
or near the front of taxi ranks for WAVs to pick up wheelchair users.

Notable Examples Cambridge City Council (65% to 50%, 213 to 163 WAVs)
Strategy Recommendation: Undertake an impartial review of all recommended WAV related
measures then publish a list of actions to increase the availability of suitable wheelchair
accessible ULEVs by 2023.
Review to cover the following measures: ‘Support WAV Market Development’, ‘Review Suitability
of Rear Entry WAVs’ and ‘Reduce Percentage of WAV Hackney Carriage Vehicles’.
Review to be based on latest available evidence and modern operating / booking practices. It is
suggested that a long list of measures should be reviewed at some level, including those that have
previously been assessed and those that may lead to significant operational changes (such as
redesigned ranks or new booking methods). All measures to be assessed against their impact on
fleet emissions, safety and market needs.
It is suggested that City of Wolverhampton Council should aim to demonstrate all possible variants
of wheelchair accessible ULEVs to the taxi trade before implementing the preferred solution.

Page 77
764-001-01

Page 63 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
6.4.3

Lower Impact Measures
Free Parking for ULEVs (Financial Measure)

Description

Allow ULEV drivers to park for free. Whilst this would be an incentive to switch
to a ULEV, the scheme is likely to be low impact due to the low levels of
savings it offers taxi drivers.

•

Identification of ULEVs could be challenging. Green flashes on ULEV
numberplates introduced in autumn 2020 should alleviate this issue.
• Unlikely to be a significant financial incentive, merely supplementary.
Dundee City Council has made the use of all council owned multistorey
Notable Examples carparks free to use for BEVs. The carpark barriers are controlled by an ANPR
system that can identify registered BEVs.
Considerations

Public Sector Transport Services (Financial Measure)
Description

Include criteria in public sector contract tenders to make them more
favourable to operators with fleets of ULEVs. Operators would be incentivised
to obtain ULEVs if it would increase the likelihood of winning a contract.

Considerations

•

Unlikely to be a significant financial incentive for most vehicle proprietors.

Notable Examples Unknown.
Support Used Vehicle Market (Practical Measure)
Description

Increase the availability of suitable used ULEVs by engaging with large fleet
operators and leasing companies currently procuring new ULEVs.

•
Implementation
Recommendation •

•

Investigate options for securing a supply of used ULEVs in the future, local
authority owned vehicles may provide some opportunities at the end of
their planned ownership periods.
Investigate options for retaining ULEVs within the hackney carriage and
private hire vehicle fleets.
Relax requirement for hackney carriage vehicles to be brand new at
first licensing.

Notable Examples N/A
Bus Lane Access (Regulatory Measure)
Description

Allow ULEVs to use bus lanes to reduce journey times.

•

Unlikely to have a major impact on a driver’s decision to buy a ULEV, will
merely be a supplementary bonus.
Considerations
• Many ULEVs using the bus lane could cause congestion and slow buses
down. Some taxi vehicles are already permitted to use bus lanes.
Nottingham City Council has allowed both buses and ULEVs to use the bus
lane on a major A-road into the city. Non-compliant vehicles driving in the lane
will be issued with a Penalty Charge Notice.
Notable Examples
Additionally, Bedford Borough Council has made an Experimental Traffic
Order to allow ULEVs in bus lanes, however, taxi vehicles are already allowed
so the measure will not increase the uptake of ULEVs significantly.

Page 78
764-001-01

Page 64 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Access Restrictions for non-ULEVs (Regulatory Measure)
Description

Restrict access to certain areas of the city to ULEVs only. This would allow the
council to target air quality emissions reduction and would incentivise the
upgrade to ULEVs as the restricted locations are lucrative to the trade.

•

Provides a level of control over the emissions standards of ‘out of town’
private hire vehicles. Can be implemented using a charging clean air zone
or an operating permit system.
•
Without sufficient uptake of ULEVs this measure could lead to unmet
Considerations
demand in the city centre. Negatively impacts those who are unable to
transition to an ULEV.
• Alternatively, a large uptake of ULEV taxi vehicles due to licensing
changes removes the need for this measure.
Hackney Borough Council has launched two zones that will be restricted to
ULEVs during peak hours (weekdays, 7-10am and 4-7pm) however they are
Notable Examples not main roads.
In the future, Cambridge City Council will be investigating the feasibility of
restricting city centre access to ULEVs only in 2029.
ULEV Only Taxi Ranks (Regulatory Measure)
Description

Restrict taxi ranks in prime locations to ULEVs only. This would provide a
financial incentive to hackney carriage drivers to upgrade to an ULEV.

•

This measure would require a high level of enforcement to ensure that
only ULEVs are entering the taxi rank. A high level of engagement with the
Considerations
trade is also required.
• Negatively impacts those who are unable to transition to an ULEV and
risks fragmenting the trade.
Derby City Council are undertaking a review of existing ranks to prioritise low
Notable Examples emission vehicles. Permitting ULEV only taxi ranks will be considered during
this process, but they have not committed to it.

Page 79
764-001-01

Page 65 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
6.5 Examples of Coordinated Vehicle Emissions Policy and Measures
Table 33 shows notable examples of local authorities that have implemented revised vehicle
emissions policies supported by a package of measures aimed at increasing the uptake of ULEVs.
It is worth reiterating that the earliest date for the wide scale adoption of ULEVs is 2024.
Table 33 - Examples of Coordinated Vehicle Emissions Policy and Measures

Local Authority
(Top Level Approach)

Proposed Policy Changes and Incentives
(*access to Clean Air Fund, **ULEV Taxi Infrastructure Scheme)

(Early phased ULEV
adoption*,**)

• Phased emission-based condition for the licensing of hackney
carriage and private hire vehicles.
• 2019 – New vehicles must meet Euro 6 .
• 2020 – New vehicles must be a ULEV or ZEV.
• 2024 – All licensed vehicles must be a ULEV or ZEV.
• Go Electric Taxi Scheme (two-week test drive of LEVC TX, £2,500
financial incentives for first 60 drivers). Funded by the Office of Low
Emission Vehicles, the Clean Air Fund and the project partners,
vehicles managed by LEVC.
•
•
•
•
•
•

(Early phased ULEV
adoption,**)

•
•
•

(Go Ultra Low City*,**)

•
•
•
•
•

(Phased ULEV
introduction)

•
•
•
•

(Charging CAZ*,**, Early
phased ULEV adoption)

•
•
•

Revised policy agreed in April 2018.
Since 1 April 2020 – New saloon vehicles must be an ULEV or ZEV.
2028 – All licensed saloon vehicles must be an ULEV or ZEV.
2028 – All licensed WAVs must be an ULEV or ZEV (to be
reviewed in 2026).
Reduction of total % of WAV hackney carriages to 50% to
encourage the uptake of ULEVs.
Licence fee exemption for ZEVs for up to 5 years, 50% discount for
ULEVs for up to 5 years.
9 year age limit for non-ULEVs, 12 year age limit for ULEVs, 15 year
age limit for ZEVs.
2029 – To restrict city centre access to ULEV or ZEV licensed
vehicles only.
Clean Air Zone (CAZ) compliant fleet followed by phased ULEZ
adoption.
2020 – All hackney carriage vehicles must be at least Euro 6.
2025 – New vehicles must be an ULEV.
2030 – All licensed vehicles must be an ULEV.
Nottingham – LEVC TX ‘try before you buy scheme’, free rental for
30 days. Council owned vehicles acquired through the Early
Measures Fund.
Nottingham – Council run electric vehicle service centre (Nottingham
Electric Vehicle Services) that caters for a range of vehicles
including taxis.
Derby – Designation of taxi ranks as ULEV only.
Revised policy agreed in April 2019.
2021 - £8 charge per day for hackney carriage and private hire
vehicles that do not meet Euro 4 petrol or Euro 6 diesel standards.
2020 – maximum age limit of 15 years for hackney carriage vehicles
and 12 years for private hire vehicles.
2021 – New vehicles must be an ULEV or ZEV.
2030 – New vehicles must be an ZEV, to be reviewed in 2025.
DEFRA funding – £2.75m for the council to buy a fleet of electric
taxis to be rented by drivers on a long term or ‘try before you buy’
basis, £5,000 financial incentive for up to 1,000 hackney carriage
vehicles, up to £2,500 towards the running costs of ULEV private
hire vehicles.

Page 80
764-001-01

Page 66 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

7 Conclusions
The City of Wolverhampton Council target of achieving a zero-tailpipe emission or ultra-low emission
hackney carriage and private hire vehicle fleet by 2028 is achievable but very challenging with
immediate progress requiring a coordinated approach to licensing policy, incentive measures, and
chargepoint infrastructure delivered by a dedicated, appropriately funded, programme of work.
Adopting a highly aspirational licensing policy under which all licensed vehicles must be zero
emission or ultra-low emission by 2028 and newly licensed vehicles must meet the same standards
from 2023 at the earliest (subject to the availability of suitable vehicles) would require the introduction
of 1,500 ultra-low emission vehicles each year between 2023 and 2027 followed by 4,700 vehicles
in 2028. Between 2020 and 2035, this would reduce cumulative greenhouse gas emissions by 31%
and cumulative air quality pollutant emissions by 35%. From 2028 annual greenhouse gas and air
quality pollutant emissions would be reduced by at least 54% and 95%, respectively. This would also
provide running cost savings of £119m and social damage cost savings of £22.5m.
To support such a policy, direct incentives should only be provided for the introduction of zero
emission and ultra-low emission vehicles which meet the latest plug-in grant emissions eligibility
criteria28 (instead of diesel, petrol and hybrid vehicles with improved Euro emission standards). This
ensures an earlier transition to ultra-low emission vehicles and crucially reduces both greenhouse
gas and air quality pollutant emissions. Any new diesel, petrol or hybrid vehicles introduced will delay
significant greenhouse gas emissions reductions by an entire vehicle life cycle.
Interim measures such as trade engagement events, ride and drive opportunities, personalised
suitability advice, and increasing the availability of suitable wheelchair accessible vehicles should
aim to increase the awareness, knowledge and experience of using ultra-low emission vehicles
amongst potential early adopters. At the point of introduction of ultra-low emission as the minimum
emissions standard, a targeted package of measures is also required including financial incentives,
additional electric vehicle charging infrastructure and ultra-low emission vehicle trial schemes.
Supporting Justification
•

Ultra-low emission vehicles are available in key vehicle segments with at least 50 models
available in 2020. The number of ultra-low emission vehicle models is expected to increase
by 89% before 2025 at which point cost parity with new petrol / diesel vehicles is expected.

•

64% of the combined fleet already meets the suitability criteria to be replaced by a battery
electric vehicle, with medium and large cars representing the most immediate opportunities.
o

•

•

28
29

Battery electric vehicles have real-world electric only ranges of 110-196 miles29. 89%
of the combined fleet can complete their average daily mileage on one charge only.
o Except for executive cars, battery electric vehicles provide total cost of ownership
savings of £3,000 to £22,000 compared to buying a brand-new Euro 6 vehicle.
o Battery electric vehicles produce zero tailpipe emissions and provide a 60-75%
reduction in fuel lifecycle greenhouse gas emissions.
The recommended strategy provides clear messaging and certainty to the trade regarding
expected minimum emissions standards and replacement vehicle ownership periods.
Likewise, a focused package of ultra-low emission vehicle measures can be implemented
that provides incentives for vehicle technologies with the largest zero emissions range,
thereby improving value for public money.
Cenex acknowledge that the proposed dates for the aspirational scenario are highly
ambitious. These timescales allow for negotiation with the trade and are aligned with other
local authorities aiming to have ultra-low emission hackney carriage and private hire fleets
by 2030 including Coventry (2024), Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire (2028), and Derby
and Nottingham (2030). It should however be noted that City of Wolverhampton Council have
far more private hire vehicles (>11,000) and have not yet developed a new licensing policy.

Currently defined as ‘CO2 emissions of less than 50 g/km and can travel at least 70 miles without any emissions at all’.
Based on standard battery capacities, a large car with a 75 kWh battery has an estimated real-world electric range of 267 miles.

Page 81
764-001-01

Page 67 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Key Risks (shown in descending order of likely risk to implementation)
•

Provision of adequate funding to offer short term incentive measures to increase
confidence in ultra-low emission vehicles and to overcome the increased purchase cost.
o

•

•

•

•

Recommendation: Develop a full business case to support external funding applications.

Limited availability of suitable wheelchair accessible vehicles (and to a lesser extent 7seater vehicles and executive cars).
o

There are currently only two models available, the Dynamo Nissan e-NV200 (40 kWh
battery electric vehicle) and LEVC TX (31 kWh range extended electric vehicle).

o

Due to a relatively high average daily mileage (109 miles), only 38% of hackney carriage
vehicles are currently suitable for replacement by a battery electric vehicle. On average,
range extended electric hackney carriage vehicles increase total cost of ownership by
£5,000 and reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 37% (compared to a 75% reduction for
battery electric vehicles). Currently, both technologies would be heavily reliant on the
availability of DC rapid chargepoints for ‘top-up’ charging during shifts.

o

Recommendation: Support the development of a demonstration fleet of new to market ultralow emission wheelchair accessible hackney carriage vehicles. Recommended
demonstration fleet to include side entry and rear entry wheelchair accessible vehicles
based on the latest generation of small and medium van derived passenger vehicles.

o

Recommendation: Ensure that the introduction of ultra-low emission vehicles is conditional
on the availability of suitable vehicles across all essential services.

Provision of adequate electric vehicle charging infrastructure to support the wider scale
adoption of plug-in ultra-low emission vehicles.
o

The private hire vehicle fleet operates nationally, this may make provision of adequate
infrastructure more challenging.

o

Recommendation: Undertake a review of infrastructure requirements to develop a proposal
for a regional chargepoint network to support the aspirational licensing policy.

Plug-in hybrid electric vehicles are not well suited to City of Wolverhampton Council
private hire vehicle operations but are currently classified as ultra-low emission vehicles.
o

Plug-in hybrid electric vehicles increase total cost of ownership for all vehicle types,
additionally plug-in hybrid electric vehicles are no longer eligible for the plug-in grant.

o

If charged once per day, plug-in hybrid electric vehicles increase greenhouse gas emissions
for 38% of executive cars and 73% of medium cars. Most plug-in hybrid electric vehicles
have an electric only range of 20-30 miles and do not have DC rapid charging capabilities.

o

Recommendation: Do not provide additional incentives (regulatory, financial or otherwise)
for current plug-in hybrid electric vehicles or Euro 6 diesel, petrol or hybrid vehicles.

The number of City of Wolverhampton Council licensed private hire vehicles has
increased from around 650 vehicles in 2013 to over 11,000 vehicles in 2020. Only 10%
of these vehicles are based in Wolverhampton postcode districts. Further measures are
required to minimise the impact of any future increases in vehicle numbers on emissions and
to ensure that incentives are prioritised for vehicles operating locally or in the West Midlands.
o

Recommendation: Introduce ultra-low emission vehicles as the minimum emission
standard for new private hire vehicle licence applicants as soon as possible and establish
appropriate targets for the number of ultra-low emission vehicles to be licensed by large
private hire vehicle operators.

o

Recommendation: Investigate the feasibility of aligning ultra-low low emission vehicle
licence policies and incentive measures across the West Midlands. Establish eligibility
criteria for preferred incentive measures.

Page 82
764-001-01

Page 68 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

8 Recommended Ultra-Low Emission Hackney Carriage and
Private Hire Vehicle Strategy
Stage 1 (2021)

Gain political support for draft ultra-low emission vehicle policy

Submit draft vehicle emissions policy proposals to the Licensing Committee for approval.
All licensed vehicles to be zero emission or ultra-low emission by 2028 (subject to review).
New vehicles to be zero emission or ultra-low emission from 2023 (subject to vehicle suitability).
Maximum vehicle age limits to be reviewed for diesel, petrol and hybrid vehicles.
Publish draft proposals including timescales, expected standards, and trade engagement plans.
Stage 2a (2021)

Review infrastructure and wheelchair accessible vehicle measures

Review infrastructure requirements to support the forecast uptake of plug-in vehicles.
Undertake a feasibility study for the procurement of a battery electric, 9-seater, passenger van to
be converted to a wheelchair accessible hackney carriage vehicle.
Review the suitability of rear entry wheelchair accessible vehicles as hackney carriage vehicles.
Publish a list of actions to increase the availability of suitable wheelchair accessible vehicles.
Stage 2b (2021-2022)

Introduce interim measures to support potential early adopters

Identify and engage with potential early adopters.
Increase awareness, knowledge and experience of using ultra-low emission vehicles:
• Publish a provisional list of approved vehicles with revised vehicle conditions of licensing to
maximise ultra-low emission vehicle availability.
• Facilitate trade engagement events with ride and drive opportunities.
• Provide personalised advice and suitability assessments.
• Develop pilot scheme for an ultra-low emission vehicle trial scheme.
Engage with the trade to establish the type and level of financial support required. Implement a
non-repayable grant scheme covering direct licensing costs for select early adopters.
Stage 3 (2021-2023)

Develop then approve final proposals and targeted measures

Assign a dedicated programme manager responsible for the delivery of multiyear projects
covering vehicle licensing policy, ultra-low emission vehicle measures and infrastructure.
Determine objectives and key performance indicators to be monitored during the programme.
Determine the specifics of the recommended strategy including, but not limited to, the following:
• Definition of an ultra-low emission vehicle e.g. ‘CO2 emissions of less than 50 g/km and can
travel at least 70 miles without any emissions at all’.
• Maximum vehicle age limits for different emissions standards.
• Conditions on the availability of suitable ultra-low emission vehicles.
• Emissions policy introduction dates.
Develop a full business case to support external funding applications for measures that are
major projects such as an interest free loan scheme, a non-repayable grant scheme, electric
vehicle charging infrastructure, and an ultra-low emission vehicle trial scheme.
Undertake a public consultation regarding final proposals and measures.
Stage 4 (2023-2025)

Implement final ultra-low emission vehicle policy and measures

Undertake a final review of ultra-low emission vehicle suitability.
Launch final package of measures six months prior to the new licensing policy, measures to be
reviewed annually and made available for at least two years.
Implement ultra-low emission vehicle policy for newly licensed vehicles.

Page 83
764-001-01

Page 69 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

Addendum – Trade Engagement and Promotion
To be completed from May 2021, pending appropriate easing of UK Government Coronavirus
(COVID-19) restrictions relating to gatherings.

Page 84
764-001-01

Page 70 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

Appendix A – Detailed Methodology
Annual Mileage Calculation
The annual mileage for each vehicle was taken from MOT records. The calculation took the latest
two MOT odometer readings and dates then extrapolated the difference in mileage to a full year.
Four criteria were applied to use this annual mileage in the subsequent analysis:
•

The MOTs had to be greater than 3 months apart. If the MOTs are too close together then
the extrapolation to an annual mileage is unreasonable.

•

The MOTs had to be less than 13 months apart. If the MOTs are too far apart then again,
the extrapolation to an annual mileage is unreasonable.

•

The last MOT had to occur before the start of the first COVID-19 lockdown. The annual
mileages are significantly lower if they include the period after 23 March 2020.

•

The annual mileage had to be less than 150,000 miles. Some vehicles may return
unrealistically large annual mileages, leading to potential outliers. Therefore, a sufficiently
high limit was used to remove the erroneous mileages.

For vehicles that failed one of these tests, the two previous MOT records were then used so long as
the vehicle was a licensed vehicle for both MOTs. The four tests were applied again.
For any vehicle that failed the tests for both the latest and the previous MOTs, an average annual
mileage over the vehicle’s whole life was calculated from acceptable MOT records. Many of the
private hire vehicles will have been bought second-hand and they will therefore have a lower lifetime
annual mileage than the annual mileage from when they are taxi vehicles. To remedy this, an “uplift
factor” was introduced to increase the lifetime annual mileages to an equivalent tax vehicle annual
mileage. The uplift factor was calculated as follows:
𝑈𝑝𝑙𝑖𝑓𝑡 𝑓𝑎𝑐𝑡𝑜𝑟 =

𝑀𝑒𝑑𝑖𝑎𝑛 𝑎𝑛𝑛𝑢𝑎𝑙 𝑚𝑖𝑙𝑒𝑎𝑔𝑒 𝑜𝑓 𝑘𝑛𝑜𝑤𝑛 𝑡𝑎𝑥𝑖 𝑣𝑒ℎ𝑖𝑐𝑙𝑒𝑠
= 1.23
𝑀𝑒𝑑𝑖𝑎𝑛 𝑙𝑖𝑓𝑒𝑡𝑖𝑚𝑒 𝑎𝑛𝑛𝑢𝑎𝑙 𝑚𝑖𝑙𝑒𝑎𝑔𝑒

A further 128 vehicles were excluded during this process as they returned no annual mileages from
the MOT database. The figure below shows the mileage method as a flow diagram.

Annual Mileage Calculation Method

Page 85
764-001-01

Page 71 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Real-World Fuel Economy
The table below shows the estimated real-world fuel economy for each vehicle segment based on
independent real-world testing of petrol, diesel and hybrid vehicles.
Estimated Fuel Economy

Powertrain

Real-World Fuel Economy
(mpg)

Petrol

39.1

Diesel

49.6

Hybrid

58.0

Petrol

39.4

Diesel

50.2

Hybrid

58.4

Petrol

34.2

Diesel

46.4

Hybrid

50.5

Petrol

31.2

Diesel

44.6

Petrol

34.4

Diesel

46.3

Hybrid

51.0

Petrol

28.3

Diesel

40.2

Small Van

Diesel

43.6

Medium Van

Diesel

35.9

Large Van

Diesel

28.9

Small Car

Medium Car

Large Car

Executive Car

Medium MPV

Midsized SUV

Page 86
764-001-01

Page 72 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

Appendix B – Additional Tables and Charts
Rural-Urban Classification
The table below shows Rural-Urban Classification of the proprietor postcodes. The top three Local
Authorities which the postcode district lies in have been shown.
Rural-Urban Classification by Local Authority District and Number of Vehicles

Rural-Urban Classification
(most urban to least)

London

Urban with Major Conurbation

Urban with Minor Conurbation

Urban with City and Town

Urban with Significant Rural

Largely Rural

Mainly Rural

Local Authority District
(Top Three)
Tower Hamlets
Waltham Forest
Newham
Birmingham
Wolverhampton
Manchester
Nottingham
Gedling
Broxtowe
Coventry
Leicester
Derby
Staffordshire
Redcar and Cleveland
Cheshire East
Shropshire
Newark and Sherwood
Bassetlaw
North Warwickshire
Stratford-on-Avon
Wychavon

Total

Page 87
764-001-01

Page 73 of 82

Number of
vehicles
246
106
36
12
7,564
3,698
1,058
680
474
355
47
25
2,331
703
505
330
340
159
65
44
87
67
7
3
47
36
3
2
11,089

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Detailed Vehicle Emissions Tables
The tables below show a detailed emissions breakdown of the Wolverhampton fleet. The first table
shows the Tank-to-Wheel CO2e emissions of the different vehicle segments. The medium vans are
the largest polluters on a per vehicle basis and the medium cars are the largest contributor to the
total fleet emissions as they are the most common vehicle segment.
TTW CO2 Emissions by Vehicle Segment

Small Car
Medium Car
Large Car
Executive Car
Medium MPV
Midsized SUV
Large 4x4 / SUV
Small Van
Medium Van
Medium Van (WAV)
Large Van

Number of
Vehicles

Annual TTW
CO2e
emissions
per vehicle
(tonnes)

164
4,961
3,024
635
1,762
63
4
57
228
166
6

4.5
5.3
5.8
6.1
5.6
6.3
6.9
5.8
9.8
9.3
8.4

Total annual
TTW CO2e
emissions
(tonnes)

%
contribution
to total TTW
CO2e
emissions

745
26,083
17,429
3,873
9,830
394
28
333
2,239
1,539
42
62,535

1%
42%
28%
6%
16%
1%
0%
1%
4%
2%
0%
100%

Total

The table below shows the Well-to-Wheel CO2e emissions of the Wolverhampton fleet. The relative
contribution to the total emissions is the same as for Tank-to-Wheel emissions.
WTW CO2 Emissions by Vehicle Segment

Number of
Vehicles
Small Car
Medium Car
Large Car
Executive Car
Medium MPV
Midsized SUV
Large 4x4 / SUV
Small Van
Medium Van
Medium Van (WAV)
Large Van

164
4,961
3,024
635
1,762
63
4
57
228
166
6

Annual WTW
CO2e
emissions
per vehicle
(tonnes)
5.7
6.6
7.2
7.6
6.9
7.8
8.6
7.2
12.2
11.5
10.4
Total

Page 88
764-001-01

Page 74 of 82

Total annual
WTW CO2e
emissions
(tonnes)

%
contribution
to total WTW
CO2e
emissions

928
32,745
21,655
4,797
12,238
490
34
412
2,774
1,906
52
78,031

1%
42%
28%
6%
16%
1%
0%
1%
4%
2%
0%
100%

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
The table below shows the detailed NOx emissions breakdown. As with CO2 emissions, the medium
vans are the largest polluters on a per vehicle basis and the medium cars are the largest contributor
to the total fleet emissions.
NOx Emissions by Vehicle Segment

Number of
Vehicles
Small Car
Medium Car
Large Car
Executive Car
Medium MPV
Midsized SUV
Large 4x4 / SUV
Small Van
Medium Van
Medium Van (WAV)
Large Van

164
4,961
3,024
635
1,762
63
4
57
228
166
6

Annual NOx
emissions
per vehicle
(kg)
13.0
9.8
17.4
18.8
15.3
15.9
30.4
37.9
45.1
42.0
25.6
Total

Total annual
NOx
emissions
(kg)

%
contribution
to total NOx
emissions

2,125
48,421
52,559
11,907
26,963
1,004
122
2,082
10,091
6,895
128
162,298

1%
30%
32%
7%
17%
1%
0%
1%
6%
4%
0%
100%

The table below shows the detailed PM emissions breakdown. The medium vans (WAV) are by far
the largest polluter on a per vehicle basis as they are the oldest and largest vehicles on the fleet.
Once again however, the medium cars are the largest contributor to the total fleet emissions.
PM Emissions by Vehicle Segment

Number of
Vehicles
Small Car
Medium Car
Large Car
Executive Car
Medium MPV
Midsized SUV
Large 4x4 / SUV
Small Van
Medium Van
Medium Van (WAV)
Large Van

164
4,961
3,024
635
1,762
63
4
57
228
166
6

Annual PM
emissions
per vehicle
(kg)
0.13
0.10
0.15
0.11
0.14
0.07
0.03
0.04
0.09
0.68
0.04
Total

Page 89
764-001-01

Page 75 of 82

Total annual
PM emissions
(kg)

%
contribution
to total PM
emissions

21.9
472.9
442.6
68.2
237.9
4.3
0.1
2.3
20.8
112.2
0.2
1,384

2%
34%
32%
5%
17%
0%
0%
0%
2%
8%
0%
100%

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Performance Review – Medium Car, Fuel Cell Electric Vehicle
The figures below show the performance of medium car ULEV technologies with the FCEV included.

Larger battery BEVs
available that will
increase the range
to ~180 miles.

FCEVs have the
largest range of
any available
ULEV option.

Operating Range; Medium Car, Fuel Cell Electric Vehicle

FCEVs increase
all components of
TCO. Depreciation
and fuel costs
increase most
significantly.

Total Cost of Ownership; Medium Car, Fuel Cell Electric Vehicle

TCO costs increase
considerably and WTW CO2
savings are not as large as
BEVs due to current hydrogen
production emissions.

CO2e Emissions Savings vs. Cost Savings; Medium Car, Fuel Cell Electric Vehicle

Page 90
764-001-01

Page 76 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
ULEVs Models Available in the UK, 2020
The table below shows the ULEV models available in the UK in 2020. Vehicles shown in red cost
over £65,000 and are likely only suitable for executive or chauffeur services.
ULEV Models Available in UK, 2020

Medium Car

Large Car

BEV
Citroen DS3 Crossback
Citroen e-C4
Hyundai IONIQ
Hyundai Kona
Kia e-Niro
Kia Soul
Mazda MX-30
MG ZS
Nissan Leaf
Peugeot 2008
Volkswagen
Tesla Model e-Golf
3
Volkswagen
Tesla
Model ID.3
Y

Executive Car

Jaguar I-PACE
Mercedes-Benz EQC
Tesla Model S*
Tesla Model X*

Medium MPV

Nissan e-NV200

Medium Van
(8-Seater)

Citroen e-SpaceTourer
Mercedes-Benz EQV*
Peugeot Traveller-e
Vauxhall Vivaro e-Life

PHEV / REEV
Hyundai IONIQ
Kia Niro PHEV
Kia XCeed
Mercedes-Benz A-Class
Mini Countryman
Peugeot 3008
Seat Leon
Skoda Octavia
BMW
Toyota3-Series
Prius PHEV
Mercedes-Benz
Volkswagen GolfC-Class
GTE
Peugeot 508
Skoda Superb
Volkswagen Passat GTE
Volvo S60
Volvo V60
Audi A6
BMW 5-Series
Mercedes-Benz E-Class
Volkswagen Arteon
Volvo S90
Volvo V90
BMW 2-Series
Mercedes-Benz B-Class
Ford Tourneo Custom

Hackney Carriage
Dynamo Nissan e-NV200
LEVC TX
* vehicles cost at least £65,000 and are likely only suitable for executive / chauffeur services.

Page 91
764-001-01

Page 77 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Performance Review – Mostly Rural Driving Environment
The figures below show the performance of ULEVs for medium cars in mostly rural environments.

Petrol range
increases
significantly as the
engine is more
efficient in the
rural environment.

Operating Range; Medium Car, Mostly Rural Driving Environment

Minimal impact on
BEV TCO.

Total Cost of Ownership; Medium Car, Mostly Rural Driving Environment

PHEV CO2
emissions are better
than urban as the
petrol engine is
more efficient and
burns less fuel.

CO2e Emissions Savings vs. Cost Savings; Medium Car, Mostly Rural Driving Environment

Page 92
764-001-01

Page 78 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Performance Review – Medium Van (WAV), Two Charges per Day
The figures below show the performance of ULEVs for medium vans when charged twice per day.

Entire daily mileage
completed on
electric power with
250 miles of
additional range for
higher mileage days.

Operating Range; Medium Van (WAV), Two Charges per Day

More electric
running reduces
fuel costs so the
REEV now makes
a TCO saving.

Total Cost of Ownership; Medium Van (WAV), Two Charges per Day

Comparable CO2
saving to the BEV
due to all electric
running on the
average day.

CO2e Emissions Savings vs. Cost Savings; Medium Van (WAV), Two Charges per Day

Page 93
764-001-01

Page 79 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy
PM Emissions Forecasts by Licensing Scenario
The figures below show the PM emissions forecast by licensing scenario for the hackney carriage
vehicles and private hire vehicles, respectively.

PM Emissions Forecast, Hackney Carriage fleet

PM Emissions Forecast, Private Hire fleet

A significant reduction in PM emissions occurs in all scenarios as the oldest Euro 4 vehicles leave
the fleet. After 2023 the scenarios follow a similar path to the NOx emissions.

Page 94
764-001-01

Page 80 of 82

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Taxi Licensing Policy

Appendix C – Fleet Review References
The table below shows the references used during the fleet review. It should be noted that wherever
possible data provided by the fleet takes priority over supplementary data sources (such as baseline
fuel economy) and likewise, independent data takes priority over information provided by suppliers.
Table of References

Parameter

Reference

Vehicle Details

Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency (DVLA)
https://ukvehicledata.co.uk/dvla-data-api

Annual Mileage

Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA)
https://www.gov.uk/check-mot-history

Baseline Fuel
Economy

Emissions Analytics – Passenger Vehicles and LCVs
https://www.emissionsanalytics.com/

Greenhouse Gas
Emissions Factors and
Energy Content

UK Government
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reportingconversion-factors-2020

Air Quality Pollutant
Emissions Factors

National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (NAEI)
https://naei.beis.gov.uk/data/ef-transport

Low Emission Vehicle
Energy Consumption

Cenex – ULEV passenger vehicles and LCVs
https://www.cenex.co.uk/
Cenex and LowCVP – LCVs
Unpublished testing of plug-in commercial vehicles completed on behalf of
LoCITY in 2019

Vehicle Costs
Purchase Cost
Maintenance Costs
Predicted Residual
Values

Fleet News and Commercial Fleet – Passenger vehicles and LCVs
https://www.fleetnews.co.uk/car-running-costs-calculator
https://www.commercialfleet.org/tools/van/running-costs/
Vehicle Suppliers and Fleet Operators – Any remaining technologies

Fuel Prices

AA – Diesel, petrol and LPG
https://www.theaa.com/driving-advice/driving-costs/fuel-prices
Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) –
electricity
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/annual-domesticenergy-price-statistics
Low Emission Fuel Suppliers – hydrogen

Page 95
764-001-01

Page 81 of 82

Lowering your emissions
through innovation in transport
and energy infrastructure

Cenex
Holywell Building,
Holywell Park,
Ashby Road,
Loughborough,
Leicestershire,
LE11 3UZ

Tel:

+44 (0)1509 642 500

Email:

info@cenex.co.uk

Website: www.cenex.co.uk
Twitter:

@CenexLCFC

LinkedIn: Cenex

Page 96

Agenda Item 7
This report is PUBLIC
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

Regulatory Committee
10 November 2021
Report title

Mobile Home Site Licensing and Fees Policy

Wards affected

All

Accountable director

Ross Cook, Director of City Housing and Environment

Originating service

Licensing

Accountable employee

Paul Dosanjh
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

Service Manager: Trading Standards and
Licensing Act
01902 556056
Paul.Dosanjh@wolverhampton.gov.uk

None

Recommendations for decision:
The Regulatory Committee is recommended to:
1. Approve the proposed mobile homes act fees policy, set out in Appendix 1 of this report.
2. Approve the fee structures (Appendices 2-5)
3. Delegate authority to grant applications for ‘fit and proper’ persons to Licensing and
compliance officers where there are no objections.

Recommendations for noting:
The Regulatory Committee is recommended to note:
1. That a register of fit and proper persons shall be published online and the contents will
be in accordance with the Regulation

Page 97

This report is PUBLIC
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

1.0

Purpose

1.1

To seek approval for the implementation of a new licensing and fees policy for mobile
homes sites.

1.2

To inform the Committee of the recent legislation change requiring a “fit and proper”
person to assume legal responsibility for the day to day running of such sites.

2.0

Background

2.1

There are currently two mobile home parks licensed in City of Wolverhampton. They
have been running for many years with little intervention. Give the small number of sites,
the introduction of a policy specifically for their management has not been adopted.
The Mobile Homes Act 2013

2.2

The Mobile Homes Act 2013 made changes to the law giving better rights and protection
to mobile home site residents, whilst ensuring that honest professional site owners can
flourish. This enabled local authorities to monitor site licence compliance more
effectively. Authorities were provided the tools to take enforcement action where owners
were not managing and maintaining their sites and its services. Thus ensuring residents’
health and safety are better protected and the value of their homes safeguarded.

2.3

The 2013 Act contains a discretionary power for local authorities to charge fees for:


considering applications for the issue or transfer of a site licence;



considering applications for altering conditions in a site licence and;



administration and monitoring of site licences.

Application fees are one off fees to be paid at the time but the administration and
monitoring of site licences activity is an annual chargeable fee.
2.4

The 2013 Act also requires sites to have set of rules which are then deposited with the
local authority for them then to be binding on the homeowners. This becomes a
chargeable facility and the fee this service will be covered in the fees policy.

2.5

Where a local authority decides to charge fees, these must be published in its fees policy
document and must be transparent. The fees must be reasonable and on a cost recovery
basis.

2.6

It is not proposed to consult with site owners or homeowners as the proposed fees are on
a cost recovery basis only.

Page 98

This report is PUBLIC
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person)
(England) Regulations 2020
2.7

As of 1st October 2021, The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit
and Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020 created a requirement for the person in
charge of the a mobile homes site to pass a basic ”fit and proper person test“.

2.8

The 2020 regulations prohibit the use of land as a residential mobile home site unless the
local authority is satisfied that the owner or manager of the site is a fit and proper person
to manage the site. The purpose of the fit and proper person test is to improve the
standards of park (mobile) home site management.

2.9

The Regulations apply in relation to all relevant protected sites other than noncommercial family-occupied sites. These include both “residential parks”, which are used
exclusively residentially, and “mixed use parks”, which are used for both residential and
holiday purposes

2.10

The two licensed sites within City of Wolverhampton have submitted application for a fit
and proper person. No fee has been charged for these applications as there was no fee
policy in place.

3.0

Proposal

3.1

The proposed mobile home sites licensing fees policy is attached at Appendix 1

3.2

The 2013 Act allows a local authority to charge for






Considering applications for the issue of a site licence.
Considering applications for the transfer of a site licence.
Considering applications for altering conditions in a site licence.
Holding a register of site rules.
Annual fees for the administration and monitoring of site licence

3.3

The Council has discretion to exempt some “relevant protected sites” and accordingly it is
proposed that that sites with five or fewer pitches are exempt from licensing and annual
fees. However, such sites are still required to hold a licence and be subject to the
controls.

3.4

The 2020 regulations permit the charging of two fees;
Firstly a Fit and Proper Person application fee - to cover the cost of assessing
applications to be included on the fit and proper register. Registration lasts for up to five
years. It is not proposed to set a fee for the first year. A further report setting the fee for
next year will be submitted with the annual fees and charges report in January 2022
Secondly a Fit and Proper Person annual fee - to cover the cost of monitoring the
scheme or conditions attached to the register. Payment of the annual fee may also be
required as a condition of inclusion in the register.

Page 99

This report is PUBLIC
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

Fees
3.5

The guide for setting licensing fees has been produced for local authorities and can be
found on the government’s website: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mobilehomes-act-2013-a-guide-for-local-authorities-on-setting-licence-fees

3.6

In setting fees for applications for the issue/variation/transfer of a site licence and annual
fees for the administration and monitoring of site licences the Council has had full regard
to above guidance which lists those costs that can be recovered via the fees and those
which cannot.

3.7

The fees policy is reviewable every three years and the fees are reviewable every year.

3.8

The legislation allows costs to be recovered for







Administration of the licensing process.
Site inspections.
Travel.
Consultations.
Meetings.
Informal Advice.

But there is no provision for the licence fees to cover the costs of any enforcement for a
breach of licence fees. Accordingly, any costs of this type of enforcement will be met
through existing budgetary provision.
Register
3.9

The 2020 Regulations require a local authority to establish and keep up to date a register
of persons who they are satisfied are fit and proper persons to manage a relevant
protected site in their area and to make the register open to inspection by members of
the public at the offices of the local authority during normal office hours.

3.10

The authority must also publish the register online and the contents of the register will be
in accordance with the Regulations. A person’s inclusion in the register has effect for a
maximum period of 5 years.
Decision/delegation

3.11

Once a “fit and proper” application has been received the local authority may grant the
application with or without conditions, or may refuse it.

3.12

It is proposed that the decision to grant without conditions be delegated to Service
Manager and Section Leader roles within Commercial Regulation. If officers were
minded to require conditions or to refuse the application, this would be considered by
members at a Regulatory Sub-Committee hearing.

3.13

Once a “fit and proper” full and complete application has been received (including the
relevant fee) the local authority must make a decision on the application as soon as is
reasonably practicable.

Page 100

This report is PUBLIC
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

3.14

If the Council were minded not to grant, without condition or refuse, the applicant would
be notified and given 28 days to provide written representations. Once written
representations have been received a regulatory sub-committee would make a final
determination.

3.15

An applicant may appeal to a First-tier Tribunal (FTT) against the decisions made.

4.0

Financial implications

4.1

The fees proposed are based on cost recovery and will be reviewed each year.
[SB/02112021/L]

5.0

Legal implications

5.1

The failure to comply with the duty imposed in the Act and the regulations would lead to
the Council being potentially liable to civil claims of negligence from the tenants.

5.2

In particular the Council must establish and keep up to date a register of persons who
they are satisfied are fit and proper persons to manage a relevant protected site in their
area. The register must be available to inspection and be published online

5.3

Without an approved fee policy the Council may not defray the cost of administration and
enforcement of the legislation which will then be borne by the Council Tax payers.
[JB/02112021/A]

6.0

Equalities implications

6.1

The introduction of the requirement to have a licence could increase the costs associated
with living in a mobile home on these sites (rent). Site owners may increase the fees for
residents to live on the site, to take account of the financial costs incurred in applying for
a grant or renewal of a licence and also any potential costs incurred to ensure the site
owner is able to comply with the conditions attached to a licence.

6.2

The legislation may also discourage potential site owners from opening up a mobile
home site with permanent residents given the financial implications of applying for a
licence and maintaining the site to ensure conditions are complied with. This could, as a
result potentially impact on available accommodation for affected residents.

6.3

The licence is only required where residents live on the site permanently so it could
encourage site owners to vacate residents for several weeks/months of the year so the
site owner does not require to apply for a licence and comply with conditions.

6.4

Site owners could incur more financial costs in seeking advice to determine whether they
require to apply for a licence or if an exemption applies to them; potentially applying for a
licence; potentially complying with licence conditions; and potentially appealing a
decision by the Local Authority.

6.5

If a site licence is applied for and refused it could result in current residents having to find
an alternative site to live on.

Page 101

This report is PUBLIC
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

6.6

Accordingly, a full equalities analysis has been carried out. An informal peer review
process has shown that the findings of our analysis are broadly in line with those of a
number of local authorities. As a result of the equalities assessment Private Sector
Housing will contact all the tenants to ensure that they are aware of the licensing regime
and the consumer protections afforded to them by that regime.

7.0

All other Implications

7.1

This report poses no implications for climate change and environmental, Human
Resources, Corporate Landlord, Health and Wellbeing. Nor are there any implications
that have arisen from the Covid-19 Pandemic.

8.0

Appendices

8.1

Mobile Homes Sites Licence Fees Policy

8.2

Caravan Site Fees - New Application

8.3

Caravan Site Fees - Application to vary

8.4

Caravan Site Fees - Application to transfer

8.5

Caravan Site Fees - Annual fees

Page 102

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
City of Wolverhampton Council
Mobile Home Sites Licensing Fees Policy

Introduction
The Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 is the primary legislation governing
the licensing and control of caravan sites. Local authority discretion to charge for the delivery
of their functions under that Act was introduced by The Mobile Homes Act 2013. Local
authorities can charge a locally set fee for the following functions:






Considering applications for the issue of a site licence.
Considering applications for the transfer of a site licence.
Considering applications for altering conditions in a site licence.
Holding a register of site rules.
Annual fees for the administration and monitoring of site licences.

The licensing scheme, controls and charges apply to ‘relevant protected sites’ which are
defined under the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 as any land to be
used as a caravan site other than one where a licence is:



Granted for holiday use only.
In another way subject to conditions which restrict the usage of the site for the
stationing of caravans for human habitation at certain times of the year.

‘Relevant protected sites’ include gypsy sites but not those owned by the local authority.
In considering and determining whether and to what extent to charge fees, Wolverhampton
City Council has had regard to The Mobile Homes Act 2013 – A Guide for Local Authorities
on setting site licence fees – published in February 2014 by the Department for Communities
and Local Government.
Before a local authority can charge any fees for the licensing and control of ‘relevant
protected sites’ it must publish a fees policy.
It has been agreed that Wolverhampton City Council will make charges for the licensing and
control of ‘relevant protected sites’ within Wolverhampton. This is the required fees policy.

Exemptions from Fees
The local authority is able to exempt some ‘relevant protected sites’ from some or all fees.
The Council has decided that sites with five or fewer pitches are exempt from licensing and
annual fees. However, such sites are still required to hold a license and subject to the
controls.

Calculation of Licence Fees
In setting fees for applications for the issue/variation/transfer of a site licence and annual
fees for the administration and monitoring of site licences the Council has had full regard to
above guidance which lists those costs that can be recovered via the fees and those which
cannot.

Page 103

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
Costs to be recovered:







Administration of the licensing process.
Site inspections.
Travel.
Consultations.
Meetings.
Informal Advice.

Costs that cannot be recovered via the licence or annual fees:


Cost of enforcement due to breach of licence conditions.

The fees are set out in the attached Schedules 1-4

Overall Review of the Mobile Home Sites Licensing Fees Policy
This a new policy it will therefore undergo a full review after one year, further full reviews will
be undertaken at least every three years thereafter. The policy will be republished after
every review.

Review of Annual Fees
The local authority is required to consider the previous year’s surplus or deficits in
determining the annual fee for the administration and monitoring of licences. The local
authority should not make a profit from this fee nor should it make a loss which would have
to be subsidised by taxpayers. The local authority is required to inform site owners of the
extent to which they have considered the surplus or deficit in setting the annual fee.
The annual fee will therefore be reviewed on a yearly basis, and the fees policy agreed and
republished.

Payment of Fees
The local authority is not required to consider an application for the grant/transfer/variation of
a licence unless it is accompanied by the appropriate fee. If the local authority does not
approve the application the applicant is not entitled to a refund.
The annual fees will run from the 1st April each year starting with 1st April 2022. The request
for payment will state the date payment is due in accordance with the Councils standard
terms. The request will also be accompanied by a copy of this policy.
Where the fee becomes overdue, the local authority may apply to the Residential Property
Tribunal for an order requiring its payment, the order will specify when the fee must be paid.
If the fee is not paid by this date, the local authority may enforce the order through the
county court. Further if the fee is not paid within three months of the date specified in the
order, the local authority may apply to the Residential Property Tribunal for an order revoking
the site licence.

Page 104

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1

Publishing the fees policy
This policy will be published on the Councils website. The Council will provide an electronic
copy or printed copy upon request.
The policy will be republished after any review.

Page 105

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2
Schedule 1 - Caravan Site Licence Fees New Application
Cost Breakdown
Time Taken hours Officer Grade
Part 1 - Fixed Fees
Request for application form received, entered on Idox, allocated to officer
Applicantion form provided electronically or in hard copy as requested.
Once application form received, check application complete incuding all required questions answered, required additional
documents attached and fee submitted.
Record application details on Idox including scan of form and documents and record receipt of fee.
Undertake land reg to confirm ownership of land
Book initial inspection of caravan site.
[Carryout initial caravan site inspection Senior EHO and Senior Licensing Officer, See costs in Part 2 Variable Fees.]
Check all aspects of the licence application, incuding vaidity of certificates etc…
Confirm proposed site manager is registered as Fit and Proper.
Consult with City Planning and West Midlands Fire Service.
Discuss application with applicant.
Create draft licence and covering letter.
Send draft licence etc… to applicant/ City Planning / West Midlands Fire Service.
After consultation period passed, consider representations amend site licence if required, create final licence.
Site Licence printed signed by Senior Licensing Officer. Scan and save on idox.
Site licence sent to applicant.
Update Public register.
[Once site occupied, arrange further inspection - see costs in Part 2 Variable fees.]
Record outcome of inspection
Write to applicant advising of outcome of inspection.

Hourly Rate

Cost (£)

00:30:00
00:20:00
00:30:00

6
6
6

66.81
66.81
66.81

33.41
22.27
33.41

01:00:00
00:10:00
00:10:00

6
6
6

66.81
66.81
66.81

3.00
11.14
11.14

03:00:00
00:10:00
00:30:00
00:30:00
00:30:00
00:10:00
01:00:00
00:20:00
00:10:00
00:10:00

6
6
6
6
6
6
6
6
6
6

66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81

200.43
11.14
33.41
33.41
33.41
11.14
66.81
22.27
11.14
11.14

00:20:00
00:30:00

6
6

66.81
66.81

22.27
33.41
604.29

Total Fixed Fee

Page 107

Part 2 - Variable Fees
6-25 Pitches
Carryout initial caravan site inspection, Senior EHO
*****Travel Time Senior EHO
Carryout initial caravan site inspection, Senior Licensing Officer
*****Travel time Senior Licensing Officer.
Carryout further caravan site inspection, Senior EHO
*****Travel Time Senior EHO
Carryout further caravan site inspection, Senior Licensing Officer
*****Travel time Senior Licensing Officer.

01:00:00
00:30:00
01:00:00
00:30:00

7
7
6
6

77.61
77.61
66.81
66.81

77.61
38.81
66.81
33.41

01:00:00
00:30:00
01:00:00
00:30:00

7
7
6
6

77.61
77.61
66.81
66.81

77.61
38.81
66.81
33.41
433.26

Total Variable Fee 6-25 Pitches

26-100 Pitches
Carryout initial caravan site inspection, Senior EHO
*****Travel Time Senior EHO
Carryout initial caravan site inspection, Senior Licensing Officer
*****Travel time Senior Licensing Officer.
Carryout further caravan site inspection, Senior EHO
*****Travel Time Senior EHO
Carryout further caravan site inspection, Senior Licensing Officer
*****Travel time Senior Licensing Officer.

02:00:00
00:30:00
02:00:00
00:30:00

7
7
6
6

77.61
77.61
66.81
66.81

155.22
38.81
133.62
33.41

02:00:00
00:30:00
02:00:00
00:30:00

7
7
6
6

77.61
77.61
66.81
66.81

155.22
38.81
133.62
33.41
722.10

Total Variable Fee 6-25 Pitches

Total Fixed and Variable Fees
1037.00
6-25 Pitches
1326.00
26-100 Pitches

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 3
Schedule 2 - Caravan Site Licence Fees Application to Vary
Cost Breakdown

Part 1 - Fixed Fees
Request for application form received, entered on Idox, allocated to officer
Applicantion form provided electronically or in hard copy as requested.
Once application form received, check application complete incuding all required questions answered, required
additional documents attached and fee submitted.
Record application details on Idox including scan of form and documents and record receipt of fee.
Book initial inspection of caravan site.
[Carryout initial caravan site inspection Senior EHO and Senior Licensing Officer, See costs in Part 2 Variable Fees.]
Check all aspects of the licence application, incuding vaidity of certificates etc…
Consult with City Planning and West Midlands Fire Service.
Discuss application with applicant.
Create draft licence and covering letter.
Send draft licence etc… to applicant/ City Planning / West Midlands Fire Service.
After consultation period passed, consider representations amend site licence if required, create final licence.
Site Licence printed signed by Senior Licensing Officer. Scan and save on idox.
Site licence sent to applicant.
Update Public register.
[Once site occupied, arrange further inspection - see costs in Part 2 Variable fees.]
Record outcome of inspection
Write to applicant advising of outcome of inspection.

Time Taken hours Officer Grade

Hourly Rate

Cost (£)

00:30:00
00:20:00
00:10:00
00:30:00

6
6
6
6

66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81

33.41
22.27
11.14
3.00

00:10:00

6

66.81

11.14

01:00:00
00:30:00
00:30:00
00:30:00
00:10:00
00:30:00
00:20:00
00:10:00
00:10:00

6
6
6
6
6
6
6
6
6

66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81

66.81
33.41
33.41
33.41
11.14
33.41
22.27
11.14
11.14

00:20:00
00:30:00

6
6

66.81
66.81

22.27
33.41
392.73

Total Fixed Fee

Page 109

Part 2 - Variable Fees
6-25 Pitches
Carryout initial caravan site inspection, Senior EHO
*****Travel Time Senior EHO
Carryout initial caravan site inspection, Senior Licensing Officer
*****Travel time Senior Licensing Officer.
Carryout further caravan site inspection, Senior EHO
*****Travel Time Senior EHO
Carryout further caravan site inspection, Senior Licensing Officer
*****Travel time Senior Licensing Officer.

00:30:00
00:30:00
00:30:00
00:30:00

7
7
6
6

77.61
77.61
66.81
66.81

38.81
38.81
33.41
33.41

00:30:00
00:30:00
00:30:00
00:30:00

7
7
6
6

77.61
77.61
66.81
66.81

38.81
38.81
33.41
33.41
288.84

Total Variable Fee 6-25 Pitches

26-100 Pitches
Carryout initial caravan site inspection, Senior EHO
*****Travel Time Senior EHO
Carryout initial caravan site inspection, Senior Licensing Officer
*****Travel time Senior Licensing Officer.
Carryout further caravan site inspection, Senior EHO
*****Travel Time Senior EHO
Carryout further caravan site inspection, Senior Licensing Officer
*****Travel time Senior Licensing Officer.

01:00:00
00:30:00
01:00:00
00:30:00

7
7
6
6

77.61
77.61
66.81
66.81

77.61
38.81
66.81
33.41

00:30:00
00:30:00
00:30:00
00:30:00

7
7
6
6

77.61
77.61
66.81
66.81

38.81
38.81
33.41
33.41
361.05

Total Variable Fee 6-25 Pitches

Total Fixed and Variable Fees

681.57

6-25 Pitches

753.78

26-100 Pitches

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 4
Schedule 3 - Caravan Site Licence Fees Application to Transfer
Cost Breakdown
Time Taken Hrs Officer Grade Hourly Rate Cost (£)

Page 111

Part 1 - Fixed Fees
Request for application form received, entered on Idox, allocated to officer
Applicantion form provided electronically or in hard copy as requested.
Once application form received, check application complete incuding all required questions answered and
fee submitted.
Record application details on Idox including scan of form and documents and record receipt of fee.
Check all aspects of the licence transfer application.
Check Fit and proper person
Create licence and covering letter.
Site Licence printed signed by Senior Licensing Officer. Scan and save on idox.
Site licence sent to applicant.
Update Public register.
Total Fixed Fee

00:30:00
00:20:00

6
6

66.81
66.81

33.41
22.27

00:10:00
00:20:00
00:30:00
00:30:00
00:30:00
00:20:00
00:10:00
00:10:00

6
6
6
6
6
6
6
6

66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81
66.81

11.14
3.00
33.41
33.41
33.41
22.27
11.14
11.14
214.57

Cost (£)

Page 112

Appendix 5
Schedule 4 - Caravan Site Annual Fees
Cost Breakdown
Time Taken hours Officer Grade
Inspect every 3 years
6-25 Pitches
Carryout caravan site inspection, Senior EHO
*****Travel Time Senior EHO
Carryout caravan site inspection, Senior Licensing Officer
*****Travel time Senior Licensing Officer.

01:00:00
00:30:00
01:00:00
00:30:00

7
7
6
6

Hourly Rate Cost (£)

77.61
77.61
66.81
66.81

Page 113

Inspection Fee 6-25 Pitches
Annual Fee therefore
Inspect every 3 years
26-100 Pitches
Carryout caravan site inspection, Senior EHO
*****Travel Time Senior EHO
Carryout caravan site inspection, Senior Licensing Officer
*****Travel time Senior Licensing Officer.
Total Variable Fee 6-25 Pitches
Annual Fee therefore

77.61
38.81
66.81
33.41
216.63
72.21

02:00:00
00:30:00
02:00:00
00:30:00

7
7
6
6

77.61
77.61
66.81
66.81

155.22
38.81
133.62
33.41
361.05
120.35

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Regulatory Committee
10 November 2021
Report title

Update on Requirement for Face Coverings in
Licensed Vehicles

Wards affected

All

Accountable director

Ross Cook, Director for City Housing and Environment

Originating service

Licensing Services

Accountable employee

Amitabh Singh
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

None

Section Leader - Licensing
01902 552891
Amitabh.Singh@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Recommendation for decision:
The Regulatory Committee is recommended to:
1. Approve the removal of the current requirement regarding the use of face coverings in
licensed vehicles and have this as a recommendation only.

Page 115

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

The purpose of this report is to consider the removal of the requirement of face coverings
and put it forward as a recommendation of good practice.

2.0

Background

2.1

On 15 June 2020, the Government made the wearing of face coverings while using
public transport in England mandatory to reduce the spread of COVID-19. It was
unanimously agreed by the Non-Statutory Licensing Committee on 8 July 2020 to
implement a policy regarding the use of face coverings in licensed vehicles.

2.2

The advice given after this decision, following specialist opinion from Public Health, is
that drivers licensed with City of Wolverhampton Council should wear a face-covering at
all times when passengers are inside their vehicle. Passengers travelling within the
vehicle must use a face-covering unless they have a medical condition preventing the
use of face coverings. City of Wolverhampton drivers are currently authorised to refuse
carriage to people who do not have a medical exemption and who refuse to wear a face
covering.

2.3

From 19 July 2021, there is no longer a legal requirement to wear face coverings in
indoor settings or on public transport.

3.0

Proposal

3.1

It is proposed that the passengers and drivers no longer be required to use a face
covering in licensed vehicles, but that they be recommended to do so.

3.2

It is also proposed to revoke the authorisation for drivers to refuse to carry passengers
who are not wearing a face covering.

4.0

Financial implications

4.1

There are no financial implications arising from this report.
[SB/02112021/E]

5.0

Legal implications

5.1

There are no legal implications arising from this report.
[JB/02112021/B]

6.0

Equalities implications

6.1

There are no equalities implications arising from this report. People with a medical
condition which prevents them from using a face covering are already exempt from the
current requirement.

Page 116

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

7.0

All other implications

7.1

There are no other implications.

8.0

Schedule of background papers

8.1

Non-Statutory Licensing Committee Minutes - 8 July 2020

Page 117

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Regulatory Committee
10 November 2021

Report title

The Botulinum Toxin and Cosmetic Fillers
(Children) Act 2021

Wards affected

All

Accountable Director

Ross Cook, Director of City Housing and Environment

Originating service

Licensing

Accountable employee

Emma Caddick
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

None

Service Manager
01902 554320
Emma.caddick@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Recommendation for decision:
The Regulatory Committee is recommended to:
1. Approve the enforcement approach outlined in section 4.0 of the report.

Recommendation for noting:
The Regulatory Committee is asked to note:
1. The introduction of the Botulinum Toxin and Cosmetic Fillers (Children) Act 2021 on 1
October 2021 and associated legal implications.

Page 119

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

To update the Regulatory Committee of The Botulinum Toxin and Cosmetic Fillers
(Children) Act 2021, which came into force on the 1 October 2021.

2.0

Background

2.1

The Botulinum Toxin and Cosmetic Fillers (Children) Act 2021 received Royal Assent on
29 April 2021 and came into force on 11 October 2021.

2.2

The Act aims to safeguard children from the potential health risks of botulinum toxin and
cosmetic fillers. There are also ethical considerations about the extent to which people
under 18 have the emotional and mental maturity to give informed consent to these
invasive procedures when accessing them on the commercial market without a medical
or psychological assessment.

2.3

The age restriction has been set at 18 years. This has been selected as it aligns with age
restrictions in England on other comparable body modifications which carry health risks,
such as tattooing, sunbed use and teeth whitening.

2.4

Research carried out by the government estimated that there may have been as many as
41,000 botulinum toxin procedures carried out for under-18s in 2020, and over 29,300
dermal filler procedures for under-18s may have been undertaken in 2017.

3.0

The Legislation

3.1

Under the Act, it is an offence for a person to administer, in England:
 botulinum toxin
 subcutaneous, submucous or intradermal injection of a filler for a cosmetic purpose
to a person under the age of 18.

3.2

It is also an offence to make arrangements to undertake, or arrange for another person to
undertake, these procedures to a person under 18 in England. The exception to this is if
the person administering the injections can show that they:
 were a registered medical practitioner (doctor)
 were a registered health professional (nurse, dentist, or pharmacist) acting in
accordance with the directions of a registered doctor
 had taken reasonable steps to establish the person’s age, and reasonably believed
that they were aged 18 or over

3.3

The Act also provides a defence for a business owner to prove that they took all
reasonable precautions and exercised all due diligence to avoid committing an offence.

Page 120

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3.4

Consent is not a defence – the fact that a person under the age of 18 may have given
their consent, or that a parent or guardian may have consented on their behalf is not a
defence.

3.5

The police and local weights and measures authorities (Trading Standards) have powers
to undertake enforcement action in relation to the provisions, including bringing forward
prosecutions, investigating complaints and taking other steps. These steps may involve
communicating with, and educating, practitioners or undertaking ‘test purchasing’
inspections to assess compliance.

4.0

Enforcement Approach

4.1

To ensure businesses are aware of their legal obligations the service will undertake a
publicity campaign informing businesses of the new legislation and highlighting that
consent is not a defence.

4.2

All close contact premises will be written to directly to advise them of the new legal
requirement and signpost them to the associated guidance, which will support them to
comply with the legal requirements.

4.3

Any complaints of this nature will be investigated by the service and test purchases will
be completed on an intelligence led basis. Due to the serious nature of the offences, it is
likely that individuals who knowingly breach the legislation will be prosecuted.

5.0

Financial implications

5.1

The overall resource provision required to deliver the enforcement approach outlined in
this report fall within the City Housing and Environment portfolio.

5.2

The cost of publicity materials will be met through the existing Trading Standards budget.

5.3

These costs can be met within current budgets and will be monitored as part of the
Council’s routine quarterly revenue monitoring.
[SB/21102021/E]

6.0

Legal implications

6.1

All regulatory activity is undertaken in accordance with the Black Country Regulators
Operating Framework, previously approved by Cabinet. Any prosecutions will be taken
in accordance with the Home Office Code for Crown Prosecutors, which includes an
evidential and public interest test.
[SH/22102021/B]

Page 121

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

7.0

Equalities implications

7.1

Enforcement of the Act will have no adverse equality implications as the same levels of
advice and support are provided to all close contact business proprietors from all
sections of the community.

7.2

All regulatory activity is undertaken in accordance with the Black Country Regulators
Operating Framework, previously approved by Cabinet. In order to ensure a consistent
and proportionate approach, all decisions are based solely on considerations of risk,
public safety, evidence and public interest. All enforcement policies reflect this approach.

7.3

Any prosecutions are taken in accordance with the Home Office Code for Crown
Prosecutors, which includes an evidential and public interest test. The evidential test is
undertaken by Legal Services and final approval for prosecution is via the Head of
Service.

8.0

All other Implications

8.1

This report poses no implications for Climate Change and Environmental, Human
Resources, Corporate Landlord, Health and Wellbeing nor any implications that have
arisen from the Covid-19 Pandemic.

Page 122

Agenda Item 10
This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Regulatory Committee
10 November 2021
Report title

Get Home Safe Campaign

Wards affected

All

Accountable director

Ross Cook, Director of City Housing and Environment

Originating service

Licensing

Accountable employee

Glen Moseley
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

None

Service Lead - Compliance
01902 550711
Glen.Moseley@Wolverhampton.gov.uk

Recommendation for noting:
The Regulatory Committee is recommended to:
1. Note the progress of the Get Home Safe campaign.

Page 123

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

To inform the Regulatory Committee of the progress made for the Get Home Safe
Campaign.

2.0

Background

2.1

The Get Home Safe Campaign was launched by the Council in September 2019.

2.2

The campaign initially sought to educate some of the 4,500 new university students
arriving in the city each September on:
A. How to travel safely using licensed vehicles;
B. How to differentiate between taxis and private hire vehicles;
C. The importance of always pre-booking private hire vehicles.

2.3

Over the intervening years this has expanded to the public at large with Get Home Safe
for Christmas and Travel Safe.

3.0

Progress

3.1

In 2019 Licensing Services attended freshers’ fairs at all University of Wolverhampton
campuses in Wolverhampton, Walsall and Telford to promote the Get Home Safe
campaign by talking to students and handing out Get Home Safe promotional material,
such as mugs, pens, beer mats, keyrings and spikeys.

3.2

The message was also advertised via targeted social media such as Facebook and
Twitter as well as distributing flyers and information leaflets in pubs and clubs across the
city and on electronic billboards around the city.

3.3

The taxi licensing council webpage was also updated with the Get Home Safe message
and other important safety tips.

3.4

The target audience was later expanded to the public, with successful campaigns such
as Get Home Safe at Christmas, promoting the safety message online and at a
promotional event in the Mander Centre.

3.5

Despite the pandemic and the subsequent postponing freshers’ fairs, we have continued
to promote the Get Home Safe message to all new students enrolling at the University
each September with campaign material going out in 4,500 student welcome packs as
well as social media and advertising in pubs and clubs and electronic billboards across
the city.

Page 124

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

4.0

Financial implications

4.1

The campaign has a budget of £2,000 for promotional material and resource implications
for officer time, which is funded from within existing budgets.
[SB/02112021/T]

5.0

Legal implications

5.1

There are no legal implications [JB/26102021/A]

6.0

Equalities implications

6.1

Whilst the target audience is the public in general, the outpouring of grief and public
anger following the recent tragic murder of Sarah Everard, it is clear that far too many
women still feel vulnerable and unsafe in our society making the campaign more relevant
than ever.

7.0

All other Implications

7.1

There are no other implications.

8.0

Schedule of background papers

8.1

None.

Page 125

This page is intentionally left blank

